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Council Highlights fEREF22 | 2024-2025'

50th Anniversary Golden Jubilee Cocktail Reception
50 AFEiEscEEE

Over 880 guests came together to honour the Council’s half-century mark at
the cocktail reception held at the Hong Kong Convention and Exhibition Centre.
Officiated by the Chief Executive of the HKSAR, Mr John Lee, the ceremony was
graced by many key Government officials, Executive and Legislative Council members,
industry leaders, important partners in consumer
protection, as well as current and former Council
Members.
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1st “Smart Consumption Academy” (SCA) Successfully Concludes
e " EEHERE | BRET

The first SCA, the new educational programme for secondary school students co-organised by the Council

and the Education Bureau (EDB), was held during the year, attracting overwhelming enrolment from over
25,000 students from 140 secondary schools and concluding with an Awards Presentation Ceremony on
12 July 2024.
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More in “Empowering Consumers Through Education”
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Council Highlights SEE=E412024-2025

!

Collaboration in Consumer Redress with Thailand Consumers Council (TCC)
MRBEHBERE TR SRR

The Hong Kong Consumer Council and TCC signed a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) for collaboration on cross-
border consumer disputes. Through establishing an information exchange and complaint referral mechanism, it aims to strengthen
cooperation in resolving consumer disputes. As the fourth MOU signed with a consumer body in Asia, it marks the Council's
dedication in jointly creating a safer and more reassuring consumption environment for consumers in the region.

Closer to home, the Council also signed an MOU with the Guangdong Consumer Council, and renewed MOUs with the
Zhejiang Consumers Council and Shanghai Consumer Council during the year, forging even closer collaboration with the
Mainland in dispute resolution.
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More in “Forging Closer Collaboration for Consumer Protection”
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Breaking Engagement Records for Consumer Rights Reporting
Awards (CRRA) and Top 10
HEEDSHERER - T XHBHBEERIFICHE

The year under review saw historical-high engagement with media partners and the public. The 24th CRRA

11Rov

attracted a record-breaking 471 entries from 46 news organisations, social media platforms and higher
education institutions, while the Top 10 Consumer News — Year of the Dragon also broke turnout records
with 14,429 voters.
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More in “Disseminating Consumer Information” . o
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CHOICE Free for All
Distribution Points at Link Shopping Centres
(GEE) 250 FRERKER

The online version of CHOICE Magazine became fully available for free

from 2 January 2025, empowering consumers with accessible consumption
information anytime, anywhere. The Council also collaborated with Link to set
up distribution points at 14 of their shopping centres, offering a limited number
of complimentary print copies for members of the public in need.

CGEE) BTN 2025F 1 B 2 HER2ESEFRBE LR - #HEEERE
REBZERRETSHHEAVEEEN  BXRIHE - X9 RHER
BfF REET 14 @ERFSRIOREE - RIVNEBERIGESRENTR
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More in “Disseminating Consumer Information”
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Launch of GBA Smart Guide for Residential Properties
—ERBLEAF R (KERETEHE) RE
m In view of the rising demand of consumers working or living in the Greater Bay Area (GBA), the Council
2)51 launched a brand new one-stop online platform “GBA Smart Guide (Residential Properties)”, with
FEB 5 thematic pages covering comprehensive information on purchasing
X}lﬂﬁﬁa‘- ALY or renting residential properties in various cities in the GBA. The Smart
Guide aims to help consumers make informed choices while navigating

mw%a*mﬂ the intricacies of property purchases and rental.

o s Rixnmam _Wwen . I R
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More in “Forging Closer Collaboration for Consumer Protection”
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Advocating Transparency in Private Healthcare Pricing
ERRALEEREREHE

The Council published a study titled “Price Transparency in Healthcare: Fostering
Consumer Trust and Value” examining the concerns and pain points experienced by

3ar

consumers in using private healthcare services. The study identified areas for improvement

Price Transparency gt |

. . . in Healthcare :
healthcare sector, ultimately empowering consumers and fostering greater trust. Fostering Consumer

Trust and Value
HERBETES (SLEEE: RABRERENE) WHEES =858 |
1T AL B RS AT BRI A E SHAEZTM BREFMEE | L
RHEM 5 RS RTANEERE A SR AN LRSS BT
A -

and put forward 5 recommendations for enhancing price transparency in the private

More in “Advocating a Fair Marketplace and Legal Protection for Consumers”

HIFU2R TERATHSRITHEENARES ) —f@




CHAIRMAN!S
£ [FHIRE

"k‘v“ e Eo et R s e e Y

M ]

4
b
R s aaa
1
i
W,

]
P S S e N

Mr Clement CHAN Kam-wing, BBS, MH, JP
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Chairman £&

Consumer Protection Beyond Gold

The 2024-25 reporting period marked a defining moment
in the Consumer Council's history. We began with the 50th
Anniversary Cocktail Reception in April 2024 — a celebration
that brought together long-standing partners, stakeholders,
and supporters. More than a tribute to our past, it was a
reaffirmation of our mission and a springboard for the future.

As we reflected on five decades of unwavering commitment to
safeguarding consumer rights, we also looked ahead with renewed
purpose. In a rapidly transforming world where consumption is
increasingly digital, borderless, and complex, we asked: how can we
continue to protect and empower consumers?

This year's theme, “Consumer Protection Beyond Gold”, captures our
response. [t encapsulates our pledge to remain agile, innovative, and
forward-looking — building on our half-century legacy while adapting
to the evolving needs of consumers. Our vision remains clear: to be the
trusted voice of consumers in Hong Kong, now and going forward.

EEER HRHR
2024-25 BB ER BGRHAUBEBEI - 2024 7 4 A
{7#) 50 AEREAS AERSBERMAFR BX SR
ERFTHAMFKE BRERISERE 2 TENHMIB
ZALBEANTFTUEE B3 ERIEARK AL
BRI

HESHERER S0 FREABMEEEEE S ELRE
YRR BT RARREIZER | RESHERIEAE
S0 |BANEH HMAZNMAREREEEEES
RpnaattfIEEmRERRED ?

AEENFRTE "SREER HRFR . EOBSERE
M OERSREREFIICNEEHRER - S RER
FADHBENTR  LBEEE - ERAHVSREBRN S
2HEARBRIE - BANBERBESH - FAREREELRK -
HESHER NN RABHEEEENES -

Consumer Council 2024-25 Annual Report



CHOICE for All:
A Milestone in Consumer Empowerment

A major breakthrough this year was making CHOICE Magazine free for public
access online from January 2025.This pivotal move highlights our core belief that
knowledge empowers consumers, and that access to reliable information is a
fundamental right. For nearly five decades, the iconic CHOICE has been a trusted
and impartial source of practical consumer insights. Removing the paywall has
broadened access, enabling more people to make informed purchase decisions
with confidence.

Public response has been overwhelmingly positive, with a surge in online
readership and heartfelt feedback from consumers who value the enhanced
accessibility. To complement the digital offering, apart from making
complimentary print copies available to secondary schools, universities and
selected NGOs, we strategically partnered with Link REIT to distribute a
limited number of complimentary print copies, catering to those who prefer
traditional formats. This initiative underscores our dedication to inclusivity for
diverse needs, empowering consumers in a rapidly evolving digital landscape
and accelerated information dissemination.

The launch of free access to CHOICE online also marks a key step in the
Council's broader journey of digital transformation. As technology reshapes
consumer behaviour and preferences, we are evolving to meet consumers
where they are.

Beyond Borders:
Strengthening Collaboration in a New Consumer
Landscape

The modern consumer journey is no longer confined to traditional boundaries.
Whether shopping online or consuming goods and services while travelling
abroad, today's consumers are navigating an increasingly borderless marketplace.
This paradigm shift has brought both opportunities and emerging challenges.
While ties with both regional and global counterparts have always been strong,
the Council has intensified its focus on various cross-boundary consumer issues
during the year, particularly property, travel and healthcare.

As the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area (GBA) continues to
integrate economically and socially, the Council has stepped up cooperation with
Mainland and GBA counterparts to foster a more seamless and secure consumer
environment. Apart from the rising northbound consumption trend, more
Hong Kong residents are also choosing to work and live in the GBA's one-hour
living circle, driving up demand for property purchase and rental. In response,
the Council launched the new “GBA Smart Guide” for residential properties
in February 2025 with support from consumer bodies in the area. This handy
one-stop online platform provides practical advice for Hong Kong residents in
navigating complex legal and procedural differences across jurisdictions when
purchasing or renting property in the GBA.

On the global front, the Council signed a Memorandum of Understanding
(MOU) with the Thailand Consumers Council in late 2024, establishing
an information exchange and complaint referral mechanism, strengthening
cooperation on consumer redress, complaint handling, and cross-border dispute
resolution. This partnership reflects our commitment to advancing consumer
protection in an increasingly interconnected world.
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Fostering Consumer Trust in Private Healthcare
Sector

When it comes to the most common and essential needs of consumers,
healthcare is at the top of the list. While initiatives like the Voluntary Health
Insurance Scheme and Elderly Healfth Care Voucher Scheme have encouraged
the general public to make wider use of private healthcare services, the
imbalance in Hong Kong's dual-track healthcare system — with a heavily
burdened public sector — remains a pressing concern.

In March this year, the Council released a comprehensive study report on
private healfthcare price transparency in Hong Kong, titled “Price Transparency in
Healthcare: Fostering Consumer Trust and Value”. The report revealed significant
price disparity across private hospitals for common medical procedures and
insufficiency in price transparency of private healthcare facilities, which can lead
to confusion and financial strain for patients.

Based on the findings, the Council put forward 5 recommendations aimed at
enhancing price transparency in the private healthcare sector. So far; we are
pleased to observe that the study has sparked important dialogues among the
authorities, lawmakers and in society about the need for standardised pricing
disclosures and stronger regulatory oversight. Most importantly, it has been
encouraging to see the proactive steps taken by the Government in proposing
legislation on enhancing price transparency in private healthcare services,
measures that are closely aligned with the advocacy of the Council's report.

The Silver Economy:
Protecting Our Ageing Population

As we look to the future, population ageing emerges as a key demographic
trend across the globe. This shift presents both challenges and opportunities,
bringing the topic of the silver economy into the limelight. Forward-thinking, the
Government had announced in the 2023 Policy Address the establishment of
the Advisory Panel on Silver Economy and subsequently a Working Group on
Promoting Silver Economy the year after; which proposed 30 measures in 5
critical domains to tap into the immense growth potential of the silver economy.

The Council has also long recognised the unique needs and vulnerabilities
of older consumers. Since publishing our 2018 study on building an age-
friendly consumption environment, we have introduced initiatives such as the
Educator Scheme for Senior Citizens and a dedicated Elderly Hotline, aimed
at strengthening protection and support, both of which have received positive
feedback. During the year under review, the Council has completed a consumer
survey on the silver economy, the report of which was published on the website.
By identifying the consumption patterns and attitudes of elderly consumers, the
Council expected to raise public awareness of the market potential of silver
economy, the challenges faced by the elderly and their demands, thus promoting
a more age-friendly consumption environment.

Riding on the Government's silver economy strategies, the Council established a
new Advisory Group on Silver Economy in the current reporting year, bringing
together experts to assess market potential and demand for developing the
silver economy, and guide actionable strategies for promoting the age-inclusive
consumer practices. Our focus is twofold: to monitor relevant business activities
to protect the rights and interests of elderly consumers, and to empower them
through education and outreach, enabling them to make confident, informed
choices.

10  Consumer Council 2024-25 Annual Report
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We remain resolute in ensuring that the voices of older consumers are heard
and that their rights are upheld, so that they can shop with confidence and be
safeguarded against exploitation and misinformation. In doing so, we can also
harness the power of the silver economy and vitalise the overall economic
development of the city. As we move beyond our golden jubilee, it is fitting that
the golden generation becomes a central focus of our work.

Looking Ahead:
A Future Beyond Gold

As we conclude this remarkable year, | wish to take this opportunity to express
my deepest gratitude to all those who have supported us along the way, including
all current and past Council Members, stakeholders and partners, as well as
our team of dedicated staff and management, the driving force of the Council.
| also extend my sincere appreciation to Ms Gilly Wong, the Council's outgoing
Chief Executive, for her visionary leadership and exceptional contribution to the
Council and the development of Hong Kong's consumer protection in the past
12 years.

The challenges ahead are complex. The digital economy continues to evolve
at breakneck speed. Economic and social change are reshaping consumption
patterns and priorities. The proliferation of artificial intelligence has been
increasingly exploited by fraudsters to create sales traps for consumers. Amidst
all variability, one thing remains certain: the need for a dedicated, reliable, and
forward-thinking consumer advocate.

The Consumer Council stands ready to meet this moment. With the support
of our devoted staff, our partners across sectors and borders, and the trust of
the public we serve, we will continue to champion the rights and interests of
consumers — today, tomorrow, and for the next 50 years. Let us move forward
together; with purpose and resolve, as we write our next chapter and advance
Consumer Protection Beyond Gold.

Mr Clement CHAN Kam-wing, BBS, MH, JP

Chairman
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Chief Executive 85355

Consumer Protection Beyond Gold

It is with great honour and enthusiasm that | assume the role
of Chief Executive! of the Consumer Council. From the outset,
| have been deeply inspired by the Council's unwavering
commitment to advocating for consumer rights in an ever-
evolving marketplace in the past 50 years — a mission that
resonates powerfully with my own values and experiences.

While my career has spanned diverse sectors, the common
thread has been building resilient systems, fostering
partnerships, and navigating complex regulatory landscapes.
These experiences have equipped me to uphold the Council's
independence and transparency while ensuring agility in
addressing emerging challenges. Beyond Hong Kong, my
previous work in the Mainland and international markets has
reinforced the importance of cross-border collaboration. | am
eager to strengthen our partnerships with Mainland and global
counterparts to amplify our impact.
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As | take the helm, | do so with deep respect for the legacy built over the past
half century. The year 2024-25 under review was a remarkable watershed for
the Consumer Council. Hence the theme for this Annual Report — “Consumer
Protection Beyond Gold” — emerged not only as a reflection of our past
achievements, but also as a forward-looking vision. Only when we look above
and beyond, can we best protect consumers in an enduring manner.

Riding the Wave of the Mega Event Economy

Gaining operational insights since joining the Council, | have been impressed by
the sheer volume of complaints handled by the Council, a reflection of both
the complexity of today's marketplace and the trust consumers place in us to
advocate on their behalf. During the year, two consumer dispute trends stood
out, namely those related to the mega events economy and shop closures, both
closely linked to evolving economic and consumption priorities.

Hong Kong's vibrant return to the global stage in 2024-25 was marked by
a surge in mega events — from global superstar concerts and international
conferences, cultural and art festivals, to major sporting spectacles. The
Government's strategic push to develop a “mega event economy” has
revitalised local industries, boosted tourism, and created new opportunities
for economic growth.

While stimulating spending and excitement, these occasions also brought a fresh
round of challenges. The Council observed a sharp rise in consumer complaints
linked to a myriad of ticketing issues, such as ticket printing errors requiring
replacement or refunds, unclear disclosure of obstructed views and seating class.
While the Council understands the hurdles faced by organisers in adapting to the
new space, many of these disputes could have been avoided with better planning,
clearer communication and greater transparency during the ticketing process.

Beyond events, shifting consumer habits and intensifying market competition
have led to the closure of various businesses, even heavyweights such as
Physical Fitness and Deliveroo, triggering a separate stream of complaints.
These disruptions highlight the vulnerability of consumers and the urgent
need for robust redress mechanisms that can keep pace with a constantly
evolving marketplace.
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Looking Ahead:
Modernising Consumer Protection Through
Innovation and Partnership

As we set our sights on the horizon, the Council is gearing up to harness the
potential of Al and modern communication platforms to reinforce our dedication
to safeguarding consumer rights. Through deployment of new technology
especially the revamp of the complaint case management system with a newly
developed online dispute resolution (ODR) platform enabling consumer disputes
to be resolved more efficiently, we are set to revolutionise our consumer
protection strategies.

In the pursuit of operational efficiency, the Council is committed to streamlining
processes to optimise costs, while simultaneously maximising consumer
education efforts through robust stakeholder engagement strategies.
Strengthening partnerships with consumer protection organisations in the
Mainland and around the world, bolstering cross-border consumer protection
efforts, and collaborating with e-commerce platforms and industry associations
will empower consumers in the online shopping realm. Moreover, we plan to
deepen ties with Government bureaux and departments to champion new
consumer-centric initiatives, ensuring consumer welfare remains paramount in
policy decisions.

Beyond the Golden Horizon

As we close the chapter on the Council's 50th anniversary year, we do so with
a deep sense of pride — not only in what we have achieved but in how we have
evolved. The theme “Consumer Protection Beyond Gold” is more than a slogan,
it is a guiding principle for the future.

The Consumer Council will continue to push boundaries, embrace innovation,
and advocate for the rights of every consumer in Hong Kong. Whether through
sustainable practices, digital empowerment, or a fair and safe marketplace, our
mission remains clear: to protect, to educate, and to empower.

In the coming year; we are excited to celebrate another milestone — the 50th
anniversary of CHOICE Magazine in 2026. This will be a moment to reflect
on the magazine's legacy as a trusted source of consumer information, and to
explore new ways of engaging the public in an increasingly digital age.

To our partners, stakeholders, and the public — thank you for your trust and
support. May | also extend my greatest appreciation for the Council Chairman,

Members and staff for your dedication and efforts. Together, we will build a
future where consumer protection shines brighter than gold.

n Jnr

Dr Alaina SHUM Jiu-fai

Chief Executive
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ABOUT THE
CONSUMER COUNCIL

FIHEEEEE

The Consumer Council has been a champion of consumer rights
in Hong Kong for half a century, taking up roles similar to many
counterparts around the world. Apart from advocating consumer
protection regulations and good trade practices to foster a safe,
fair and sustainable marketplace, forestalling and conciliating
consumer disputes, the Council also empowers consumers
through education and disseminating useful and reliable
information on goods and services.

BRI HEEZRES EwRABHERANER - —
R B ADERER > A2 ERREEEENROIN R
EBTE 0 RERE  AFNAFERRNTS  REEEH
Bl WEBHRBMBREMNKRBENNDEEENER
fRAEREND o

Consumer Council Ordinance

The Consumer Council is a statutory body established in 1974. Pursuant to the
Consumer Council Ordinance (Cap. 216), the Council's functions are to protect
and promote the interests of consumers of goods and services, and purchasers,
mortgagors and lessees of immovable property by:

» collecting, receiving and disseminating information concerning goods and
services and immovable property;

* receiving and examining complaints by and giving advice to consumers of
goods and services, and purchasers, mortgagors and lessees of immovable
property;

» taking such action as it thinks justified by information in its possession,
including tendering advice to the Government or to any public officer;

* encouraging business and professional associations to establish codes of
practice to regulate the activities of their members; and

* undertaking such other functions as the Council may adopt with the prior
approval of the Chief Executive in Council.
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Vision Ei2)=]

To be the trusted voice in striving for consumer betterment AEHNRAEEEEBNES  REESEXR
towards safe and sustainable consumption in a fair and just market. AFAENTSER » BEUL2RAFENEE
BiE -

- ——
Mission T
* Act as advocate for consumer interests - BE HEERS
+ Facilitate constructive discussion and promulgation of o R BEMEMUUSIEREHEBWEER
pro-consumer policies « IR HBEHEAS ERNAE]

* Sees to empower consumers to help themselves

Core Values BOEE

* Be consumer interests driven, with due regard to the content  DREHBERS R TR - BIRER
of sustainable consumption BAIAIFEEENES

+ Uphold fairness and justice o DIATFRAENREEERER

+ Maintain openness in its activities - BEFREEERE

¢ Be independent and unsusceptible to undue influence . REBMER

* Be accountable « AREARME

+ Discharge its functions proactively, constructively and with o DIFE) - RS TR
perseverance « REEABRLE

* Protect the privacy of personal data

Performance Pledge B #% #Ea
6 The Council pledges to fulfill its statutory functions as stipulated KEFERT CHEEZESEKE) REM—
in the Consumer Council Ordinance. Within these ambits, we will IEER - TROIREBEN - B -

strive our best to:

« MRMBEHBERAMGEI

* answer consumer enquiries and handle complaints in a timely o PHRHEEBALERTZ EAAD
manner; < EITHR EERESSABIE  AMER

+ mediate dispute between consumers and service suppliers; MERER ;

+ conduct researches, surveys and product testing to produce - BTHEBEESE  EHRRIHEBEEREDRA
and publish useful information and results; BAMER ~ DEMEE

+ provide a regular outlet of information, advice and view points - BERPELETE BRSITEER  FEX
on all matters affecting interests of consumers; REHEEF 5

+ monitor trade practices and liaise with industry body to - EITHEEDBCRR  HITHEEEHEE
safeguard consumer interests; BARYEED

* research on consumer policy and launch consumer education
campaign or related activities.
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GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT
HiEEioREE

Governance Structure

HEEREENEREAEE

Appointment Z{E
+

e

Appointment
=E
b Audit Committee
(renamed as Committee on
External Audit on 2025.01.21)

Auditor
JMEE

FizE

HKSAR Government
EASRITEEERT

The Consumer Council

HEERET

|
Appointment Z{E
Delegation #%1E
Terms of Refefnce KRS E

NMEREERR / THEVE

Consumer Protection Law
and Policy Committee
SHERRRERECR/VE
(upto E 2025.01.20)

Accountability AES(E

Supervision 5%
Guidance 1538

N

Recommendation &

Committees and Advisory/Working Groups

Publicity and Community
Relations Committee
EERTERRE
(upto & 2025.01.20)

37

Research and Testing
Committee
(renamed as Committee
on Research and Testing on
2025.01.21)
9T KB/ E

Staff and Finance
Committee
(renamed as Committee
on Staff and Finance on
2025.01.21)
ANSERE#/E

Trade Practices and
Consumer Complaints
Review Committee
BEFEATER
HEERSRES /M
(upto & 2025.01.20)

Committee on Consumer
Protection Policy, Trade
Practices and Redress

THERBIER  BEFER

Committee on Sustainability,
Public Affairs and Education
AEEE « AHEBR
BE/E

Committee on Digital Economy
and Information Technology
BESTIS R RREA R

(from 2025.01.21 #£)

S eEf/ v (from 2025.01.21 #8)
- from 2025.01.21 #
FEH (from )
Advisory Group on Working Group on Working Group on Advisory Group on
Digital Economy and Revamp for Consumer | Sustainable Consumption Silver Economy
Information Technology Education for Youth Programme EREHTELR/VE
S5 R BOEHBELENE AR HERE (from 2025.01.21 #2)
BEEREERE T/ Tl
(up to & 2025.01.20) (up to & 2024.06.30) (up to & 2025.01.20)

¢

v
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As Hong Kong's statutory consumer protection body, the Consumer
Council upholds a longstanding commitment to strong corporate
governance and dedication to consumer protection. Through a
governance framework incorporating recommended principles and
best practices for statutory bodies, the Council fulfils its functions
to the highest professional standards while promoting fairness and
ethical conduct, ensuring accountability and transparency in its
operations, and achieving good proper management in the interests
of all stakeholders and the public.

Membership of the Consumer Council

Formed according to Section (6) “Membership of Council” of the Consumer
Council Ordinance (Cap. 216), the Council comprises a Chairman, a Vice-
Chairman and not more than 20 other Members appointed by the Chief
Executive of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (HKSAR) for a term
not exceeding 2 years. Members may be reappointed upon the expiry of their
respective terms of office. All are governed by the Council's Code of Conduct
for Members.

In terms of Members' personal profile, the Council's composition achieved a high
degree of diversity in advising and governing the Council's works — educational
background, professional and industry representation, skills and knowledge, age
and gender. Sectors covered academia, legal sector, medical sector, business
sector, social welfare sector, information technology sector and the Legislative
Council.

In the year under review, Mr Clement CHAN Kam-wing, BBS, MH, JP continued
to serve as the Council Chairman since 15 July 2022; Mr Tony PANG Chor
fu continued to serve as the Vice-Chairman of the Council since 1 November
2023. On 1 January 2025, Mr Kenneth CHAN Kin-nin and Mr Selwyn YU
Sing-cheung, SC were both reappointed as Council Members, whereas The
Hon CHAN Hoi-yan, Prof. Marshall JEN Hong, Prof. LAM Hon-ming, MH, Mr
Stephen LEUNG Shing-yum, Ms vy LEUNG Siu-ling, Dr Ada LIN Wai-chi and Mr
Augustine WONG Ho-ming, JP were newly appointed as Council Members.

The Council would like to express its gratitude to Council Members Mr Edward
HO Man-tat, Mr Victor LAM Hoi-cheung, MH, | Mr Matthew LAM Kin-hong,
BBS, MH, JB Ms Doris LIAN Shaodong, MH, Mr Alan LUI Siu-lun, Dr Victor LUI
Wing-cheong and Ms Iris WAN Lai-sze for their unrelenting commitment and
dedication during their terms of office.
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MEMBERSHIP OF THE
CONSUMER COUNCIL

HEAEZEEES

The Hon CHAN Hoi-yan
FRENFREES (from 2025.01.017)

Legislative Councillor
ESHES

Mr Kenneth CHAN Kin-nin
FREFEE

Food Industry

RRE

Ms lvy CHEUNG Wing-han
SRFAIRZ L

Senior Partner of Audit Firm, Hong Kong
Chairman X£/& BHBBTEEERABA
Mr Clement CHAN Kam-wing,

BBS, MH, JP

At

Managing Director of Leading Accounting Firm

BRI EBESREGE

The Hon Holden CHOW Ho-ding, JP
FEERREE - KFEL
Legislative Councillor, Solicitor

IEGES - DR

Prof. CHUNG Chi-yung
ETEYR

Vice-Chairman EBIEE

! Chair Professor and Head of Department of

7 Mr Tony PANG Chor-fu Electrical and Electronic Engineering
kst AETHRET TRBABEHERAELE
Entrepreneur

R

Ms Veronica FUNG Kit-ming
BRSTL

Fintech Compliance Advisory

SRR BRI

Mr Edward HO Man-tat
fAIRSIESE (upto = 2024.1231)

Securities Firm Managing Director

/NG i S

Prof. Marshall JEN Hong
{EBHIF (from 2025.0101#8)

Managing Partner of Family Business Advisory and
Research Institution

FIREFEANMTRBEEERABA
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Ms Miranda KWAN Ching-yi
RARREL L

Director of Business Assurance
BHERTHEE

Mr Victor LAM Hoi-cheung, MH, JP
MEERLE - BBEE KA THL
(upto & 2024.12.31)

General Manager

‘ ﬁ‘ fipsed

’WW

Prof. LAM Hon -ming, MH

Se  ERREER - REENE (fom 20250101%)
| % Professor of Life Sciences
A DRIBHE

Mr Matthew LAM Kin-hong, BBS, MH, JP
HEREE RENES KBS AFHt
(upto & 2024.12.31)

Law Firm Co-founding Partner and Managing Partner

RMEBRIMEBAREERESBA

RERFE1EER (fom 2025.01.0148)
Law Firm Partner

BRMEBABA

5

-

Ms. Ivy LEUNG Siu-ling
PRI (fom 202501.0178)

Chief Executive of Social Welfare Organisation

‘Zi%f‘aﬂ%%ﬁ%ﬁ?%

T—

Ms Doris LIAN Shaodong, MH
EAORLL 0 BEBEIE (upto E 2024.1231)
CEO of Top-tier Fund House

Dr Ada LIN Wai-chi
ERIBEA (fom 202501.0148)
Specialist in Infectious Disease

AR BRI EE

Mr Alan LUI Siu-lun
EHBBISEE (upto Z 2024.1231)

Multinational Hospitality Group Vice President

BB E EE Rk

Governance and Management {&iEE 4% S8

Dr Victor LUl Wing-cheong
N TEXEBEL (upto & 2024.1231)

Specialist in Psychiatry

Mr Duncan MA Tak-yan
BE=xE

Programme Manager

18 B 38

J % T /

Prof. Jack POON Sik-ching
EREEBIR

Professor of Practice (Fintech & Entrepreneurship)

Ms Rachael SIU Suk-yu
BB K 1ERD
Barrister-at-Law

RAEERD

Ms Iris WAN Lai-sze
SBEER) &L (upto = 2024.12.31)

Training Consultancy Founder

I EER AR AU A

Mr Augustine WONG Ho-ming, JP
BILEALAE - KFE#T (fom 2025 01.07i2)

Executive Director of Property Development Company

SR
| "} HERRATRNITES

Mr Albert WONG Kin-wai
=R E

Chairman of Association of I.T. Leaders in Education

‘,ﬁl AR E AR
g ! Bk

Mr Andy WONG Man-kit

General Manager of Corporate Affairs

l EEHRKE

Mr Selwyn YU Sing-cheung, SC
RAEERKEA
Senior Counsel

BRALE
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CO-OPTED MEMBERS'OF
THE CONSUMER COUNCIL

HEEERREIGREER

Mr Roy CHAN Kai-yan
Y REEEE

Mr Eugene FONG Yick-jin, MH
HEREE - SABE)E (uwpto E 2024.06.30)

Engineering Professional

TIREXAE

IT Professional

ENNBEEEAE

Dr Hugo CHAN Leung-to
BREe L
Associate Dean of Business School

A=

y

‘ - ‘ Prof. Patrick IP
y EFHBAHES (from 2025.01.213)

Clinical Professor in Paediatrics and Adolescent Medicine

' RENEDERBRERIIE

Dr Toa CHARM
BRBEL
Associate Professor of Practice in
Innovation and Technology

REFEBGAN B EXEMERX

Prof. Kelvin KWOK Hiu-fai
ERIEE IR

Associate Dean and Associate Professor of Law

REFEBREIRAREZIX

Mr Tony CHEUNG Kwok-wai
SREIRBIRER (upto E 2024.06.30)

Secondary School Vice Principal

. FREERE

Ms Loretta LAM Yee-mei
MiFEZ L (upto Z 2024.06.30)

Principal Education Secretary

BEREIE

Prof. Herbert CHIA Pun-kok, JP
HRBEYR  KFEL
Senior Advisor of Leading Cloud Intelligence Group

BEEWEEREE RN

Mr LAU Chun-hung, MH
BINRIBSEAE - BABEE (upto T 2024.06.30)

Education Consultant

BB

Mr Johnny FEE Chung-ming, JP
B - KFELE

Solicitor

EIEED

Ms Queenie Fiona LAU, SC
BB H B R KRR
Barrister-at-Law

REERD
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Dr Cherry TAM Hau-lin
SEIRE L (upto = 2024.06.30)
Associate Professor in Social and Behavioural Sciences

REMERATRBIEREIZIR

Ms Isabella LAU Kam-chu
BisgBk#&t (from 202501.2172)

Senior Advisor of Insurtech company

REFHR AR B

Dr Gary WONG Ka-wai
EREBEL (upto E 202406.30)

University Professor

REZE

Mr Lawrence LAU Yip-tak
D@L L (upto E 2024.06.30)

Secondary School Teacher

FREREM

Dr Paul WONG Wai-ching
EEREEL (upto Z 2024.06.30)

Associate Professor, Department of Social Work and
Social Administration, Clinical Psychologist
REHETERHEITRBRR R
FRAROIEER

Prof. Andrew MAK Tsz-chung
EFRHUR (fom 202501.21#8)
Professor of Engineering Practice

(Chemical & Biological Engineering)
IREEHE (LR2EEYTR)

Mr Rochester WONG Wang-fai
ERIBELE (upto Z 2024.06.30)

Education Bureau Chief Curriculum Development Officer

HERERERREE

Mr Alan NG Man-sang
BB KRR (fom 202501.271382)

Barrister-at-Law

KRAEERD

Mr Michael PANG Mr Martin WONG Wing-hoi
SRR FEkIEKER
IT Professional Barrister-at-Law

EMEMEERAR KGR

Prof. Christina YU Wai-mui
WEBEIF (upto = 2024.06.30)

Professor (Practice),
Department of Social Sciences and Policy Studies

HENBHRERMERRALIER (BE)

Mr Kyrus SIU King-wai
BERESE
Director of Global Social Impact Consultancy

R EREEHAATNES

Mr Michael YUNG Wai-kee
FEELLE (fom 202501.2148)

Strategic Advisor, Technology & Industry — Greater China

REREERR] - KREERHRELESK

Prof. Nora TAM Fung-yee, BBS, JP
BERERE  HEFEE - XFHT
Chair Professor of

Environmental Science and Conservation

RIENBRAERRE BRI
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COMMITTEES AND

INE R 5/ T E VA

The Council operates with a committee structure comprising 7 Committees and
an Advisory Group while the Full Council meetings are held on a bimonthly basis.

During the year, the Advisory Group on Digital Economy and Information
Technology was formalised to become the Committee on Digital Economy and
Information Technology as that would be better positioned to advise and monitor
the Council's work on consumer protection issues in the digital economy.

The Consumer Protection Law and Policy Committee and the Trade Practices
and Consumer Complaints Review Committee were merged to form the
Committee on Consumer Protection Policy, Trade Practices and Redress as
that would enable better synergy and a more holistic approach for Members
to advise the Council on a broad range of consumer protection policy issues
including dispute resolution.

The Publicity and Community Relations Committee and the Working Group on
Sustainable Consumption Programme were merged to form the Committee on
Sustainability, Public Affairs and Education with the aim of optimising information
dissemination and consumer education.

The Advisory Group on Silver Economy was newly formed to foster the
development of the “silver economy” to unleash and tap into the business
potential of the elderly market and strengthen consumer protection for the
elderly. This is also a measure to support the Government's policy to promote
the silver economy.

Furthermore, the Working Group on Revamp for Consumer Education for Youth
was dissolved upon the accomplishment of its missions and functions.

As permitted by the Council's statutory power, the Council co-opts professionals
of different disciplines as members of the Committees or Advisory/Working
Groups in order to benefit from their expertise and to facilitate the Council’s
work or studies in specific fields.
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During the year under review, 4 Co-opted Members: Dr Toa CHARM, Prof.
Herbert CHIA Pun-kok, B Prof. Kelvin KWOK Hiu-fai and Mr Martin WONG
Wing-hoi continued to serve the Council upon reappointment of Co-opted
membership. On 21 January 2025, Prof. Patrick IR Ms Isabella LAU Kam-chu,
Prof. Andrew MAK Tsz-chung, Mr Alan NG Man-sang and Mr Michael YUNG
Wai-kee were appointed as Co-opted Members.

In addition, the Council administers the Consumer Legal Action Fund via a Board
of Administrators and a Management Committee?. On 20 February 2025, Mr
Richard KHAW Wei-kiang, SC, JP succeeded Mr Selwyn YU Sing-cheung, SC as
the Chairman of the Management Committee, whereas Mr Johnny MA Ka-chun,
SC became the Vice-Chairman of the Management Committee.

On 6 December 2024, Ms Vinci LAM Wing-sai, SC was newly appointed as
Member. On 17 February 2025, Mr Duncan MA Tak-yan was newly appointed
as Member.

The Council would like to express its gratitude to the Chairman of the
Consumer Legal Action Fund Mr Selwyn YU and Member of Consumer Legal
Action Fund Mr Raymond MAK Ka-chun for their unrelenting commitment and
dedication during their terms of office.

Audit Committee F4%/)\#A

(renamed as Committee on Audit on 21 January 2025)

BEA
Ms vy CHEUNG Wing-han

Convenor

=8
Mr Clement CHAN Kam-wing, BBS, MH, |P
PREREESEA  REFEE > £8YE  KFEMT

Ms Veronica FUNG Kit-ming
Mr Edward HO Man-tat RIS (up to & 2024.12.31)
Ms Miranda KWAN Ching-yi  B8F##&Z+t (from 2025.01.21 &)

Ms Doris LIAN Shaodong, MH
BRI L AEFET (upto F 2024.12.31)

Ms Rachael SIU Suk-yu  EESUIBI AR Z26M

Members

Mr Augustine WONG Ho-ming, JP 2.

=EREA » AL (from 2025.01.21 #2)

2. See the Annual Report of the Consumer Legal Action Fund 2024-25 for detalils.
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Key Functions
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BB+ 2.
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SEEEE 2 P 2025FE2H 20 FE

ﬁﬁ PRAERD R BEEREANR
AEERREMAEEREENIR - 2R

BERRNEMAZEEAERRZSENEIER -

ESEIEN 2024 12 B 6 BEEENMNE
THERAER » KRR 2025 F 2 B 17 BER

EREBIEE -
FERORHHENEEREGIRRAEE

BRI REBE BB 4 RN R AR
R -

Number of Meetings
EEAXH 3

FERRE

To assist the Full Council in fulfilling its functions by
providing an independent review of and making
recommendations on financial reporting, audit process,
risk management policies as well as internal control
measures of the Council.

To supervise the overall framework of corporate
governance and refer to the Full Council issues or
weaknesses identified by the Committee or external
audit.

FErPmE AP
BEBRMERENAIEHERRHEZE - %8
RESRBRASETHRAE -
EEETHEZEREMBEER A
SMBEARRNREN N EZRAEE
& -

mB)»E?r
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Consumer Protection Law and Policy Committee

HEZERRERBER/E

Number of Meetings

ERXH 6

Note

1. The Consumer Protection Law and Policy Committee was merged to the
Committee on Consumer Protection Policy, Trade Practices and Redress with

fiecE

1. 202541821 HE  BHEZEERER
BRNEBNEERERCR - BEFAKRA

effect from 271 January 2025. /A ©

2. All membership of this Committee ended on 20 January 2025 unless 2. BAFRIBIRR It/ NEFEE(FHIE 2025 F 1 B
otherwise specified. 20 Hik-

Chairman FJE Key Functions FZERAE

Mr Selwyn YU Sing-cheung, SC  RAE & FAEZED

BEE

Mr Matthew LAM Kin-hong, BBS, MH, JP
MERERARAD - SREFIEE - LEHE - AFEWLT
(upto & 2024.1231)

Vice-Chairman

Members &

Ms lvy CHEUNG Wing-han  3R5E#S 20+

The Hon Holden CHOW Ho-ding, JP A& S8 » AFHL
Ms Miranda KWAN Ching-yi BEBEt

MrVictor LAM Hoi-cheung, MH, |P
MBS > BEHE  KFEMT (upto E 2024.12.31)

Mr Alan LUI Siv-lun - E#BBESEAE (up to 2 2024.12.31)
Ms Rachael SIU Suk-yu  ZEUII A 226N
Mr Andy WONG Man-kit 354

Co-opted Members iEEERES
Mr Johnny FEE Chung-ming, JP EFRBAERERD + AL
Ms Queenie Fiona LAU, SC I B hRE2ED

Mr Martin WONG Wing-hoi  E KIS RE2ED
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1.

To advise the Council on matters relating to the legal rights and
protection of consumers.

. To review the working of consumer protection legislation and

public policy in Hong Kong.

. To look at consumer protection legislations in other territories

and to examine the feasibility of making similar provisions in
Hong Kong.

. To formulate and to submit recommendations through the

Council to the Government to amend and/or to enact legislation/
public policies to protect consumers.

. To play an active role in advocating for a fair; just and competitive

marketplace from the aspect of enhancing public policies relating
to consumer protection laws.

. To publish reports on advancing public policies on consumer

protection or legal protection for consumers.

. To review the complaints received by the Council that give rise

to the concern of inadequacies in legislations and public policies.

. To meet delegations and to receive representations by interested

groups relating to public policy affairs.

To consider and advise the Council on the issues to be addressed
and matters to be prepared by the Council in light of the Law
Reform Commission’s recommendations in relation to class
actions.
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RREHEE ZIEB -
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Governance and Management #EE /4R EE

Publicity and Community Relations Committee Number of Meetings
EFRitERFR/E ERXH 4
Note fisz:

1. The Publicity and Community Relations Committee was merged to the 1. 20254 1 B 21 Hi » EFLEEEERN
Committee on Sustainability, Public Affairs and Education with effect from 21 HHEARRHBEEE - AXFHEEEB/)VE -
January 2025. 2. BREERIFIRE > b/ AR EFEHIZE 2025 £ 1 B

2. All membership of this Committee ended on 20 January 2025 unless 20 Hik-

otherwise specified.

Chairman /& Key Functions FZH§E
MrVictor LAM Hoi-cheung, MH, |P 1. To monitor the planning and implementation of the
MEELLE » BEFE - KL (up to E 2024.12.31) Council's publicity and community relation matters.

. . —is 2. To monitor the production and marketing activities of
- &l
Vice-Chairman  BIER “CHOICE" and other publications.

Mr Kenneth CHAN Kin-nin - BREZSFSE2E 3. To consider matters pertaining to the operation and

Members ZE8 development of Consumer Advice Services.

Ms vy CHEUNG Wing-han RSB 2+ 4, To advi'se on matter§ pertaining t(? cpnsumer gducation
including production of publicity materials and
Prof. CHUNG Chi-yung $E:5B#I%

MsVeronica FUNG Kit-ming /R IS2 L 5. To advise the Council on community relations and
MrAlan LUl Siu-lun - BB #RBESE4 (up to 2 2024.12.31) international liaison matters.

Mr Duncan MATak-yan BB{_54E

organisation of publicity campaigns.

l"erony PANG Chorfu ﬁé%;{%i 1. EE:; ﬁ E%Ifﬁ&%i@%%%%ﬁﬁ@%%ﬁﬂ%ﬁ@ °
Ms Iris WAN Lai-sze SREERIZLE (up to & 2024.12.31) 2. BB (RR) ARIRAMUHRINRENEEZD -
Mr Albert WONG Kin-wali %@@E%/_‘E 3 %E%?ﬁﬁ@ﬁ{’ﬁ&/ﬁéuuu@qﬂ/b\Z%E

R 4 BEEREEEERE S E Y AN NS AT
Co-opted Member IEZEZES Bt .

D Hugo CHAN Leungto BESHA8L 5. B EERER B RS SRR R -

HBEESS 2024-25 3R 27
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Research and Testing Committee #f5% 5 0B/ i Number of Meetings

(renamed as Committee on Research and Testing on 21 January 2025) EEAE 6

Chairman FJ& Key Functions FZEHRAE

DrVictor LUIWing-cheong  EKEE4 (upto & 2024.12.31) 1. To advise the Council on matters pertaining to the

Prof. CHUNG Chi-yung  $BRE##2 (from 2025.01.21 £8) testing and survey projects on consumer products and
services, including the scope of project and budgetary

Vice-Chairman gIFEfE matters.

Ms Iris WAN Lai-sze SEEERZL (upto & 2024.12.31) 2. To review the test and survey results as well as

comments from manufacturers, agents, experts,

ing- ] 0121 #
Ms Iy CHEUNG Wingrhan - SReIRZLL (from 20250121 ) consultants, etc. in respect of these results.

Members B 3. To examine issues affecting the health and safety of
Ms lvy CHEUNG Wing-han 3588820+ (up to & 2025.01.20) consumers,
Prof. CHUNG Chi-yung BB (up to & 2025.01.20) 4. To review the annual work plan and estimated budget

) for product testing and survey projects.
Prof. LAM Hon-ming, MH

WREAHIS » Z8E)Z (from 2025.01.21 #8) 5. To make recommendations to the Council on actions to
Mr Stephen LEUNG Shing-yum RESEE#EER (from 2025.01.21 #) be taken in this programme area

Ms vy LEUNG Siu-ling A2t (from 2025.01.21 #£) 1. EEMERAREE  BFEEELNRBER
Ms Doris LIAN Shaodong A&+ (up to & 2024.12.31) FREENRESAMHERIRLES -

DrAda LINWai-chi JRUZZBS4E (from 2025.01.21 #8) 2. ETARMBSHRLRSREIER » 027 HX

BHESHELERNERNEE -
3 BREBHBEERENRZE2MME -
4. FFREDARNIHAERE TENFEEASIMASR -
5. BT MRS EERBNTBMEE SR HEE -

Mr Duncan MaTak-yan EBfB{_sc4E

Prof. Jack POON Sik-ching ERELEH#% (from 2025.01.21 &)
Ms Rachael SIU Suk-yu  EE/RUBIATRAD (from 2025.01.27 &)
Mr Albert WONG Kin-wai  E#ESe4 (up to & 2025.01.20)
Mr Andy WONG Man-kit EX#ESE4E (from 2025.01.21 #2)

Co-opted Members 1EEEZES
Prof. Patrick P EEAH38##E (from 2025.01.21 &)
Prof. Andrew MAK Tsz-chung  Z5F 78 ##% (from 2025.01.21 #2)

Prof. Nora TAM Fung-yee, BBS, |P
FREIE  EHES - FHL
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Staff and Finance Committee A 8478/

(renamed as Committee on Staff and Finance on 21 January 2025)

Chairman FE[E

Mr Clement CHAN Kam-wing, BBS, MH, |P
PREBLAASA  AEFIEE  LABEFET » KM
Vice-Chairman EIEfE

MrTony PANG Chorfu B3B8k 5E4

Members &
Mr Kenneth CHAN Kin-nin  FREZFESAE
Ms vy CHEUNG Wing-han  3Rs8#§22£ (from 2025.01.21 i&)

Mr Stephen LEUNG Shing-yum BT (from 2025.01.21 &)

Mr Edward HO Man-tat fAIEESEZE (up to & 2024.12.31)

MrVictor LAM Hoi-cheung, MH, |P
MENELLE » BT - KL (upto E 2024.12.31)

Mr Matthew LAM Kin-hong, BBS, MH, JP
MR - AEFIEE - £ERHE - Xt
(upto & 2024.12.31)

DrVictor LUIWing-cheong XS4 (up to E 2024.12.31)
Ms Iris WAN Lai-sze SREERIZE (up to & 2024.12.31)

Mr Albert WONG Kin-wai - E2BI5T4 (from 2025.01.21 #2)
Mr Selwyn YU Sing-cheung, SC = sRAE & ZRALEAD

Governance and Management {&iEE 4% S8

Number of Meetings
ERXE 7

Key Functions FERaE

1.

To formulate policy pertaining to the annual budget of
the Council.

. To monitor and approve the income and expenditure

account of the Council.

. To consider the conditions of service and any

disciplinary or other staff management matters and to
take/recommend appropriate action.

. To approve/endorse the appointment, confirmation,

renewal of contracts, award of annual increment etc. of
the staff of the Council as the case may be.

. To receive and deal with complaints against staff of the

Council.

. To advise on the investment strategy for the Consumer

Legal Action Fund.

. To advise on the investment strategy for the Council's

liquid fund.

. To take on other duties as advised by the Consumer

Council.

- HEHEEFETRENERBR -
- EETHERRSHWSORE

3. BEBRBEL  UREMCEIHMASEEEE

0 ~N O O

WERER / BHEENTE -

U/ BEfEn - FERR  BRAR  DIHERER

SNFEMFFIER -

- REMEEIHER S TFABRIKGR

. BUHBEFAESAIRE R IR -
. BUHEREREESAVIRE RIS IRHRE -
AEHEERESIRNEMBE -

HEEZRS® 2024-25 F 29



AEFIMRAREEERFELE/IE

Trade Practices and Consumer Complaints Review Committee

Number of Meetings

ERXHD

Note

1. The Trade Practices and Consumer Complaints Review Committee was
merged to the Committee on Consumer Protection Policy, Trade Practices

and Redress with effect from 21 January 2025.

2. All membership of this Committee ended on 20 January 2025 unless

otherwise specified.

Chairman &

MrTony PANG Chorfu B2 K44

BIEE
Mr Selwyn YU Sing-cheung, SC

Vice-Chairman
RAEERKERD

=8

Mr Kenneth CHAN Kin-nin  BREREE A

The Hon Holden CHOW Ho-ding P EV&RIEE - A4+
Ms Veronica FUNG Kit-ming &2 IBZz+

Ms Miranda KWAN Chingyi BEBEt

MrAlan LUI Siu-lun - SR#BEBESEA (up to & 2024.12.31)
Prof. Jack POON Sik-ching S&TRIF ##%

Ms Rachael SIU Suk-yu  ZEEUIBI A Z26M

Mr Andy WONG Man-kit s34

Members

Co-opted Member IEEZES
Prof. Kelvin KWOK Hiu-fai - ZREEIEZUIR
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fiEE
1. 20254 1 A 21 B - @mEFEMTRE
EERFES/ NI NHEREECR - BETF

FSGEERAN
2. RASRIFIRA - M/ VBREEHE 20254 1 H
20 Hik -
Key Functions FZEHaE

1.

- BREEERZENEBFTEMNES > MIARNTER

To examine the practices and advertisements of individual traders
and, where these are unacceptable, to secure an end to the
practices or to “name’’ the trader in order to warn consumers.

. To examine practices that are prevalent in a trade to see whether

they operate against the interests of consumers.

. To improve the treatment of consumers by

* contributing to the development of codes of practice and
standards of professional and trade bodies

* responding to consultation papers

* overseeing the Council’s participation in voluntary redress
schemes

. To advise the Legal Protection Committee on issues relating to

trade practices where there may be a need for new or amended
legislation.

. To meet delegations and to receive representations by interested

groups relating to trade practices.

. To review and advise on the resolution of complicated individual

complaint cases from individual consumers.

. To examine issues arising from consumer complaints which have

drawn wide public/media attention.

. To review cases where complainants are not satisfied with the

outcome and/or the way in which Council staff have handled their
complaint.

. To review the Council's consumer complaints handling procedures

as and when necessary.

RUELR
FRICARREMIESY " Rh% ) AR UEEHES -

2. RETERERFAENERTE  REARTBEEHES NG -
3. LB HEEFERBR -

« (REFEMNEEEE  SIETRTNRE
 [EFERAERSH
- BEEHEZE2HABMERS

- BEmHEERERRESB/ NMIEFEE ST REFNHILEN

EIIRBED -

5. ERAKRBEUMEN T EEERREHER -
6. WEMNEARVETEEWRHMARIE -
7. BAR /) BEEREIHEERFPERENRAEETAER

B -

CHIRRFARNWEEZES ABREEERMENHERTIRENZR

HETER -

ERENRIEESONE SRR -




Committee on Consumer Protection Policy,

Trade Practices and Redress

Governance and Management {&iEE 4% S8

Number of Meetings
ERXE - 2

HEBEREBUR - BEF AR FR/E (from 2025.01.21 1)

Note

All membership of this Committee commenced from 21 January 2025 unless

otherwise specified.

Chairman FJE
Mr Selwyn YU Sing-cheung, SC  sRAE & R ALRAD

Vice-Chairman BIEfE
Ms Miranda KWAN Chingyi B8 Et

Members E&

The Hon CHAN Hoi-yan BES\IKEE

The Hon Holden CHOW Ho-ding, P &SI 8 - A+
Prof. Marshall JEN Hong  {ER2i%

Prof. Jack POON Sik-ching EFEIEZIS

Ms Rachael SIU Suk-yu BRI A/RED

Mr Augustine WONG Ho-ming, JP - E3& RS54 - R+

Co-opted Members IEEERE

Mr Johnny FEE Chung-ming, |P EFRBAERAN + AFHL
Prof. Kelvin KWOK Hiu-fai  SREEREARFEED

Ms Queenie Fiona LAU, SC 2 B & R R 428
MrAlan NG Man-sang ‘R4 AR £EET

fist
BREERIZIBA - it/ VB ESEHH 20256 1A 21 B
BAs

Key Functions FZEH&E

1. To play an active role in advocating for a fair, just and competitive
marketplace from the aspect of enhancing public policies relating to
consumer protection.

2. To advise and govern the Council on matters relating to public policy
on the rights and protection of consumers.

3. To look at consumer protection policies in other jurisdictions and to
examine the feasibility of adopting similar provisions in Hong Kong.

4. To formulate and to submit recommendations through the Council
to the Government to amend and/or adopt public policies to protect
consumers.

5. To oversee the publication of reports on advancing public policies on
consumer protection or legal protection for consumers.

6. To oversee the examination of the practices and advertisements of
individual traders and, where these are unacceptable, to secure an end
to the practices or to “name” the trader in order to warn consumers.

7. To improve the treatment of consumers by
* contributing to the development of codes of practice and

standards of professional and trade bodies.
* responding to consultation papers.
» overseeing the Council's participation in voluntary redress schemes.

8. To review the Council's consumer complaints handling procedures as
and when necessary.

1. BREEAT AERAHFHNGSEE  LREEHNES
REBHOASLIE -

2 ShHBE RN RRENABRET AN EREE R RIS
re -

3. SEH{MENNEEREEE - WSS RMELIEL
AT o

4 HETRFEEBUESABARR « LUSTR / SURMRENS
EHARE -

5. EERREREEEEARKERE N RO RERED
s -

6. EREREENESETARESNS  WETE @ BEEELE f”
BITR - SABIE LIS TN -

T LR EREESEAEE 7
- [REFLFGTEH - S TATUTIEE {
. AR ; 3

- BEEEZE2HARMERE -
8 HERERRIHESNHBERFRERR -
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Yy TR < ooy |

L % X

Committee on Digital Economy and Information Technology Number of Meetings

55 3% RAE BRIV (from 2025.01.21 ) EERE

Note fisat

All membership of this Committee commenced from 21 January 2025 unless FRFRIZIRE - It/ A= SRR 2025F 1821 B

otherwise specified. FLA ©

Chairman E& Key Functions FZERAE B

Prof. Jack POON Sik-ching y&FRIF % 1. To alert the Council of critical consumer issues that may [ i
] ) . arise in the digital economy and advise on strategies and

Vice-Chairman EIE/E appropriate actions for protecting consumer interests.

Mr Albert WONG Kin-wai S {#BI5E4E 2. To advise the Council on effective approaches to

monitor technical developments and advances in }

a& =
Members %8 technology or study digital issues.

Prof. CHUNG Chi-yung 55 #i% 3. To facilitate the Council's connection with appropriate

Ms Veronica FUNG Kit-ming J5&I522 1 stakeholders, such as key market players or solution
Prof. Marshall JEN Hong (RS providers, and broaden the Council's outreach in the

) digital community.
DrAda LINWai-chi EE 74 ‘ o
4. To govern the Council on its internal IT system

Co-opted Members 18iEZES development and adoption of technological tools to
Mr Roy CHAN Kai-yan BREUBSC4

DrToa CHARM SEZiIS#E+

strengthen communication with stakeholders and
consumers.

5. To advise and direct the Council in its development

Prof. Herbert CHIA Pun-kok,JP ER&HIT » KFHL of Artificial Intelligence and the related policies and
Mr Michael PANG &84 4E technology deployments.
Mr Kyrus SIU King-wai BB EBIS4 6. To review and advise the Council on tendering,

consultancy recommendations, and implementation of
Mr Martin WONG Wing-hoi - K IGAERAR [T projects on project status and quality of work, whilst
Mr Michael YUNG Wai-kee GEHELAE upholding a level of cybersecurity that complies with
regulatory requirement, policy guidelines and/or industry
best practices.

| RESEEN T RN E AN ERE SR
JRIHETR W SHREH B A R AR ST E
RIS -

2. SREERLR SRR R RS & B A B R
BEDAAE SRS -

3 BEHERUEENRAE  ANTEEBLRE
SRR RRERTER © WHAH RGBT
R -

4. SEHERNEMB R GHFER R TANR
RIRGUEE LIRSS E RSB EREA -

5. AT EENRE KRR NE N EE
ROEEREE -

6. EHILARE - R ERE N BIA B M
BEEERTFERMNETRNES  ANER
BRR2KTHAEEER  BEHESIR / ST
B -
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Committee on Sustainability, Public Affairs and Education

A FHEHE « AHBBERHE /I (from 2025.01.21 i)

Governance and Management {&iEE 4% S8

Number of Meetings
EE24 S

Note

All membership of this Committee commenced from 27 January 2025 unless

otherwise specified.

Chairman /&
MrTony PANG Chorfu B8R %4

Vice-Chairman EIFJE
Mr Kenneth CHAN Kin-nin  FREREESAE

Members &8

The Hon CHAN Hoi-yan BES\IKEE
Ms Veronica FUNG Kit-ming 5218271
Ms Miranda KWAN Ching-yi EBE#&EZL
Prof. LAM Hon-ming, MH  #ZRBZIT - LBgE=
Ms Ivy LEUNG Siu-ling 4% 4+

Mr Duncan MATak-yan BB{_54E

Mr Albert WONG Kin-wai  E={#EELAE
Mr Andy WONG Man-kit B X#E5E4
Co-opted Members HHERES

Dr Hugo CHAN Leung-to BR=3i84
Ms Isabella LAU Kam-chu  BI$8Ek4&+

fisst
FRIFRIZIEA - It/ VB ER SEHE 20256 1A 21 B
BAs

Key Functions FZEHAE

1.

To advise and monitor the planning and implementation
of the Council's publicity and education-related matters.

. To advise and monitor the production and marketing/

promotional activities of “CHOICE” and other
publications.

. To advise and examine matters pertaining to consumer

education including production of publicity materials and
organisation of publicity campaigns.

. To advise the Council on international liaison matters.

5. To steer and provide advice about the strategic

direction of the sustainability programme, including the
scope of different projects and cross-divisional activities.

. To advise and oversee the development of the Council's

sustainable consumption framework to ensure that it
represents the needs of current and future Hong Kong
consumers.

. To advise and review the fostering of partnerships and

engagement with stakeholders in the community and
Government in promoting public awareness of and
participation in sustainable consumption.

BEERBEEEEENRABHEAZEENRETER

ReftER -

- EERB (EF) BTIREMHRDHNRENTS

#E / EFEEIRMER

 WHBEHENESERUESELETER BF

EEMENRIEREETBIEN

. REBEBMBEERERSRMEER

5 IEEBBAFIBEEMNEIHPVER Z I ER RS

HOSREE S8t WiiR (s -

BEEERESEEBANEEE T mARREM]

2# o BRERBRRESHRREBHEENTER -

. BUREEFDEBREERBUTHPINBHEERK

BN TFREERETRS  DEBEAREA
FHEHBENRBLSHE -
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Adpvisory Group on Digital Economy and Information Technology

S5 38 R S E A R AR/l

raa / TFVA

Number of Meetings
EEXE 4

Note

1. The Advisory Group on Digital Economy and Information Technology was

formalised as the Committee on Digital Economy and Information Technology

with effect from 21 January 2025.

2. All membership of this Advisory Group ended on 20 January 2025 unless

otherwise specified.

Convenor BEA

Prof. Jack POON Sik-ching ERIEHIR

Members EE&
Ms Veronica FUNG Kit-ming & ZIEZ1

Ms Doris LIAN Shaodong, MH
BRIt BEEFHE (upto E 2024.12.31)

Mr Albert WONG Kin-wai = 2ESTE

Co-opted Members HEERS

Mr Roy CHAN Kai-yan BRERBSEE

DrToa CHARM JHERBGEL

Prof. Herbert CHIA Pun-kok, JP BB @B #I% - AF#L
Mr Michael PANG 28854

Mr Kyrus SIU King-wai B SEE4
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fist
1. B 2025 1 B 21 Hi » BiFhinRREEE
AR/ MEIE TR A SIS iZ 3R R LA

%V
2. BRFAIBIER - IR/ NMEREAEHE 2025 F
1TH20R1LE-

Key Functions FZEH§AE

1.

To alert the Council of critical consumer issues that may
arise in the digital economy and advise strategies and
appropriate actions for protecting consumer interests.

. To advise the Council on effective approaches to

monitor technical developments or study digital issues.

. To help connect the Council with appropriate

stakeholders, such as key market players or solution
providers, and broaden the Council's outreach in the
digital community.

. To advise the Council on its internal IT system

development and adoption of technological tools to
strengthen communication with stakeholders and
consumers.

. To review and advise the Council on tendering,

consultancy recommendations, and implementation of
IT projects on project status and quality of work.

. BEBBKERATRNENE OB EHERERS

RHETR  URARZBEHBEENSPORENEETE
RHEE

. BLEEER ST R KA S R S S AR B R R Y

BROTEFERSREEZ -

BIHREREENFNE  AINHEEE2HEE

BB WEXERSERISERREER -

. BLAEEMAHR R MAIRABMRAE - LIk R R s

FPENBEEE BB TREMHER -

- BRUBIBR AR ENREIRENER 1]
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Working Group on Revamp for Consumer Education for Youth

BLEABEHFNET(FME

Governance and Management {&iEE 4% S8

Number of Meetings
EERXRE

Note

1. The Working Group on Revamp for Consumer Education for Youth was

dissolved with effect from 30 June 2024.

2. All membership of this Working Group ended on 30 June 2024 unless

otherwise specified.

Chairman EJ&
MrTony PANG Chorfu B228 K564

Members ZE&
Mr Albert WONG Kin-wai S {ZE 4

Co-opted Members EiEEE

MrTony CHEUNG Kwok-wai REIEEIRE

Mr Eugene FONG Yick{jin, MH AZERBIAE - LEEHT
Ms Loretta LAM Yee-mei  M&EBIAL L

Mr LAU Chun-hung MH  ZIIRIESE4A » B FE
Mr Lawrence LAU Yip-tak  BIZEEB54

Dr Cherry TAM Hau-lin  BI5& 18+

Dr Gary WONG Ka-wai  s®HREE LT

Dr Paul WONG Wai-ching &EEHE L

Mr Rochester WONG Wang-fai &= IEHA

Prof. Christina YU Wai-mui k&M%

figat

1. BOEHEERESCET RV 2024 £ 6
H 30 Bt -

2. BRERIZIRE - L TIRMERSEHE 2024 F
6830 HL"

Key Functions FERaE

1.

The Working Group (WG) shall report to the Publicity
& Community Relations Committee (PCRC) on its
discussions and recommendations in the meetings.

. To advise on the objectives, strategies, deliverables

and format of the revamped education initiatives for
secondary school students, and areas for enhancement
in terms of programme administration.

. To receive and comment on proposals, work plans and

work updates from the staff of the Consumer Education
Division (CED) on related work.

. To advise and comment on the design and contents of

related initiatives and resource materials developed by
the CED.

- TR/ MEAREBE R ERR/NE (PCRC) JERN

Y amAlEE -

C TENMEERHHERBENREHBEEZER

REE ~ RAPN - URIRBEE IR EMAN
FREHEZ -

- TENERBCREEBE BEHENRR  TIFerE

M LEEE » WRHER -

- TENEEHEE B E G ENRBMERMH
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Working Group on Sustainable Consumption Programme

A FFHEHERTBI T{E/ A

Number of Meetings
ERXRE

Note

1. The Working Group on Sustainable Consumption Programme was merged
to the Committee on Sustainability, Public Affairs and Education with effect

from 21 January 2025.

2. All membership of this Working Group ended on 20 January 2025 unless

otherwise specified.

Chairman &
Ms Miranda KWAN Ching-yi EBE#&EZL

Members &E&

Mr Kenneth CHAN Kin-nin - BREREE A

Prof. CHUNG Chi-yung $E 7B #IR

Mr Edward HO Man-tat {RIEIESE4 (up to F 2024.12.31)
Ms Iris WAN Lai-sze JREERIZE (up to £ 2024.12.31)

Mr Andy WONG Man-kit s34

Mr Selwyn YU Sing-cheung, SC ~ RAEAE & FAEM
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Key Functions FZEH§AE

1.

To steer and provide advice about the strategic
direction of the programme, including the scope of
different projects and cross-divisional activities.

. To oversee the development of the Council’'s

sustainable consumption framework ensuring it
represents the needs of current and future Hong Kong
consumers.

. To foster partnerships and engagement with

stakeholders in the community and Government in
promoting public awareness of and participation in
sustainable consumption.

. To advise the Council on how we might most effectively

and constructively engage with organisations and
processes that we are seeking to influence.

. To take on other duties as advised by the Council.

. EEREARRENBEFYER SRR #

W -

 EEHZEERRUSIEEETENRE  BRE

RBFESMAKREEHEENFTR -

ACERFN B BELER RBUTIPIRIHREE - #

MERHAFHEEENAREBMSH -

. FUERSREER  SIARBRh R EERIEH

B B ISR IR S 1E -

. AEEREIMAVEMEE
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Advisory Group on Silver Economy Number of Meetings
REHE LR\ (from 2025.01.21 i) BEXE:O0
Note fimat

All membership of this Advisory Group commenced from 21 January 2025 FREFRIZIRA » a8/ NEZ B FEHIH 2025 £ 1
unless otherwise specified. A 21 B -

Chairman Ef& Key Functions FZEAE

Mr Clement CHAN Kam-wing, BBS, MH, JP 1. To advise the Council of the assessment on the
BREPESSEE  REFER - LKEBBE - KTH#HL potential and market demand for developing the silver

economy and advise on strategies and appropriate

=5 . ) ,
Members X5 actions for promoting the silver economy.

Mr Kenneth CHAN Kin-nin - BREZFFSE4 2. To advise the Government through the Council that
The Hon Holden CHOW Ho-ding P SR8 » At while seizing the opportunities in developing the silver

) _ economy, what steps should be taken in monitorin
Prof. CHUNG Chi-yung $E5 B 215 / <P -y 2
the relevant business activities so as to ensure that

Prof. LAM Hon-ming, MH  #RZAHIR - 45E88= the consumer rights and interests of the elderly are
Ms vy LEUNG Siu-ling AR+ protected.
DrAda LINWai-chi ERIZ5824 3. To advise and govern the Council on publicity and

. . o education programmes for the elderly, including
Mr Augustine WONG Ho-ming, JP S35 RRSCAE - RFEsRt collaboration with other stakeholders, on the
promotion of proper concepts and information for self-

empowerment.

4. To facilitate the Council’s liaison with appropriate
stakeholders, such as key industry players and the
Government's Advisory Panel on Silver Economy and
the Customs and Excise Department (C&ED).

1. BB RBELENE D NHIEHRETTE  ALA
HESRHE R LDERRESENRBIEETT
IR o

2 EBMHEZEMBNREMARR  BHERERERE
BRBEMRN  EBRIIEEEERAEEERE
B DREREIVEERS

3 BEREAREMKMEERAEBRERMERR

S BEEEMFNESF EELREILE y
AMLURTHREBREEN ° '8

4. BENERSRBENRDERIIBE TR
AT~ BUTHSRERERA/ N VEREEEE -
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/74 MANAGEMENT'ANDISTAEEE 2 E R S

FULL COUNCIL £EE8&

|
MANAGEMENT TEAM OF THE CONSUMER COUNCIL HBEEZZEEEEE

Chief Executive

ans

Ms Gilly WONG Fung-han*
=R L

Deputy
Chief Executive

Elfans

Mr Francis HO Ying-foo
AEERE

(2024.04.01 - 2025.03.31)

PLANNING AND TRADE PRACTICES DIVISION RE| K & & F/EEHE0

Principal Planning and Trade Practices Officer K&|NEIEFIABBE EREEIE (up 10£2024.06.30)
Director of Planning and Trade Practices R &| X FIEEHEMEE (from 2024.07.01#8)

MsVera TAM Sau-ngor” EFHHLCE" (up 10E2025.02.27)

Vacant $#ZE (from 2025.02.28#E )

PUBLIC AFFAIRS DIVISION A#EEEB

Principal Public Affairs Officer AHEHIHEFEIT (up 1022024.06.30)
Director of Public Affairs A£EHHEE: (from 2024.07.01%8)
Ms Amy WONG Pui-shan” & {fiffizc "

RESEARCH & SURVEY DIVISION %R &EEL

Principal Research and Survey Officer (Acting) FIZTREEIEMEE (B ) (upt0E2024.06.30)
Director of Research and Survey (Acting) E}}nﬁiﬁ%ﬁ“\% (EHE) (20240701 to & 2024.12.31)
Director of Research and Survey #ff7e REEHEE (from 2025.01.01#8)

Ms Angel CHEUNG Yan-fan” 3EBfI7 224"

e

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY DIVISION Z&FH%E8

Head of Information Technology Division E#RIERHEE(T (up t0Z2024.06.30)
Director of Information Technology ERAEHYHEES (from 2024.07.0142)
Mr Ricky NG Chi-wah R&ZESEA

HUMAN RESOURCES DIVISION AA&EIFEEB

Head of Human Resources Division AJJERERIEFET (up t022024.06.30)
Director of Human Resources A N&ERIEES (from 2024.07.01#E )
Mr LEE Wing-kai ZS7K{E554E

FINANCE & ADMINISTRATION DIVISION B7 7% K 17 EZER

Head of Finance and Administration Division 875 X1TEEMEELE (up toZE2024.06.30)
V= L] Director of Finance and Administration 84 #5 X 1TEHEES (from 2024.07.01#E)
,}w : Ms Grace NG Wai-ting (A1 +

J

LEGAL AFFAIRS DIVISION ;Z{2E7E%8

Head of Legal Affairs Division AR EHFEMFEE (up toF2024.06.30)
Director of Legal Affairs JAESEH5#88: (from 2024.07.01#E)

[%Mr Michael KAN Kin-hang’ ({5

COMPLAINTS & ADVICE DIVISION #¥:7 & 55050

Principal Complaints and Advice Officer &5 MFAAEREFE T (up 10£2024.06.30)
Director of Complaints and Advice &5 NAFAIEE (from 2024.07.01#E)
Ms Liza FUNG Tsz-yan® JEFE & +"

CONSUMER EDUCATION DIVISION B&&Z# 5P

Head of Consumer Education Division JHEEH B B#EFEE (up toF2024.06.30)
Director of Consumer Education SHEEHBHZE (from 2024.07.01#E)
Ms Joey LAl Cho-yee Z23HE2 1

SECRETARIAT ZEEH
Operated by a Senior Committee Secretariat Officer

H— 2 B TR B T B SR

Remuneration for Top 3 Tiers of Staff in the Consumer Council SHEE® 3 iR S HM
Chief Executive — Directorate Pay Scale Point D3 #5885 — BRI E D3

Deputy Chief Executive — Directorate Pay Scale Point D1 BI##82 S — B RIESTHRIFITE D1

* Principal Officer / Senior Legal Counsel —
*Term completed on 6 May 2025 1A 2025 4 5 A 6 BiVmBET

Master Pay Scale Point 45-49 BB E{E — f&Fr#kaRFr#h 45-49
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The Council Office

Under the leadership of the Council's Chief Executive, underpinned by the
Deputy Chief Executive, the 156-staff-strong Council Office operates in
9 functional divisions, namely the Complaints and Advice Division, Consumer
Education Division, Finance and Administration Division, Human Resources
Division, Information Technology Division, Legal Affairs Division, Planning and
Trade Practices Division, Public Affairs Division, and Research and Survey Division.

The 17 senior management team members possess a wealth of management
experience and expertise in different functional areas. All staff members are
governed by the Council's Code of Conduct.

Staff Training and Talent Development

During the year, the Council organised 7 staff briefing sessions and 12 training
workshops to develop and enrich staff members' knowledge and skills in
various scopes, covering cybersecurity, data governance, dispute resolution,
racial equality, as well as skill-based training such as OneDrive, social media,
generative artificial intelligence, etc.

Finance

The Council derives its income mainly from Government subvention. Other
sources of income (approximately 3.1%) include proceeds from sales of the
Council's CHOICE Magazine and interest income. Total recurrent and non-
recurrent expenditures for the year under review were HK$152.63 million and
HK$8.80 million respectively3.

Governance and Management {4iEE 4% S8

HEREWLAE

DRSS HEHEEMAZEIE 156 R8T -
TrEEZM 9 EEFIAE - BREKRFNAEHRRE
HEEREE  MBRITHE - ADERE
BB ERBHE  RERWEFES
BEE ~ AHEHE > DN EER -

1T UEEEABHE S ENEEERLSBAE
BENEXAH - TEREERET "HEEZ
SEBETRTA -

BTAIRREATER
ERAREHRT T BETMNRR 12 553
TS - UBRNZES TS AMMBRIE
i BIEERERE  BIDAE  RAUEEESE
BIETS » DURBIESALEN + B35 OneDrive ©
MBI ERRA TSRS -

RI%5

AEREFTSZREBINER » HMKAKRIR
(#931%) BEGR CGEE) BHILETAE -
FARRENIERBUREDBIABEE 15263 &
TR M 880 BT 3 o

3. See Appendix 1 for the Auditor's Report and Financial Statements for the accounts of the Council for 2024-25.
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CODE OF CONDUCT;

(3455

The Council Members and staff are governed by their respective sets of
Code of Conduct. The Codes set out the standard of conduct and probity
so as to strengthen its corporate governance, and internal control. The
Independent Commissioner Against Corruption (ICAC) was fully engaged in
the course of the development and subsequent update to ensure the Code
fully meets with the high standards of ICAC. Mandatory participation in the
Annual Online Quiz is required for all staff, with a passing rate of 8 out of 12
questions. Members of staff who fail the quiz are required to attend a special

refresher workshop and a retest thereafter.

The Content of the Code

Members and Staff

* Prevention of Bribery Ordinance

» Solicitation and Acceptance of
Advantage

* Advantages offered in their Official
Capacity

* Sponsorship offered in their Official
Capacity

» Offering of Advantages

* Managing Conflict of Interest

» Use of Council's Assets and Resources

+ Confidentiality of Information

»  Competition/Award Presentation

* Records, Accounts and other
Documents

* Gambling

* Loans

* Compliance with Local Laws

ZERBE

o (BLEERRRERGL)

« RERIEZ A&

« BELUABBDESA S
« BERUABSIESER
+ RHtRIH

o REAaEE

s EREREEENER
. REER

o LB/ R

+ REk  tREAEAMXX A
« B

o BREAHEGIANARG
N —

FRIRE

Members Specific

*  Members Bidding for the Council's
Contract

* Use of Public Fund

* Misuse of Capacity as a Council /
Committee Member

FEHTE

« REZHEBIOHRENAK
« BRAE

- BEREESSD
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Staff Specific

» Specific Requirement for Designated
Posts

* Misuse of Official Position

*  Outside Employment

*  Misconduct in Public Office

*  Guarantee

* Indebtedness

* Supervisory Accountability

* Reporting Suspected Irregularities and
Criminal Offences

BERTE

« HRNEERONARER
o EFRE

+ SMETAE

* ABABTRAE

. R

- RfE

« BEEE

« BRITRERTREMNESRT
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2022-25 STRATEGIC PLAN — 5 STRATEGIC GOALS
2022-25 REgETEl — 5 {ERIEE IR

1. Safeguard consumer interests under the digital economy 1. HEEEIGRE TEEE R
2. Enable informed consumption choice for better quality of living — 2 MEHBENMERE  RREGEE — RE
safety, value and sustainability BEMATRFENE

3 RERHBHEE — FLF KB BHER
AT — BHEEEN B BRERNBAAE
4. HEBNBRBHEER  DUBRERE « At/ K

3. Equip targeted vulnerable consumers — youth, elderly, mentally
handicapped — with proper knowledge and skills for self-protection

4. Sustain and develop partnership to synergise works in consumer s
RN EEREE ET
protection at international, Mainland/GBA and local levels 5 LL%igigﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁi}i{é N {;E T
. = /a /i
5. Uphold the Council as an effective and high performing statutory VBT A S i S M

body through staff enrichment and strong corporate governance

EXTERNAL COMMITTEES ATTENDED BY
COUNCIL MEMBERS AND STAFF

FEEERMRSENIIARESE

Council Members and staff currently sit on over 50 external committees, KEEENBERF2MEE 50 ENREES -
a few of which are listed below: IR AR S -
+ Department of Health — Pharmacy and Poisons (Listed Sellers of . T?TE% BEEHENBE (JIRSEHEER)
Poisons) Committee %Z5%
+  Department of Justice — Working Group on Class Actions o A — SREFALENE
* Electrical and Mechanical Services Department — Electrical Safety - METRE — ERLEHBAEZES
Advisory Committee - WEREBEER
* Estate Agents Authority s BYNEER — BitEERREEEE S
*+ Food and Health Bureau — Steering Committee on Prevention and . ?%)%FTZ%@ HELRELETERTEEE
Control of Non-communicable Diseases =k
+ Hong Kong Housing Society — Steering Committee of the Living Lab in - BECREER — BEXTRATKAZES
Gerontechnology for Age-Friendly Home . ?%{Egjﬁwb — &8 TQ B, BERESR
* Hong Kong Monetary Authority — Deposit-taking Companies Advisory =88
Committee - EENERES — SHRRFEITIMERES
+ Hong Kong Q-Mark Council — Safeguard Committee . B Eﬂ%%%ﬁ%fﬂﬂxi — ERREEBEEA
* Law Reform Commission — Sub-Committee on Cybercrime FE8
+ Office of the Communications Authority — Telecommunications . ERE BREEE
Regulatory Affairs Advisory Committee o IREXICTRER F'ﬁ/J\%ﬁ

* Transport Department — Committee on Taxi Service Quality
* Advisory Panel on Silver Economy

HBEEES 2024-25 £ 41



RESOLVING DISPUTES BEWEEN

CONSUMERS AND BUSINESSES

AR {SHBR A MEEEE Z RN

In fulfilling its statutory functions and duties, the Council provides readily available
consumer complaints handling services, helping consumers and traders to resolve
disputes by means of conciliation. This approach aids both consumers and traders
in achieving a mutually acceptable agreement, even though the Council does
not possess law enforcement authority or investigative powers. The information
collected from consumer complaints not only enables the Council to monitor
market conditions, and to advocate for consumers’ rights and interests, but also
facilitates collaboration with other authorities through sharing intelligence to address
unethical trading practices.

HEREHHBEITHEEIERRNBE - HEBEEREEENRGTVEERY - WA
ERANBAHEERREECANTE - BEHESRENEIATHESD 8
TREEBRAELI BRI BB P ERET HRIEMAVEIRTT S  1t5h -
WHEBRGRPRERFKNEN  NMEBAGERHHINN BN AEEE RS
RIEEZE  EREEASRREEMMENRERPILZER  BFELARHEE

1Ths °

Complaints and Enquiries Received

In 2024-25, the Council recorded 39,679 complaints and 55,174
enquiries, indicating a 12% year-on-year (YoY) increase in complaints and
a 5% decrease in enquiries. The e-form available on the Council's website
remained the major complaint channel in 2024-25 that accounted for
7'7% of the total complaint cases received. Meanwhile, 90% of enquiries
were made via the Council's hotlines.

R HIYSHEH

£ 2024-25 F[E - HEGHIRE 39679 RHER N 55174 :;ReE
# o REDRI LT 12% BT 5% - AREMRENEFRERZRE
FRHREFER T (REREFHEZRN 7% EFVEERZASE - K8
72 (90%) REBAGHNBEIIRE -
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Overview and Trends

Complaints Statistics Breakdown

The Council has seen a continuous increase in the overall complaint figures for
6 consecutive years. Among the cases received in the reporting period, 41%
involved online shopping, accounting for 16,164 cases (-2% YoY). 63% of the
pursuable cases were successfully resolved by conciliation (see Fig. 4).

The notable rise in complaint cases was largely due to the abrupt closure of the
gym chain Physical Fitness in September 2024, which alone accounted for 5,649
complaints, representing 14% of the overall total. Factoring out the complaints
arising from this incident, the Council recorded a total of 34,030 complaint cases
in 2024-25, indicating a slight decrease of 4% from last year.

As a result of the shutdown of Physical Fitness, the proportion of service-related
complaints rose to 63% (compared to 58% in 2023-24), while complaints
concerning goods made up 37% of all complaints received, down from 42% of
the year before.

Economic Slowdown and Consumer Confidence

The shifting consumption habits of visitors to Hong Kong coupled with increased
outbound travel by local residents have led to persistent challenges for local
businesses, resulting in a rise of shop closures. In the year under review, the
Council recorded 6,296 complaints against shop closures, representing a 723%
YoY upsurge. 5,649 of these cases were related to Physical Fitness, which has
prompted consumers to reconsider the stability of even well-established traders.
Furthermore, the closure has raised public concern regarding prepaid services
and the necessity for a legally mandated cooling-off period. Consumers are
reminded to carefully consider before committing to prepayment consumption,
and to avoid purchasing prepaid packages or entering into contracts that exceed
their actual needs.

In terms of the nature of complaints, excluding shop closure cases mainly
attributed to Physical Fitness, service quality topped the list in 2024-25 with
5,908 cases, accounting for 17% of all complaints. There was also a notable
call for improvement in product quality, with 4,212 cases concerning quality
of goods, or 12% of the overall complaints. Businesses should enhance the
standard of their products and services to remain competitive and attractive,
thereby effectively encouraging both locals and visitors to shop and boost
economic growth. Furthermore, the Council recorded 2,328 cases related to
sales practices during the reporting period, with 376 cases filed by visitors. It is
imperative for the industry to implement measures to combat malpractice to
uphold consumer trust and Hong Kong's reputation.

Dispute Resolution Beyond Boundaries

The proliferation of e-commerce and outbound travel means that consumption
activities nowadays have transcended both geographical and physical boundaries.
During the year, the Council signed a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU)
for collaboration on cross-border consumer disputes with the Thailand
Consumers Council. Considering Thailand’s extreme popularity as a travel
destination for Hong Kong people, this agreement is set to remove past
obstacles for resolving consumer complaints, including language, geographical and
jurisdictional barriers.

EEEEmEREEE

A . 1
esolving Disputes Between Consumers and xlnesses
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Closer to home, the Council also signed an MOU with the Guangdong EXGAE ST E  AETHEREHEEEZS

Consumer Council while renewing those with the Zhejiang Consumers Council EEXETEREEIZESFWHES  LET

and Shanghai Consumer Council. With information exchange and complaint AR BT HEEERREZEREETA

referral mechanisms in place with consumer counterparts in both the Mainland ERR R - A IEBEL D S e & 1 (R A

and across Asia, the strengthened cooperation will foster a safer and more BURESRKFFBERIERS - NRHIE &

reassuring consumption environment for consumers in the region. BAEEEESE—EEARE  EROEE
BIR o

Read more about the MOUs in the chapter “Forging Closer Collaboration for Consumer Protection” (p.96)

BRBREEFRAFREENAR  FRHBAFR "M S ERIEEESES (96 H) —H

Fig.1 Complaint Trends in the Past 3 Years
1 8% 3 FRENRGRET

Year FE15 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25
Total number of complaints ¥R {EZEHEE) 31,996 35,5628 39,679
YoY changes 7 £4E] = +11% +12%

Fig.2 Top 10 Consumer Complaints by Industry in 2024-25
2 2024-25 FEH 100K EERIFAIT

2024-25 2023-24 % change
Recreation & Health Clubs 4,968
b 3 +937%
prpe 479 93 | ==
Food & Entertainment Services 4,762 -16%
BEER R 5,648
Travel Matters 3,100 o
REEH 2,673 +16%
Telecommunication Services 3,064 5%
BEENARFE 3,222 o
Beauty Services 2,672 o
LEHH 1,758 +o2%
Electrical Appliances 2,389 +2%
ERFm 2,336 &
Clothing & Apparel 1,718 1%
& 1,730 P
Medicine & Chinese Herbal Medicine 1,419 +8%
EYR PEE 1,312 °
Personal Care Products 1,359 2%
BAEEES 1,393 °
Foods & Drinks 1,128

EREERS 1,267 -11%




Resolving Disputes Between Consumers and Businesses

ARfEHEE BT EE 2R 0

Fig.3 Nature of Consumer Complaints in 2024-25
3 2024-25 FEz#RI4E

797 Free Gifts / Discounted Goods
BaikiX / s
909 Suspected Spurious Goods

HEBEER
Shop Closure 6296 / Repai TM int Servi
G ’ epair / Maintenance Services
FRES N 1,469 iz ) gz

Sales Practices

./7 2,328 EmFE

6%

o 4,2.'2 Quality of Goods

Quality of Services N\ 1% HRER
mams 2708 0 39,679
Total Cases
(EEF k= 12%
° — 4912 Late / Non-delivery / Loss
! IEHR /8 BRE /ER
14%

Variation / Termination of
Contract 5,541 ———

Bl / #LEEH
1,990 Others Efih

Price / Charges Dispute
i/ ez >-317

Fig.4 Resolution Rate of Cases with Pursuable Grounds in 2024-25
4 2024-25 FEBEHIHE

Total number of cases received

$a SR aaEy 39,679

Number of cases with pursuable grounds* 18.097 -

T IRERO AR A ¢ ’ 6 3%
Resoluti te®

Number of cases in progress 4477 es%{; ;;J%:

HIERRE FRIEE ’ ’
Number of cases resolved
SR REE SR

4. Anonymous complaints, cases with insufficient information, and complaints outside the Council's terms of reference are in general non-pursuable.
EARK - ARENARREARS TFSEELSMIRT - E—RIER N RREERENZEA
5. Resolution rate refers to the percentage of resolved cases out of the number of completed pursuable cases.

MAERNRRIEREY DRI EERFRRENERRRERNE DL -
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Top 5 Complaint Categories
1. Recreation & Health Clubs

The closure of Physical Fitness significantly impacted the “Recreation & Health

Clubs” category, which recorded a total of 4,968 cases, a 937% YoY increase.
Most of these complaints were associated with shop closures (4,532 cases,
accounting for 91% of the overall complaints), followed by disputes regarding
“Variation / Termination of Contract” with 176 cases. Excluding complaints
related to Physical Fitness which accounted for the lion’s share, this category
would have recorded 517 cases (+8% YoY) and fallen outside the top 5.

2. Food & Entertainment Services

"Food & Entertainment Services” racked up 4,762 complaint cases in the
reporting year, making it the second highest category in 2024-25 despite
a 16% reduction YoY. Complaints concerning food delivery platforms and
restaurants remained significant, representing 30% (1,445 cases) and 27%
(1,288 cases) of this category’s complaints respectively, while 17% were
related to public performance (808 cases) as the city heavily promoted the
mega event economy over the past year. The most common dispute types
in this category were “Quality of Services” (29%, 1,367 cases) and “Price /
Charges Dispute” (20%, 930 cases).

3. Travel Matters

In 2024-25, the number of complaints regarding “Travel Matters” (3,100
cases) experienced an increase of 16% and maintained its position at third
place as the previous year. Complaints related to air tickets (1,508 cases) and
airline services (480 cases) represented 64% of all travel-related grievances,
while “Hotel Booking” was also identified as one of the top 3 concerns with
400 cases recorded. As regards the complaint nature within this category, the
3 most prevalent were “Variation / Termination of Contract” (34%, 1,061
cases), “Quality of Services” (21%, 648 cases), and “Price / Charges Dispute”
(20%, 634 cases).

4. Telecommunication Services

Complaints concerning “Telecommunication Services” slipped from second
place last year to fourth place, with 3,064 cases reported in 2024-25,
reflecting a 5% YoY decline. Conversely, the total amount involved rose by
219% YoY, primarily driven by an increase in the average amount per case for
Internet services (+32%) and mobile phone services (+40%). Disputes related
to internet services represented 29% of the cases in this category, followed by
mobile phone services at 24% and mobile data services at 17%. The majority
of disputes were centered around “Price / Charges Dispute” (36%, 1,095
cases), followed by “Variation / Termination of Contract” (27%, 838 cases)
and "Quality of Services” (22%, 685 cases) respectively.

5. Beauty Services

The Council received a total of 2,672 complaints regarding “Beauty Services”
during the year, marking a 52% YoY increase, maintaining its rank in fifth
place. If complaints related to the Physical Fitness incident were excluded, the
“Beauty Services” category recorded 1,474 cases, decreasing 16% YoY, thus
falling out of the top 5. A notable surge in beauty complaints was contributed
by “General Skin Care Services” (1,014 cases, +166%) and “Laser / IPL
Beauty Services (454 cases, +79%). More than half of the complaints (52%) in
this category can be attributed to shop closure (1,391 cases), while 15% and
13% were about the quality and sales practices of beauty services respectively.
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i ) As part of its ongoing research and testing programme, the Council monitors a vast range of

' - products each year, evaluating their essential product features including safety, performance, ease

‘\' of use, durability and environmental sustainability, serving as reliable reference for consumers. From

: the first-ever product test on cooking oil published in CHOICE's debut issue in 1976, to emerging

products in recent years, the Council chooses research topics with careful consideration of the most
pressing concerns of each generation of consumers.

Prevention is always better than cure. The Council continued to dedicate substantial resources to the
testing, survey and research of products in the market with a threefold goal — to help consumers
identify safe and cost-effective goods; to drive the industry to improve their product design and
quality control; and to accumulate data and information for advocacy on effective regulations.
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Product Research and Test Reports EmMREAGRSRES

The products studied ranged from popular foodstuffs and household goods, to FAMREENERBEEZZ  “ERNR®
cosmetic and personal care products, clothing and apparel, children’s products, MREAR MRS NEAZEER - kRE
pet products, electrical appliances and consumer electronics. Apart from REER - EVER EHRNETFTERARE -
recurring product tests to monitor improvements in performance and quality RY ZEREMBOETHEDAR  DER
over the years, some product tests were introduced for the first time during this ERBEEMRBER SR FRTAEHE
reporting year in response to rising consumer BERRAFLEERETYEXN
demand, including beer, bladeless fans, wireless = OBEEE BERR - &
mice, wheat flour; desk mats, etc. The findings Tests BBE - NEH ZBE -
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alerted consumers to immediate or potential
product hazards and offered objective

- o i 4 o B SRS o
guidance to making informed choices. Product reports migE B HEER
published in CHOICE®
Products found to be non-compliant with BERER GEIE) 2% © Covering FERRBERREFTEAKX

i RS / AR -
889 Models A RBHERES
RER IR AR R

Hong Kong regulations or international/
regional standards were immediately referred
to relevant regulatory authorities for follow-

up, while the concerned manufacturers, agents 5 5 E"E‘;ds 7~ RE AR E Y
and service providers were called upon to rectify the faults and improve the - EHER NEEREERNIE
quality and standards of their products. Over the years, such market monitoring FrERKE ZERK  EE
mechanisms have proven to be effective in facilitating law enforcement and MBEREEIERmBRIE  WEHERAE
driving different businesses to ensure value creation in their product offerings. REIEIEE -

6. See Appendix 2 for the lists of product testing and market survey reports published in 2024-25.
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Product Tests and Surveys

The Council conducts product tests by engaging internationally recognised
laboratories or universities and also through collaboration with Government

departments. As an active member of International Consumer Research &
Testing (ICRT), which is an international consortium of more than 30 consumer
organisations, the Council benefits from the experience of the other markets by
accessing ICRT's product tests and valuable resources.

Food & Beverage
Beer

In its 50th anniversary special commemorative edition of CHOICE in April
2024 (Issue 570), the Council published its first-ever test on beer; one of the
most popular alcoholic beverages for social gatherings and celebrations. The test
on 30 prepackaged canned/bottled beers revealed that the energy intake from
1 can/bottle of beer could exceed 200kcal, almost equivalent to that of a bowl
of rice, and drinking 2 cans a day for 3 months might lead to a 5-pound fat gain.

Even when not drinking vast amounts, a higher alcoholic content still results in
a higher calorie intake. However, consumers may not be able to identify less
calorific products simply based on the labelled alcohol by volume (ABV), as 6
samples had considerable discrepancy between the labelled ABV and test results,
among which 4 samples’ measured values were higher than the labelled value by
0.5% or more.

All samples were detected with different types and levels of biogenic amines,
which are by-products of the alcohol fermentation process and excessive intake
of which could cause dizziness and vomiting. On the other hand, 1 sample
was detected with deoxynivalenol (DON), a mycotoxin resulting from mould-
contaminated barley. Excessive intake of DON, also known as “Vomitoxin”, may
cause nausea, vomiting, diarrhoea, and
abdominal pain. Apart from paying
attention to the calories of alcoholic
beverages and risks in weight gain,
consumers should also be aware
that alcohol has been classified as
carcinogenic to humans (Group 1
carcinogen) by the International Agency
for Research on Cancer (IARC).
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Children's Products
Desk Mats

As a number of desk mats in the Mainland and overseas were found with
excessive levels of plasticisers in recent years, the Council tested 15 models of
desk mats with different functions, including cutting mats, writing mats, drawing
mats, and a general desk mat.

7 models were detected with total levels of 4 phthalate plasticisers (DEHP, DBP,
BBP and DIBP) that exceeded the 0.1% concentration limit stipulated in the
Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals (REACH)
Regulation of the European Union (EU), with the highest model at 222 times
of the limit. According to the European Chemicals Agency (ECHA), these 4
phthalates are classified as reproductive toxicity category 1B substances, which
may adversely affect fertility or development. The test also covered 3 other
plasticisers, namely DINP, DIDP and DNOP which may harm the livers of young
children, and DINP was found in 9 models.

The Council reminded consumers to refrain from using desk mats as placemats
for eating, and children should clean their hands after touching desk mats to
avoid oral intake of harmful substances. Manufacturers were recommended to
review their products’ raw materials and avoid using those that pose health risks.

Babywear

To ensure the comfort and safety of clothing for little
ones, in addition to stringent selection of fabrics, design
and workmanship should not be overlooked. In the
Council's test on 30 models of babywear, the snaps
or buttons of 11 models detached during tension
tests, which might lead to suffocation if swallowed by
babies. Meanwhile, the cord design of 5 models did not
comply with the European Standard, posing strangulation risks.

Chemical additives might be used in garment production
for colour vibrance, or for providing resistance against stains, “&, d]
water or wrinkles. However, harmful chemical residues or

releases from the additives might cause allergic reactions in
babies with delicate skin. The free formaldehyde level #

detected in 1T model exceeded the upper limit set

by the Mainland’s standard for textiles intended

for infants by over 50%, which might irritate the

wearer's skin and, in serious cases, lead to allergic

contact dermatitis. Furthermore, 1 model had a

pH value higher than the acceptable limit specified N | ]
in the Mainland standard, potentially causing itching and R
discomfort when worn. "

The Council reminded parents to wash newly purchased
clothes thoroughly before dressing their little ones, so

as to remove chemical substances as far as possible.
Manufacturers were urged to ensure compliance » |
of their products with relevant safety standards to /

enhance the protection of babies.
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Cosmetic and Personal Care Products
Mosquito Repellents

While enjoying the great outdoors especially during summer; it is crucial to take
adequate precautions against pesky mosquitoes which could transmit various
mosquito-borne diseases. However, the Council's test of 25 mosquito repellents
revealed that some “natural” or “herbal” products were not so effective.

The test was conducted in Australia using the “arm-in-cage” laboratory method
to test mosquito repellent efficacy on real people against southern house
mosquitoes and yellow fever mosquitoes.

For the 9 models labelled as containing DEET or picaridin, overall mosquito
repellent efficacy was high. Models labelled with IR3535, PMD, cedar oil, and wild
tomato extract showed generally good repellent efficacy against southern house
mosquitoes, yet their efficacy against yellow fever mosquitoes varied greatly and
most models dropped quickly over 4 hours of testing time.

As for models labelled with other botanical ingredients, such as citronella oil,
lemongrass oil, soybean oil, and lemon eucalyptus oil, efficacy was satisfactory
against southern house mosquitoes but was inadequate against yellow fever
mosquitoes.

The labelling of some models was found to be unsatisfactory. 1 model had a
different ingredient list on the bottle than the one on the box, while some did
not provide a detailed list of ingredients other than the active ingredient. The
Council anticipates authorities to impose appropriate regulations on mosquito
repellent products directly applied to the human body, including the active
ingredients, concentration, labelling, performance claims, suitable user groups and
age, etc. to safeguard consumer safety.

Hair Styling Products

Many people would have a few hair styling products at home to style their
locks for different occasions. The Council tested 50 hair styling products on the
market in accordance with requirements of the Mainland's “Safety and Technical
Standards for Cosmetics” (STSC), the EU's “Cosmetics Regulation” and Hong
Kong's “Air Pollution Control (Volatile Organic Compounds) Regulation”.
Harmful substances were detected in over 90% of the tested models, with
the concentration of some exceeding limits stipulated by the aforementioned
regulations.

4 models (3 hair waxes and 1 hair clay) contained the fragrance allergen
BMHCA, which has been banned in the EU due to its reproductive toxicity; 3
hair wax models contained the EU-banned preservative MIT; the concentration
of the preservative paraben in 1 hair wax exceeded the limit of both the
Mainland and EU regulations; and the volatile organic compounds concentration
of 1 hair styling spray was found to have exceeded Hong Kong's regulatory limit.
Several models also contained fragrance allergens such as linalool and limonene
over EU's trigger limit for mandatory labelling of such ingredients but were not
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labelled on the packaging.
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Anti-dandruff Shampoo

Dandruff problems could cause distress and embarrassment, thus many
consumers turn to anti-dandruff shampoo in hopes of easing the symptoms.
For anti-dandruff shampoos to achieve the desired performance, the active
ingredients must reach a certain concentration, yet such ingredients also carry
different health risks.

In the Council's test on 25 models of anti-dandruff shampoo, 4 were detected
with zinc pyrithione (ZPT), an anti-dandruff ingredient with antibacterial
properties. While ZPT has been prohibited by the EU's Cosmetics Regulation,
it is permitted by the United States Food and Drug Administration (US FDA)
for use as an active ingredient in overthe-counter (OTC) drug products, and
the ZPT levels found in the Council’s tested models also complied with the
requirements of the Mainland’'s STSC. However, animal studies

have shown that ZPT is potentially harmful to foetuses, while
other studies have also shown that it could cause allergic contact
dermatitis, as well as irritation if it gets into the eyes.

10 models were detected with another active ingredient
salicylic acid, one of which had a concentration as
high as 1.9%, which may be categorised as an
OTC drug if sold in the US, yet most of
the models with salicylic acid as a labelled
ingredient did not carry the warning
label “not to be used for children under
3 years of age” in accordance with EU
requirements.

Electrical Appliances
Cooker Hoods

Most hob-cooking methods inevitably release a lot of steam and grease, so an
effective cooker hood is necessary for maintaining the air quality in the kitchen.
The Council tested 14 cooker hoods in telescopic style and chimney style. 9
models had strong grease extraction performance, of which 2 telescopic-style
models performed the best. As for extracting cooking steam, chimney-style
models generally performed better than telescopic-style models.

In providing information for consumers’ reference, manufacturers would often
give information on exhaust airflow rate, and some manufacturers might also
indicate the fan rotation speed. However, as manufacturers might use different
standards or units for measuring the exhaust airflow rates of their products,
consumers were advised not to compare products purely based on their claimed
exhaust airflow rate.

To enable consumers to make clearer
comparisons, the Council proposed
that in the long run, the industry could
explore the feasibility of standardising the
performance measurement standards and
units. In the interim, product information
including measurement standards should
be clearly provided on the product
website or promotional leaflets.
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Bladeless Fans

The Council tested 11 models of bladeless fans with heater function, which have
become increasingly popular
given the short winters and
smaller living spaces in Hong
Kong.

Consumers in Hong Kong
are likely to use the cooling
mode more often since most
days are warm and hot. The
airflow rate, which affects the
“cool and dry” sensation, was
found to differ by as much as
3.8 times among models while
the energy efficiencies of the
cooling mode also varied by
over 3.5-fold.

On cold days, consumers
would expect to be able to
raise the indoor temperatures quickly using a bladeless fan, yet the heat-up time
of the various models ranged from 1.8 minutes to 6.8 minutes, a difference of
about 2.8 times, of which 2 models took more than 6 minutes to heat up to
90% of the maximum temperature from room temperature.

It is common perception that using the heating mode of bladeless fans could
save more electricity than reverse cycle air conditioners (RCACs), but in fact
the energy efficiency of RCACs’ heating mode is higher than that of bladeless
fans. Therefore, for the same heating capacity, using RCACs for heating would be
more friendly for the electricity bill than bladeless fans.

Televisions

TVs are an essential home appliance for nearly every family. In addition to
providing family-friendly entertainment through traditional broadcasting, modern
TV sets have evolved into smart systems that combine various functions such as
Internet access and video streaming.

The Council conducted its first test on 9 models of 55-inch Ultra HD (4K)
smart TVs, covering the technical performance and an expert panel review. The
results revealed that models in the higher-priced OLED category had higher
overall rating for picture quality, with 2 models receiving 4.5 points. However, the
expert panel found that the 3 types of screens among the tested models did not
vary greatly in picture quality for digital TV broadcast viewing, suggesting that the
lower-priced LED or mid-priced QD/Mini LED categories would be sufficient
to satisfy the needs of general users, whereas OLED TV sets would be more
suitable for those pursuing better picture quality.
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The performance in smart TV functions varied drastically. T model had
outstanding performance across various aspects including the system interface,
user registration and login, and app store, yet performed poorly for elderly-
friendly accessibility features. Regarding cybersecurity, only 1 model performed
satisfactorily. The Council reminded consumers to treat smart TVs like other
smart devices such as smart phones or computers, with due consideration given
to cybersecurity while using to mitigate risks of personal data leaks.

Household Products
Wet Toilet Paper

Flushable wet toilet paper has gained popularity among consumers as a comfort-
meets-convenience alternative to traditional toilet rolls. Not only is it more gentle
for cleaning intimate areas, but it can also be used for cleaning other body parts,
and flushed directly down the toilet. The Council partnered with the Guangzhou
Consumers Commission and the Macao SAR Government Consumer Council
for the first time to conduct a joint test on 22 models of wet toilet paper,
focusing on the quality and hygiene.

According to the results, all models were satisfactory in hygiene condition and
quality performance, and the bacterial count still complied with the relevant
standard 2 weeks after opening. However, the model with the highest strength
failed to comply with the Mainland standard for disintegration performance,
posing potential risks of clogging toilets and drainpipes.

The Council reminded consumers that some materials of wet toilet paper
contain synthetic fibres, which are not biodegradable and may turn into
microplastics that pollute the marine ecosystem, thus such products should be
used prudently to reduce both the costs and impact on the environment.
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Mattresses

Understanding the importance of a suitable mattress for enhancing sleep quality
and promoting spinal health, the Council tested 14 models of double mattresses
on their body support performance, comfort and durability.

8 spring mattresses and 2 foam mattresses provided good support for back
sleepers, yet in the side sleeping test, only 3 spring models and 2 foam models
performed well while most of the rest were less than satisfactory, with some
models unable to keep the spine parallel to the mattress surface. Mattresses that
do not evenly support different parts of the body could lead to concentrated
pressure in certain areas, causing discomfort and pain. 3 models (2 springs and 1
foam) showed uneven pressure distribution.

When sharing a bed with a partner, the mattress's vibration absorption is crucial
for preventing disturbance during slumber. 1 model showed less stability in
motion isolation. In the durability test, after being subjected to a roller for 30,000
repetitions, all models showed no signs of wear and tear on the mattress material
or inside springs or foam, indicating reasonable durability.

The Council reminded consumers to choose a mattress according to the body
shapes, sleeping habits and posture of themselves and their partner; conduct
sleep trials and comparisons, rather than simply gauging mattress firmness by
pressing the surface with their hands or sitting on the edge of the bed.
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Pet Products
Pet Treats

Rewarding treats to pets could strengthen the bond between pets and their
owners. The Council tested 30 pet treats for cats and dogs, including 27
prepackaged and 3 non-prepackaged models. All models stated that they could
be fed to pets directly, with labelled claims of “freeze dried”, “dehydrated”, “raw”
or “all natural”.

While all models were not found with Listeria monocytogenes or Escherichia
coli ©O157,1 duck heart treat and 1 pig ear treat were detected with Salmonella,
non-compliant with the requirements set out by the Mainland and United
States. Pets can get sick after consuming Sa/monella-contaminated food and
may pass the bacteria on to their owners. The US. Centers for Disease Control
and Prevention (CDC) and Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC) do not
recommend feeding raw pet food or treats to pets, because they have not been
treated with high temperatures or undergone other sterilisation processes,
resulting in higher risks of contamination with pathogens.
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Households with pregnant women, infants, young children, elderly and people
with impaired immune systems should think twice before choosing a raw diet
for their pets. When purchasing non-prepackaged pet treats, consumers should
consult staff for expiry date information, store them in an airtight container and
label the purchase date for record.

International Comparative Tests

During the year under review, the Council has maintained close
collaboration with ICRT and joined forces with consumer associations
in other jurisdictions to conduct international comparative tests on the
following types of products and to advise consumers on selection tips,
especially for expensive or durable products:

* Audio-visual and optical products, including TVs, video projectors, speakers,
earphones and interchangeable lens camera kits;

* Computer and telecommunications products, comprising internet security
software, virtual private networks (VPN) services, smartphones, tablet PCs,
eBook readers, routers and wireless mice;

* Household products, including mattresses and electric irons; and

*  Automobile products, including electric, hybrid and petrol cars.

Where Have All the Tested Products Gone?

The products used for testing by the Council were put to further use if
deemed appropriate, with a number of items donated to environmental
protection organisations, charity groups and non-profit organisations
for further consumption. During the year, a total of 321 items, including
electrical appliances, household products, cosmetics, infant products as
well as food, were donated to 2 recipient organisations.

Recipient organisations: Seeds of Art Charity Foundation Co. Ltd. and
Chinese Young Men's Christian Association of Hong Kong (Chinese
YMCA of Hong Kong) —YM HAIR
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PROMOTING SUSTAINABLE *

CONSUMPTION

MEAFFEHRR

As a series of waste reduction policies clicked into motion during the reporting year, the city has
been abuzz with dialogue and actions in response to the eco-friendly initiatives that have become
a part of daily life. Faced with the intensified impact of global warming and climate change, it is
crucial for the public to step up sustainability efforts together to ensure that the welfare of the
earth and current generation, as well as future generations' needs are not compromised. Over
the years, the Council has spared no effort in promoting sustainable consumption by adopting a
four-pronged approach to educate, facilitate and encourage the public to make more sustainable
consumption choices, putting great effort into supporting the Government's green initiatives to
build Hong Kong into a more liveable city. Such efforts also echo Consumers International’s call
for “A Just Transition to Sustainable Lifestyles” for World Consumer Rights Day 2025.

BE—F  —RIAUBRBEBREEER - 2 T FERRSLRTE - SEHTHS
RREFESMABBEEER - BB MEMN2RE(CMREECNER  RRVEAE
FHBARFERE  BREIK  BOER DLET-RNEUARTE - 28K A& —
EARNERNMESFIEEE  ZBNEETNAN  BEHE - RENSBARELA
FERHEERE 2O NEGBUTESNRRER  RETEBEXREERENNT - &
ETHEFEFERBEEEEHSEST 'EEEEERRH 2025, SRAMNERE TAF
BAEARHEEEN e

The Council’s 4-pronged strategy
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> Product testing, research and surveys embedded with > REMAR - RENPEPMARFEERE

sustainability elements and published in CHOICE Magazine MR WHEERTIER CEE) AT

> Periodic surveys to study consumer behaviours on > FHIRREMEEE I REEEITR
sustainable consumption

» Consumer education programmes to cultivate > BICHBENEIE  BEAREAFEHE
consumer awareness BNEE

» Advocacy via Government and industry consultations on > [EIEBUT NMERER - BERRRERNBER
sustainability regulations and policies
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Product Comparative Tests on Appliances and
Emerging Consumer Goods

The Council continues to place emphasis on sustainability elements in its product
comparative tests, the results of which serve as important indicators for selecting
more eco-friendly and sustainable goods that benefit both the environment and
consumers’ pockets.

Since the launch of the Government's first registration tax concession under
the “One-for-One Replacement” Scheme, which promotes the transition from
petrol vehicles to electric vehicles (EVs), the number of registered EVs in Hong
Kong had reached around 17% of all registered private cars (PCs), accounting
for 70% of newly registered PCs as of November 2024. In view of the surging
demand, the Council published a joint test with International Consumer
Research & Testing (ICRT) on EVs during the year for consumer reference.

Meanwhile, the Council recommended the Electrical and Mechanical Services
Department (EMSD) to disclose information on whether High Efficiency
Particulate Air (HEPA) filters were installed when dehumidifiers
were tested for energy efficiency under the Mandatory
Energy Efficiency Labelling Scheme (MEELS), so as to assist
consumers in comparing products and making informed

choices.

43.87%

tumblers and travel mugs to offer timely reference . .

In addition, a number of comparative tests were conducted
on emerging products such as in-wash scent boosters,

and useful tips for consumers to support sustainable
consumption.

Electric Vehicles

The Council published in CHOICE Magazine a test report by ICRT on 19 EV
models of 5 car categories reportedly manufactured in Europe, US, the Mainland,
and other Asian regions, with claimed maximum power outputs ranging from
118 to 544 horsepower (PS). Although the specifications of vehicles tested
might not be identical to those available in Hong Kong, the test results could
serve as useful reference.

The test revealed that the average energy consumption of different EV models
within the same car category could vary considerably due to factors such as the
design, materials, and weight of the vehicle. For instance, in the “large family cars”
category, the average energy consumption showed a difference of up to 25%;
while the difference was over 129 among the “small family cars” tested.

This discrepancy could result in more than double the difference in the projected
driving range. The test also revealed that a higher battery capacity does not
necessarily correlate with a longer driving range. Consumers

were reminded that driving habits could affect the actual

driving range, for instance frequent
and rapid acceleration might increase
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Meanwhile, the energy consumption level of EVs might not directly correspond
to their horsepower. 2 models with comparable energy consumption claimed
maximum power outputs of 514 and 218 PS respectively, a difference of over
1.3 times; for another 2 models which claimed the same maximum power
output of 204 PS, their exhibited average energy consumption level differed by
about 21%.

As the popularity of EVs grows, there is an increasing demand for charging
services while charging time is another factor affecting consumer choice. The test
compared the time required to charge the EV models from 10% to 80% using
fast chargers. The results varied considerably, with charging times ranging from 17
to 48 minutes.

Dehumidifiers

The Council and the EMSD jointly tested 14 dehumidifiers, including 8 models
which could be equipped with HEPA filters for air purification.

The dehumidifying performance tests were conducted under a standard test
environment (STE) and manufacturer’s test environment (MTE) respectively,
and with basic filters installed. Under the MTE, the measured daily dehumidifying
capacities of the models were around 56% to 82% higher than those measured
in the STE. As the MTE generally does not reflect real use circumstances,
manufacturers were once again urged to stop publicising claims based on tests
conducted in their own test environment.

As dehumidifiers usually operate for prolonged hours, their energy efficiency
(EE) is an important purchase consideration factor. The test revealed that the
EE vastly varied among models with similar dehumidifying capacities, with a
maximum difference of 50.2%. The model with the lowest EE was calculated to
be only Grade 2 based on its energy factor, yet the discrepancy was still within
the acceptable tolerance range under the MEELS.

For 2 models with satisfactory dehumidifying performance when HEPA filters
were not installed, their dehumidifying capacities dropped by 18.4% and 30.1%
respectively once HEPA filters were installed, while the dehumidifying EE also
decreased by 26.29% and 40.7% respectively. Based on this result, the Council
advocated for disclosure by the EMSD on whether products were installed with
HEPA filters (if any) when the energy efficiency tests were conducted, to facilitate
better comparison and more informed choices.
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In-wash Scent Boosters

To avoid musty-smelling garments especially in Hong Kong's humid climate,
some consumers use in-wash scent boosters when doing laundry. However, the
Council's test on 12 in-wash scent boosters found all to contain varying types
and concentrations of fragrance allergens. 4 models were even detected with
galaxolide (HHCB), a synthetic musk compound that is not readily biodegradable,
potentially impacting marine ecosystems in the long term.

The Council considers in-wash scent boosters as unnecessary add-ons for
laundry as the contained fragrances have no effect on cleaning, while the cost
per wash could reach a maximum of HK$21 based on the recommended usage.
In addition, frequent exposure to fragrance allergens may increase the risk of
developing allergic reactions. As such, consumers were reminded to consider the
necessity before purchase, especially if they or their family members are prone
to skin or respiratory allergies.

Manufacturers were urged to be mindful of fragrance allergens and musk
compounds in their products, review formulations and minimise the
concentration of those substances or ingredients as far as possible, in order
to minimise the impact on users and the ecosystem. Meanwhile, they should
improve labelling by listing key ingredients (including fragrance allergens) and the
usage amount, and offer refill packs to reduce plastic waste.

Tumblers and Travel Mugs

Reusable travel mugs are an eco-friendly replacement for disposable cups when
buying drinks to go. The Council tested 18 tumblers and travel mugs to assess
their thermal insulation efficacy, anti-leakage and stability performance.

The thermal insulation efficacy of the models differed greatly. The models
were filled with hot water of not less than 95°C , and the water temperature
dropped to 26.3°C to 63.8 “C after 6 hours in the test environment. More
than 60% (12 models) exhibited no leakage which indicated satisfactory leak-
proof performance. 1 model tipped over when placed on a 10° inclined
surface, whether it was empty or filled with water, failing to comply with
the relevant European standard. Manufacturers were urged to improve the
product design, safety and leak-proof performance, to reduce the risk of
overbalancing and causing burn injuries.

Meanwhile, triallists found that only 3 models with straws allowed smooth
drinking of beverages with common toppings in Taiwanese-style drinks, while
the straws of the 4 other models were clogged by such toppings. The straw’s
inner diameter, length and restricted movements appeared to affect the drinking
experience.

Consumers who wish to purchase tumblers for
hand-shaken drinks should visit physical stores

to examine the product’s design, size of the
drinking straw and the swivel range, etc. If
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Surveys and Studies on Environmental Initiatives
and Services

While many consumers have started adopting sustainable lifestyle habits, such
as bringing their own tumblers and containers for takeout drinks and meals, or
buying non-prepackaged goods in bulk, their effort can only truly be actualised
with the support and complementary action of traders. To study the ease and
convenience for practising sustainable consumption, the Council conducted
trials at restaurants and beverage shops to assess the acceptance of bringing
containers for buying food and beverages, and studied the benefits of “shopping
naked” and buying refills.

Bring-your-own-container (BYOC) Trials at Restaurants
To promote a “disposable free” culture, the Environmental Protection
Department (EPD) launched the “Bring Your Own Containers (BYOC)
Eateries Scheme” in 2023, and many consumers have started the
good habit of BYOC for takeaways. To understand the acceptance
of BYOC by eateries and whether the process is smooth and .
convenient for consumers, the Council conducted 45 trial visits
at 15 eateries, including 5 participants of the said Scheme.

The trial visits were conducted during peak lunch hours between
Mondays to Fridays, with 31 successful attempts (69%) for using self-brought
containers. The relevant satisfaction rate on food presentation, portion size,
temperature, and tidiness of the food containers was nearly 95%.

Of the 14 unsuccessful attempts, not only were the BYOC requests
by consumers refused, only 30% triallists were satisfied with their
experience. Some eateries did not provide clear indication on the
acceptance of BYOC; 1 eatery, despite providing the option of BYOC on
its official online ordering platform, had already packed the food in takeaway
boxes when the triallist arrived with the self-brought container at the pick-up
counter, and the staff explained afterwards that they in fact did not accept BYOC.

Moreover, none of the surveyed eateries offered instant discounts to encourage
BYOC. The Council opined that to expedite the “container free”
practice city-wide, proactive and flexible co-operation by
eateries is crucial. The Council hopes that the Government
and the industry can work together to develop and
promote reusable container lending services, to reduce the
public's reliance on disposable containers and cut plastic
use at its source.

Bring-your-own-cup Trials at Beverage Shops

After the bring-your-own-container trials at restaurants, the Council conducted
another mystery survey at 20 beverage chains selling craft coffee or hand-shaken
beverages, with trials at 3 separate branches per chain, i.e. 60 trials in total.

All 20 beverage chains accepted consumers using self-brought cups to purchase
drinks, yet some traders still used disposable cups in the process of making the
drinks, due to incomplete or vague information provided to consumers before
purchase resulting in the self-brought cups not being able to be used. In addition,
at a large-scale fast food chain that sold in-store made coffee, the triallists had
on 3 trials at different branches informed the shop staff at the time of purchase
that they would use a self-brought cup, yet the staff at all 3 shops used take-
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out paper cups to prepare the drinks before pouring the contents into the self-
brought cups, failing to truly eliminate disposables, to the deep disappointment of
the Council. The mystery trials also revealed that, occasionally, frontline staff were
not properly trained regarding the BYOC discounts of their own shops.

The Council was pleased to see more beverage chain stores offering discounts
for consumers bringing their own cups, with more than half of the surveyed
chains offering discounts of HK$1 to HK$5 per cup or an across-the-board
10% discount. Yet, the Council opined that traders should strengthen their
publicity and ensure frontline staff clearly understand the related discounts
and implementation details, to encourage consumers to support a disposable-
free culture.

“Naked Shopping” and Refill Products

The Council compared prices between the original packaging and refills of 125
items of personal and household necessities from 3 supermarket chains and
found that 74% (92 items) of refills were cheaper than in their original packaging,
with a maximum disparity of over 30%, indicating that buying refills could
definitely save money for consumers. However; unit prices of refills of 32 items
(26%) were higher than that of the original packaging due to special discounts
applied to the latter:

The study also sampled 16 personal care and household products in their
original and refill packaging, and compared their relative environmental
friendliness by examining labels and information provided by manufacturers, as
well as the type of packaging materials, package-to-product ratio, etc.

Although packaging weight and transportation space of refills were generally
lower, some refill packages used composite materials such as aluminium foil
pouches, which require high temperatures to gasify or melt the aluminium in
the manufacturing process, resulting in a higher carbon footprint than ordinary
plastics. Since there was no reliable and sustainable recycling facility of aluminium
foil pouches in Hong Kong, consumers should be mindful when purchasing
products with such packaging material.

The study also looked into emerging “shopping naked” services, where
consumers bring their own containers to buy goods without packaging or
in refillable form. It found that some packaging-free products were sold with
inadequate information on the ingredients and expiry date. Improvement is
needed for consumers to shop with confidence.

Overall, the Council is pleased to see a diverse variety of sustainable
consumption options and hopes that development of the refill and “shop naked”
markets could be sped up, while shops could provide more product information
and concessions to encourage consumers to buy eco-friendly personal and
household necessities.
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A Just Transition to Sustainable Lifestyles

In support of World Consumer Rights Day (WCRD) 2025 and its theme “A Jjust
Transition to Sustainable Lifestyles” advocated by Consumers International, the
Council published an article in the March 2025 issue (#581) of CHOICE Magazine
calling for consumers to transition to a more sustainable lifestyle through developing
environmentally friendly consumption and living habits. The article compiled 27 eco-
friendly everyday tips in 3 key areas — energy-saving practices, reducing the use of
plastics, and green procurement.

To further raise consumer awareness, especially among younger groups, the
Council also ran a series of giveaway quizzes on Instagram in March. The Council
also partnered with SME Sustainability Society, The Green Earth, and the Hong
Kong Council of Social Service who shared the CHOICE article and video on
their social media pages.

More on WCRD 2025 in the chapter “Forging Closer Collaboration for
Consumer Protection” (p.96).
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Advocating Environmental Consciousness via
Public Consultations

Code of Conduct for ESG Ratings and Data Products
Providers

The Council provided feedback on a voluntary code of conduct (Code) for ESG
Ratings and Data Products Providers (Providers) in response to a consultation
issued by the industry working group. The Council welcomed the development
of the Code to strengthen consumer trust in ESG ratings and data products and
reduce the risk of greenwashing.

To further ensure the quality of ESG ratings and data products, the Council
recommended that the Code should provide guidance on frequency and
conditions for monitoring, reviewing and updating ESG ratings; and require
Providers to produce ratings and data products based on internationally or locally
recognised standards, methodologies or frameworks, and indicate limitations of
the assessment process.

To alleviate potential conflicts of interest, the Council suggested requiring
those providing ESG ratings to refrain from providing consulting services for
undertakings, and setting requirements on Providers' fee models, such as avoiding
contingent fee arrangements for issuer-paid ratings. To improve disclosure and
transparency, more information on the data used in producing ESG ratings
and data products should be disclosed, such as their nature or how they were
sourced.

The Council also urged that communications from Providers towards the public
should be factually grounded, comprehensive, clear; and easy to understand. This
would help the public better understand ESG ratings and data products and
avoid risks of misrepresentation or exaggeration in marketing and advertising.

The Council will keep an eye on the Code’s operation, so that consumers can
confidently use ESG ratings and data products to inform their decisions to invest
in a more sustainable future.

Public Education on Sustainable Consumption

The Council has been committed to promoting consumer awareness of and
knowledge in sustainable consumption (SC) through public education to a
variety of audiences, including “Earth 2038's Learning Journey of Sustainable
Consumption” for primary school students, the “Smart Consumption Academy”
for secondary school students, and the “Educator Scheme for Senior Citizens”
for the elderly, which all incorporated elements of SC into programme design
and training materials. In addition, a number of community talks and workshops
covering topics on SC were conducted to inculcate positive consumption values
for the general public and encourage adoption of a sustainable lifestyle.

Details of the programmes are covered in the chapter “Empowering Consumers
Through Education” (p.89).
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COLLECTING MARKET INFORMATION
ON GOODS AND SERVICES

5 5K HE mHBRF: =R 5 E

Market surveillance remains a cornerstone of the Council’s efforts to protect consumer interests.
This initiative focuses on gathering timely data on the ever-expanding range of goods and services
available in both physical and digital marketplaces. By analysing this information, the Council
empowers consumers to make informed choices through clear pricing and value comparisons.

The findings from these surveys also guide advocacy efforts, promoting effective measures at both
industry and regulatory levels to enhance consumer protection. Over the past year, continuous
monitoring of grocery and daily necessity prices ensured up-to-date insights, while special surveys
targeted widely used or emerging products and services. These initiatives provide the public with
transparent and reliable information, supporting consumer empowerment and informed decision-
making.
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Amid an ever-evolving dynamic consumer landscape, the Council remained HEAEHEBCIEERE  ARFREBEE
steadfast in its commitment to safeguarding consumer interests and promoting ERR RMEEMSERENARE  FRREME
transparency in market practices by expanding market surveillance” and research EBHBERIMIERIE BEFHHEARRE
initiatives during the year. Addressing the diverse needs and preferences of BENARTRESY L TN EEET
different consumer groups, the Council conducted studies on a wide range of W BEEHhRERESBBLEETFE MU
topics, including grocery price trends and practices, and essential services for ERARELEFEZNEERE - RGN
enhancing elderly consumers’ quality of life. The Council also analysed emerging TERBFENEBTE  BFINEERERE
digital tools such as spam call blocker applications and e-gift cards to strengthen ANEFER T BARREITEERNBA
consumer awareness and protection in the online marketplace. Moreover, [B EE IR N385 B B TR B T AR [E - thoh 0 A&
in response to the launch of the Northbound Travel for Hong Kong Vehicles e THEEI L FHEIREL  ASTRMEER
scheme, the Council conducted a thorough analysis of Unilateral Recognition ARBEREEMETRADN - DEHGEEETS
Products for cross-boundary motor insurance to assess their market impact. MR E -

7. See Appendix 3 for the list of service survey reports published in 2024-25
MR =351 2024-25 FEBRRNRBATRE -
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* Collecting Market Information on Goods and Services
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Grocery Price
Annual Supermarket Price Survey

In 2023, Hong Kong saw a post-pandemic recovery as global logistics services
normalised and the panic buying of earlier years subsided. According to the
Council's annual supermarket price survey 2023 published in the year under
review, the aggregate average price (in short, “price”) of a basket of 300
supermarket items, based on electronic scanner data from 3 major supermarket
chains, increased by 1.9% versus 2022. Notably, prices for 5 product categories
rose significantly (2.4% to 9.9%), alongside 24 product groups (2.4% to 23.7%),
both outpacing the 2.1% increase in the Composite Consumer Price Index for
the same period.

Although the overall price growth for supermarket goods slowed slightly from
the previous year, some product groups had notable increases, such as chocolate/
confectionery (+23.7%), biscuits (+11.7%), and eggs (+10.6%). The Council
advises consumers to compare prices across retailers and make good use of its
“Online Price Watch” supermarket price comparison tool for smarter shopping.
Committed to supporting the public, the Council continues to monitor daily
necessities to ensure informed choices.
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Online Price Watch HEEIR—Ea@

Daily prices of around 3,000 products from 7 online food stores, supermarkets AEERIET BN LLRRE - BhREEXE
and personal care stores were collected and listed on the Council's “Online Price SHIEUEEMN 3,000 HERAER - W EHMNA
Watch” (OPW) to facilitate price comparison for consumers. BN TRLEER BB, BN FEEEE
T&ME o
Catering to the increasing number of inbound visitors, a new “Tourist Top
Search” sub-page was added to the website, covering popular product categories ENBIREAR B RIGM » REEERT TIR
such as pain-relief and flu medicines, oral proprietary Chinese medicine, BEE B BERIRREINERES
ointments and medicinal oils, lozenges, chocolate and confectionery, etc. to assist Blan bR EZE S GRREE s ORPRE
visitors in comparing prices and making informed choices. With other features BE R BEE - R ORERS - B
including “Top Price Differences”, “Price Drop Products” and “My Favourite”, EfihDhaeEBE "RAEE . THREER.
OPW enabled consumers to compare prices of food and everyday necessities TRMNRE, £ HEEEEESEBHNELL
online anytime, anywhere. BeEm&kARSHERS -

Online Price Watch
HLEER—E&

75,202,910

desktop views since 2014 launch

MR 20714 FHEH LURRERIZERE

7,028,275

mobile views since 2019 launch L
FHRRE 2019 FHEHDURREEEIERE 2024 25 Unique Visitors
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Alteration of Net Weight of Grocery Products

In recent years, “shrinkflation” has become a common phenomenon in various
parts of the world including Hong Kong. It involves reducing the volume or
weight of foodstuff and daily necessities while the shelf price remains unchanged,
making it hard for consumers to notice the hidden price hike. The Council
selected products from OPW with volume or weight changes between January
2021 and July 2024, as shown on supermarket websites. Among the 62 items
with relevant changes, over 90% (58 products) had been downsized by 1.3%
to 30%, of which 25 products had been reduced by 10% or more. By product
category, the most common type of downsized goods was confectionery, biscuits
and snacks (24 items), decreasing by 2.3% to 17.5%.

Based on the recommended retail prices (RRP) of 39 products provided by
agents, the Council calculated the retail prices per 10g/ml/piece and found that
16 products recorded an actual price increase of 10% or more per unit, mostly
in the confectionery, biscuits and snacks category, and personal care products
category. The item with the highest increase was an orange biscuit bar, which saw
a 26.2% price rise per 10g compared with that before the weight change. The
Council reminds agents of their responsibility to clearly state volume or weight
changes of goods on the packaging or at the point of sale, so as to promote
product information transparency and protect consumers’ right to accurate
information.
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Digital Services
Spam Call Blocker Apps

Many might rely on mobile apps to minimise disturbances from unwanted calls.
The Council reviewed 5 spam call blocker apps more widely used in Hong Kong
and discovered questionable treatment of personal data in 2 of the apps, raising
privacy concerns.

The survey revealed that these 2 apps, after obtaining necessary access rights,
would upload users’ entire contact lists to the apps’ databases either automatically
or by user’s activation of the “Enhanced Search Functionality”. Personal information,
such as names, email addresses, and even home addresses, could then be disclosed
and become fully accessible by others.The Council’s user trials showed that
sensitive personal particulars could be retrieved from these databases, simply
by entering a phone number without consent from the affected individuals — a
practice almost impossible to guard against.

While all the apps surveyed allowed users to remove their numbers from
the databases, 1 of the abovementioned apps stipulated in its privacy
policy that users’ personal data and unlisted data would be retained for a
maximum of 5 years, after which the data might still be stored in the backup
system and not completely erased. Consumers should approach this app
with extra caution.

In order to avoid potential pitfalls and better safeguard consumer rights, the
Council advises consumers to read the terms of service and privacy policy
carefully, evaluate the reasonableness of requested permissions, and pay heed to
subscription renewals when choosing a suitable call blocker app.
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e-Gift Cards

As electronic gift cards have become increasingly popular and convenient in the
digital age, the Council examined the e-gift cards sold by 10 retailers in Hong
Kong and identified various discrepancies in their terms of use.

While it would be reassuring to confirm the receipt of the gift card, most
traders in the survey would not notify the sender when recipients had viewed
their cards. Afthough most e-gift cards were able to display the sender's name
and message, 1 trader failed to display such information, potentially leaving the
recipient unaware of the sender's identity.

Redemption policies also varied, as 4 traders lacked transparency in disclosing
the maximum number of cards usable per transaction, while 3 retailers required
account registration, which might cause inconvenience to consumers. Validity
periods differed significantly as well, ranging from as short as 1 year to no expiry
date. Unlike certain overseas jurisdictions with regulated cash redemption
options for gift cards, Hong Kong had no such legal framework at the time of
the study, meaning unspent balances were generally non-refundable.

Given that gift cards are a form of prepayment consumption and full
compensation would be unlikely in the event of business insolvency, consumers
were reminded to use them promptly and refrain from hoarding. Noting down
expiry dates and setting reminders were recommended as practical strategies
for managing and using e-gift cards effectively.

Elderly Services

The ageing population in Hong Kong, and indeed across the globe, has spiked
the demand for various elderly services. During the year, the Council identified
and studied such services including private residential care homes, home
rehabilitation and care, as well as powered wheelchair rental, to help the silver-
haired community and their families make informed choices.

Home Rehabilitation and Care Services

The Council's survey on 15 companies/organisations offering physiotherapy,
private nursing, and home care services revealed significant disparities in basic
charges, with speech therapy fees varying by up to 1.8 times (based on a
50-minute session) and hourly rates for physiotherapy and occupational therapy
differing by over onefold. Some providers required a minimum service fee
equivalent to at least 2 hours per visit, while 3 offered discounted packages for
multiple visits, albeit with expiration periods ranging from 30 days to 4 months.

Surcharges were common under specific circumstances, such as express
services, appointment changes, travelling to remote areas, working in bad
weather; or public holidays. Late cancellation fees ranged from $200 to $1,000,
while some providers charged transportation fees or even doubled the service
cost. For after-hours services, 10 providers applied surcharges, with some
doubling fees for therapists or adding 20% to regular rates.

The Council advises consumers to review service conditions and charges
carefully before engaging a service provider to avoid unexpected costs. Service
providers are encouraged to offer detailed quotations outlining all fees, enabling
consumers to compare options effectively and select suitable services, thus
alleviating pressure on patients and caregivers.
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Powered Wheelchair Rental

People with mobility challenges due to age or injuries may need to use a
wheelchair on either a long-term or temporary basis, and as technology
advances, powered wheelchairs are becoming more widely used. For
those only needing a wheelchair temporarily, renting may be more
pragmatic. The Council's survey found that monthly rental fees, deposits
and post-rental services provided varied.

As powered wheelchairs are more complex to operate than manual ones,
those with no prior experience should undergo assessment and training
from healthcare professionals to ascertain whether they can manoeuvre
it effectively. Among the 10 organisations surveyed, the 6 non-profit
organisations required a referral letter from a healthcare professional or
assessment by an occupational therapist or physiotherapist before applying
for powered wheelchair rentals, while the 4 commercial organisations had no
such requirements.

As for wheelchair delivery, 4 organisations did not provide this service, while
the remaining 6 charged a fee according to the district. 6 organisations could
arrange on-site inspection or repair; 3 others required renters to return
wheelchairs on their own, or to pay a collection fee. 1 organisation offered no
repair services at all.

The Council recommends the authorities establish clear requirements on
the quality and safety of powered wheelchairs and to regulate their use, such
as compliance with international safety standards, requirements for users to
obtain insurance, and a restriction on the maximum speed.

Private Residential Care Homes for the Elderly

With lengthy waits for government-subsidised residential care places, the
elderly needing care may be admitted into private Residential Care Homes
for the Elderly (RCHEs). In view of this, the Council conducted a survey to
examine the charges, termination procedures and manpower arrangement of
46 private RCHEs.

The survey found a difference of over 12-fold in basic monthly fees, ranging
from $6,000 to $82,000 for accommodation and meals. Most RCHEs
charged additional fees for various services and daily consumables based
on their own calculation methods, which varied according to the quality of
facilities and room type. These included administration fees, bedding fees for
the first move-in, electricity, air-conditioning, heating, and medical services
such as wound cleansing and patient escorting.

Policies on fee waiver or refund for hospital stays, termination of residency,
or death also varied. Therefore, consumers are encouraged to prioritise
the needs of their elderly family members and to thoroughly consider the
miscellaneous fees and calculation methods while choosing a suitable RCHE.
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The Council also noticed significant disparities in manpower ratios, with the carer-
resident ratio ranging from 1:3 to 1:30. Considering elders may require varying
levels of care, the Council advised care homes to regularly review the staff ratio
and establish contingency plans to address potential manpower shortage.

Insurance
Unilateral Recognition Products

With applications for Northbound Travel for Hong Kong Vehicles on the rise,
the Council selected 12 insurers offering Unilateral Recognition products and
conducted a market survey regarding the mandatory top-up cover of the
Mainland Compulsory Traffic Accident Liability Insurance for Motor Vehicles
("Compulsory Motor Insurance”), and the selective top-up cover of the Mainland
Commercial Insurance for Motor Vehicles (*Commercial Motor Insurance”).

Although the coverage of Compulsory Motor Insurance was identical
(RMB200,000 per incident), among the 11 insurers with pertinent information,
the annual premiums could vary by about 40%, ranging from $832 to $1,159
per annum for vehicles with less than 6 seats, and from $963 to $1,342 per
annum for 6- to 8-seaters.

Purchasing the Compulsory Motor Insurance would meet the statutory
minimum requirement in the Mainland, yet consumers are advised to seriously
consider purchasing the non-mandatory Commercial Motor Insurance, including
“Third Party Liability" and “Persons on Board Liability", to enhance protection.
For “Third Party Liability", the survey revealed insured amounts ranged from
RMB 1 million to RMB 10 million, representing 5 to 50 times the minimum
statutory requirements of Compulsory Motor Insurance. For “Persons on Board
Liability", the most common surveyed insured amount was RMB10,000 per seat,
with the highest insured amount at RMB200,000 per seat, but only 1 surveyed
insurer provided such coverage.

The Council hopes that the insurance industry, relevant regulatory bodies and
Government departments could expedite the development of existing Unilateral
Recognition products to provide more choices for consumers who wish to have
more comprehensive protection.
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Leisure & Trending Services
Private Camping Sites in Hong Kong

As Hong Kong's scenic countryside attracts urban escapees to “glamping”
experiences, the Council's survey published in June 2024 revealed regulatory
and safety concerns beneath their glamorous exteriors. Of the 22 surveyed
private camping sites, about 40% were suspected of unauthorised development
as "Holiday Camps", requiring follow-up from authorities. More alarmingly,
only 3 sites possessed a relevant Guesthouse (Holiday Camp) license or a
Certificate of Compliance for a club. The Council further selected 7 sites for
in-depth study. In terms of safety, only 3 sites had declared third-party liability
insurance, and merely 2 had round-the-clock staff presence, raising concerns
over emergency support.

Moreover, the pricing of facilities varied considerably, with weekend and holiday
rates up to 54% higher than regular rates. Most sites enforced strict payment
policies, requiring full prepayment with refunds only limited to weather-related
cancellations. In addition, visitors would face extra costs at several sites, such as
surcharges for parking and pet accommodation.

The Council urges camping site operators to review compliance with land
use and regulatory requirements, strengthen consumer safeguards, and take
out third-party liability insurance. The Government is also encouraged to
consider the necessity of issuing licences for such sites to enhance consumer
protection while supporting tourism growth. Meanwhile, prospective campers
are advised to confirm services and cancellation policies beforehand, verify
insurance coverage and emergency assistance arrangements, follow the site
rules, and avoid bringing valuables.
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ADVOCATING A FAIR \

MARKETPLACE ANDILEGAL
PRO'ILECTION FOR CONSUMERS

BeR 2 iimtl; EE%‘E‘LE{%* E

For over half a century, the Council has been a leading advocate for a safe, fair and sustainable
marketplace that benefits both consumers and traders. This essential role is accomplished
through regular in-depth studies on topical consumer issues, and proactive submissions of views
and recommendations in response to Government and industry consultations to advocate fair
competition, good trade practices and a robust legal framework to protect consumer rights.
Decades of effort have resulted in the establishment of industry codes of practice, amendments to
current laws, and the introduction of new legislation to strengthen consumer protection. In keeping
up with the times, the Council's advocacy has also progressed with paradigms such as e-commerce,
artificial intelligence, virtual assets, and digital transformation.
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Healthcare BE

Price Transparency of Private Healthcare Services FLEEERFEHERERE

With an ageing population and rising life expectancy, Hong Kong faces a FEEAOSRERTBHSHEELER  §81E
significant increase in healthcare service demand and expenditure, alongside HERERREFREAZIKEBLEA  LIEATA
an imbalance between the public and private healthcare sectors. Given the SEREZFAENRNE - BERISERSE
variability of medical costs due to the unique and personalised nature of such AMNMEBRTE - AIbm A NERE B AR
services, compounded with information asymmetry arising from healthcare [ e kb BREAERRAREEEENES
professionals’ possession of greater medical knowledge than patients, the Hi o EREMAETE - BREL  AeET
Council undertook a comprehensive study titled “Price Transparency in T—IEER (EORER  BABRESER
Healthcare: Fostering Consumer Trust and Value”, aiming to empower E) MEAME  EEREHEESERLEE
consumers when using private healthcare services and foster greater BERIFRFAERS  WIRFAMMAHLEBRERR
consumer trust in the private healthcare sector. B0

Visit https://www.consumer.org.hk/en/advocacy/study-
report/private_healthcare_services_study or scan the
QR code to read the full report of “Price Transparency in
Healthcare: Fostering Consumer Trust and Value”

35 Bl B https//www.consumer.orghk/tc/advocacy/study-
report/private_healthcare_services_study * %1% B — #E5S
HE (EOHREE  BABRRERERE) ®E2 -
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Published in March 2025, the study adopted a mixed-method approach® to RSN 2025 £ 3 AKX KAKEHRE

examine the concerns and pain points experienced by consumers throughout 7S R HEE AL EREREBREPHN
the patient journey in using private healthcare services: BREMNED:

. The consumer lacked the
required medical knowledge

HEERZFTEIVESME

5. Medical packages were preferred but
uncommon, and consumers were unsure
what should be included in the package
BEREEIHEEROENNER  THE
ENTEEEREDEWMLRE

2. Unclear rationale behind higher doctor’s fees
and private hospital (PH) charges for higher-
class rooms even for the same treatment
ENfERSAAREIARE - (& ABSRBIEIRE S HE
ISR A B AL R ERRERRE A - W g B
BB i i . Ambiguous accountability for providing

xplanation nsumer ]
explanations to consumer queries

& ZHEEHEERURENSETPE
QU - 1%

B
5%

3. Some budget estimates provided in
verbal format without written record
BoRBEAREEAOREXREE 2

BB . Historical bill size statistics (HBS)

were not user-friendly and outdated

BEWER BIRELIE R B

4. Presence of information asymmetry between
doctors and patients, and the consumers lacked
intention to check prices as they trusted and
heavily relied on doctors’ recommendations and
that their insurance should be able to fully cover s 4 8. Consumers could only pay the bill
the treatment costs despite unexplained price discrepancy

BEvHEFEEEMTEE HEEREERESK . B2 BEBIEREZENRERE HEE
BELENES D RGBSR T EREE TR AR fF IR EE
R iR Z HEIEER & '

8. The mixed-method approach comprised (i) a consumer survey targeting patients of PHs and DPCs; (ii) in-depth user interviews with
patients; (iii) a trader survey targeting PHs and DPCs; (iv) desktop research and phone enquiries; (v) pre- and post-study engagements with
stakeholders; (vi) analysis of the Council’s complaint cases; and (vii) review of price transparency regulatory regimes in selected markets.
RamEmEs 8% (1) DAKRERNABEERT OB ARHRAVEBERSEREE 5 (2) BRAETRATH  (3) DARERMABBERT LAY
SNBERMERE  (4) SEMTREFER 5 (5) ERRAIREFNEEITON | (6) MTERSERNEFIESR LR (7) BRREETSNEREN
EEEHE -
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place and

5 recommendations were put forward for enhancing price transparency and
fostering greater consumer confidence in Hong Kong's private healthcare sector:

Recommendation 1 - Improve Consumers’ Accessibility to Price
Information with a Search Tool

Bl RRRsT AEMHEEENERER

* Day procedure centres (DPCs) to provide online price information
AMBER LR CRMAEEER

» Government to develop presentation guidelines on price lists and HBS to
increase consistency
BUSBIERABERER T BURN 2R T URMES) DURR—EUE

» Government to develop a centralised historical price indexes database with
proper search functions:
HBUFERIDATRE RSP RENE  YRASENESIA

° Readability

B

° Detailedness

- HEI

o Timeliness

o JEEFIE

AEIRET LT 5 HRELURT AL B AR
BB 155 95 T N 2 B A 2 B SR B
o

Recommendation 2 - Promote the Use of Packaged Charges

Bl 2: EEAEEEE

* Government to provide guidelines for designing and marketing medical
packages

B RBREENRFINEERMIIES

* PHs/DPCs to introduce more packages for different levels of medical

Recommendation 3 - Require the Provision of a Clear and
Written Budget Estimate

BB 3 ERIRALEMMNE IR & AR E

* PHs/DPCs to provide written and detailed budget estimates to patients
prior to undergoing treatments
FRER/ BRSEPOEETERRER UEBNNARAREHENR
BERER
» Government to provide clear guidelines on:
BUTsL AT iR SBMES|
° Disclosure of identities of anaesthetists and other specialists, and valid
period for the estimate
WKEMBERI B AEMEMERNBESORRBERREERN
o Timeframe in issuing revised estimate

REBRRBERREMNRR

Recommendation 5 - Strengthen Consumer Education

Through Multi-channels and Collaborative Efforts

BMS: 2o FIREEERB

» Government to promote price transparency measures
Bz B E B E

» Government to educate consumers about their right to information
BSHEHEE THRACZENAIERE

» Consumers to follow the 5 questions to enquire with healthcare providers
before treatments (including necessity of the treatment, risks/side effects,
alternatives, consequence of not conducting the treatment, and costs)
HBEEEZIORE MERRBIEAEIRT b GHNE (BFaRNNE
R/ BUER S BRER REAFENRR  AXH)

conditions
MRE/ BRSERPOEHEZEENRARENERES

» Government to work with the trade (including medical and insurance
sectors) and develop a common coding mechanism for the treatments to
facilitate comparison among healthcare facilities, as well as doctor-patient
communication

BUTBRZER (BEERLRRI) B —2BANSEEREBIER
BRG] > TELEARAEFRRENERRIBIERER

Recommendation 4 - Enhance the Current Regulatory
Framework on Price Provision, and Complaint Handling Mechanism on
Price Matters

il 4: 2(CRTEANRMER

ERMEEER KRS F R

* PHs/DPCs to develop guidelines on:
FRERE / BRI O T EIERI 1385
° Accountability of provision and explanation of information to patients
ERRMAREEFRENNER
° Enhancing service quality of consumer-facing staff
INRAIR & THRRXISTER
» Government to gather feedback from users of PHs/DPCs on the reasons
and challenges for lodging complaints regarding price issues for continuous
improvement

BURSTR & AL RERE / BB ETORE W ARBWE R HIRFIER
BWERR THRERRFELFEFHNE

* PHs/DPCs to enhance accessibility of complaint channels and mechanisms
regarding price issues

TLREERE / BRABEPORKREEE R BEAMEEE R FRE S
* When Government considers regulatory actions, to include non-compliances
with price transparency measures to ensure industry governance

BUSEERARETER  MASHERRREZRERR UERTESR

Considering the significant relevance of private healthcare price transparency
to consumers, the study’s findings and recommendations received great
attention from the media and stakeholders, which were mostly positive and
supportive. The Council is pleased to note that the Government is preparing
for the consultation exercise on exploring legislation for private healthcare
price transparency, taking into account the content of the study report and the
operational experience of the Pilot Programme for Enhancing Price Transparency
for Private Hospitals, with plans to consult the relevant sectors in 2025. In
the way forward, the Council will continue to advocate for the adoption of
the study's recommendations and maintain its efforts in public education and

industry monitoring.
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Finance and Investment

Enhancements to the Banking Ordinance

In its submission to the Hong Kong Monetary Authority's (HKMA) consultation
on proposed enhancements to the Banking Ordinance (BO), the Council sought
to ensure the changes could keep abreast of global developments in the banking
sector and enhance consumer protection.

While supporting the proposal of engaging skilled persons to provide flexibility
for the Monetary Authority (MA) to seek assistance in performing his functions
under the BO, the Council suggested that the MA should particularly consider
engaging cybersecurity experts and climate risk specialists, to foster the
sustainability of the banking sector. The HKMA should also draw up guidelines
over the appointment of skilled persons and auditors, and consider incorporating
into the BO to require them to report to the MA on matters that may risk the
interests of banking consumers.

Regarding other proposed amendments, the Council:

* Sought clarification from the HKMA on whether imposing a 7-year time
limit of the prohibition on persons from acting as employees of Authorized
Institutions would weaken its gatekeeping power;

* Urged the HKMA to publish guidelines via readily accessible and consistent
channels to ensure Authorized Institutions and the public would not miss
crucial information; and

* Suggested the HKMA explore the inclusion of other important conditions, in
addition to “public interest”, for initiating the resolution of financial institutions,
such as the interests of persons affected (e.g. depositors).

Regulation for Over-the-Counter Trading of Virtual Assets

The Council provided views to the Financial Services and the Treasury Bureau
on the legislative proposals to regulate over-the-counter (OTC) trading of
virtual assets (VA). In consideration of the risks of money laundering/terrorist
financing and fraud associated with VA OTC trading, the Council supported
widening the regulation of VA activities by bringing in VA OTC services under
a new licensing regime.

The Council provided principle-based suggestions to enhance the proposed
regime from a consumer protection perspective, which include:

* Ensuring stringent oversight and enforcement are in place to avoid potential
abuse of regulatory loopholes;

* Actively monitoring the market development and ascertaining the need to
update the definition of VA OTC activities;

* Covering temporary custody/escrow services as part of the transaction
process with specific requirements in aspects such as duration and protection
measures,

* Specifying requirements in terms of disclosure, reporting and alerting,
complaint handling, risk management, record keeping and advertising with
reference to those in the regulatory regime for VA trading platforms;

* Providing further instructions regarding the transitional period and renewal
process in the future;

* Intensifying public education; and

* Keeping pace with international development.
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g a Fair ﬁafketplace and Legal Protection for Consumers

2 EBAFTEEBEOERES

Artificial Intelligence

Enhancement of the Copyright Ordinance Regarding
Protection for Artificial Intelligence (Al) Technology
Development

The Commerce and Economic Development Bureau and the Intellectual
Property Department proposed the enhancement of the Copyright Ordinance
(CO) regarding the protection for artificial intelligence (Al) technology
development.

The Council supported the authorities’ effort in reviewing the CO to ensure
Hong Kong's current copyright regime keeps up with the times. The Council
provided principle-based considerations when enhancing the CO from a
consumer protection perspective, which include:

* Reviewing the scope and duration of copyright protection of Al-generated
works to keep up with the rapid advancements in technology;

* Developing clear enforcement guidelines based on court judgments around
the globe to give lucid directions in the lawful use of Al; and

» Setting guidelines to ensure machine accuracy in identifying copyright owners’
preference of opting out from text and data mining.

The Council believes that enhancing transparency of Al models and Al-generated
content is crucial to protect consumers’ right to know. Measures such as
indicating content sources, adding watermarks or labels on Al-generated content,
and enhancing the traceability of Al works, could facilitate consumer-users in
identifying Al-generated works. Meanwhile, different jurisdictions had different
regulatory approaches towards copyright issues, which increased the difficulty
in enforcement. The Council suggested that collaboration with international
counterparts is indispensable when considering the enhancement of the CO.
The Council also considered it fundamental to put in educational efforts to
ensure that the public and technology industry have adequate knowledge of the
relevant regulations while developing or adopting Al.

The issue of copyright and Al is still a topic of ongoing debate among experts,
policymakers, and stakeholders globally. The Council will continue to monitor
the global momentum of regulatory developments for insights into catalysing
technological progress while the interests of creators and consumer-users would

be well protected.
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Auto-fuel Price Monitoring

The auto-fuel retail prices in Hong Kong, being one of the most expensive in
the world, have long been of concern to the public. In the past year, the Council
continued to closely monitor the auto-fuel market, in particular the pricing and
information dissemination. Through collating and publishing auto-fuel prices and
discount information to the public, the Council strove to enhance information
transparency of the market, facilitating smart comparison by consumers and
fostering fair competition.

Since the launch of the revamped “Oil Price Watch” website and mobile
application in November 2020, the website and application recorded about
9.27 million and 10.3 million accumulative page views respectively as of the
end of March 2025, of which about 2.48 million and 1.62 million page views
were recorded in the year under review (i.e. April 2024 - March 2025). As
for the “Qil Price Watch” application, the cumulative number of downloads
since its launch increased by around 15% to 108,221 downloads in the year
under review.

Looking ahead, the Council will continue to closely monitor the auto-fuel market
and urge oil companies to improve the transparency and accessibility of price
and discount information for the benefit of consumers.
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Advocating a Fair Marketplace and Legal Protection for Consumers

F BERATFHRMEEEANAEES

Industry Codes of Practice

As stipulated in the Consumer Council Ordinance, the Council plays a vital
role in collaborating with industries and developing codes of practice. The
Council established the Laundry Code in 2015 and Jewellery Code in 2017, in
collaboration with the laundry industry and retail jewellery industry associations
respectively. To ensure ongoing effectiveness, the Council continued to conduct
annual meetings with relevant trade associations to assess the implementation of
the Codes and keep track of the latest industry developments. With the ongoing
development of the jewellery industry, the first revision of the Jewellery Code
was launched in March 2025 to address the latest changes in legal requirements
and promote industry integrity in business operations in the digital era.
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DISSEMINATING CONSUMER
INFORMATION

BHHERE

The past 50 years has witnessed a sea change in media consumption channels, most notably the
paradigm shift from one-way information dissemination to interactive and reciprocal communication
thanks to technological advancement. Digital disruption in the modern world means that digital
and social media platforms have become essential for distributing timely information to the public
and reaching the widest spectrum of consumers, especially younger age groups. This is reflected in
the evolution of the iconic CHOICE Magazine and the Council's other information dissemination
channels including various social media platforms over the years. The reporting year saw the pivotal
milestone of CHOICE becoming free for public access, opening a new chapter of consumer
empowerment and accessibility through accelerated information dissemination amidst an evolving
digital landscape.

Mix#ER—ATE  BE L0 F  HEERKENNRERE Yy RBIAEMNE(L - EPRIEN
RIENHEREREN  EREAEH - E2REEB(CHARBE T » SHBIETF & RAEEX
AEBBEENENSERTE  NEERELEFMBNEN - TREESIREBIEES - LH
REFE—N - ZER - AG—HEBIHE  NERRT - BB TRELMRRERK (EEF) H
TIRASHMEN - EFEREBEANAES - ERFANRERNIEE - LERASEETIY
(BE) BTBEEM2ERBELLRETRAERE - BESNBRRWHRE  BHEEUEERE
HWEIERE - 1R A 208 ns B BREED -
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CRIZ) BTR 1976 FAT  RESERYE
L SEMNERRBEAR SRR

CHOICE Magazine

CHOICE Magazine is an independent, impartial and authoritative consumer
guide, widely recognised as a source of trusted and reliable information
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since it was first published in 1976.To uphold its authority and creditability,
CHOICE Magazine does not accept any form of advertisements or commercial
contributions. The monthly publication covers test reports, surveys, in-depth
studies on a diverse range of consumer goods and services, and complaint cases.

The overall sales of the print version of CHOICE Magazine were 80,133 copies
in the 2024-25 reporting period. In response to the modern audience’s evolving
media consumption and reading habits in an increasingly internet-driven world,
as well as to expand the coverage in the Greater Bay Area, the online version of
CHOICE (known as eCHOICE) became fully available for free from 2 January
2025 onwards, giving consumers access to consumption-related information
anytime and anywhere. This message was announced during the Council's 50th
Anniversary Golden Jubilee Cocktail Reception, and was strategically promoted
at the Hong Kong Book Fair 2024 and through an extensive publicity campaign.
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To address the needs of different communities, limited quantities of print copies RHREBEARMHENTE  AQLIERAPRX
were made available at 1,850 reading points around the city, covering elderly REMNRIER (GEE) ATZE2H 1850 EEE
centres, community organisations, public libraries, primary and secondary schools, FoOBERERL HEBES - AXBEEE
and tertiary institutions for the public to read. In addition, the Council had FNERRERREETREE - 1 XF
partnered with Link Asset Management Limited to set up 14 distribution points TEEREIE » EETNEA 14 ERSRIIRE
in selected Link shopping centres, ensuring the smooth transition of the launch of HoEERENTMRIE W8 (EEY BT
free CHOICE online and maintaining visibility. B A 8 T -

Bestselling Issues of CHOICE in 2024-25
2024-25 FER5H (FE) BHIHR

#570
2024 |4 B | APRIL

1

Featured a cover story on the first-ever test on prepackaged beer in celebration of the Council's 50th anniversary.

HESERE RUATASTREEE - DIERAS 50 AFSERE -

2

Published test reports on mosquito repellents and “1 Horsepower” window-type

#571
20248 B |[MAY

inverter air conditioners.

FIEEREOA & 1 AT E 2 RIRATRBIER S -

#573
2024|7 B |JuLY

Covered a test report on hair styling products
with over 90% models detected with harmful

substances.
. RRESEVADARERE > EPEA 9 B
| ARHEEWE -
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Informing and Interacting with Consumers ZEBEFeEEM

Through Multimedia Platforms 2HMEEERE

Charting new horizons in digital transformation in recent years, the Council A FEMEBHHEL > FEZEARMN
continued to expand its multimedia platforms and explore new forms of LHBFE RAELHF AN EEETS -
interaction, launching a series of campaigns to celebrate the Council's 50th FRNEEH-RINNEEES  ERASE 50 &
anniversary and free CHOICE. R TGRE) 2B, -

Celebrating Free CHOICE B (E=F) BHEER

An integrated promotion and publicity plan was implemented to spread the REGBM LM CGEE) BTH2EL2E8RK - K
news of free eCHOICE. It included, among others, radio advertising with EHREP—RIMEBEREE BEASER
Commercial Radio Hong Kong (CRHK) featuring jingles voiced by celebrities, XERRFELHECES HEABENE
which reached over 2 million audienceship, as well as an integrated social SWEAZE200E . LI KENBEB
media campaign across Facebook, Instagram, YouTube, and WeChat. Giveaway Facebook * Instagram ~ YouTube R # (=S4t 2345
campaigns and videos featuring CHOICE cover celebrities topped page view BYAETER25EGEH - EF £HEE
boards. Nearly 7,000 page views were recorded on Facebook, Instagram, EmMIBEEINE S Rl (EE) ATINEAAS
and YouTube, while the YouTube launch video alone garnered an impressive W A EE LB SHHTEEE © Facebook®
51,588 views. Instagram & YouTube #9 8l 88 & & 5F & 4T

7,000 % ﬁﬁT_YouTubeﬁHjE’JH—'% Y F B
B5¥E 51,588 BB XS -

Consumer Council Digital ChannelsVEZ = E15F 4
S (1 April 2024=31 March'2925) (2024 4 HMIHE 2025 F 3 H <AN=D)

Official Website 1 6 Million
=0T Total Page Views

1,600:..

Million Page Views for Online CHOICE Articles
B8 Lk (F2) XZEE

3 2 Million Page Views for “Shopping Guide”
B8 THERKE, AIEE

Instagram

Facebook
= 114,889 = 4,936 = 42,490
SOl 4 o 1197 BEyel ol 12667 yCg 4 o= 108%

2 2 5 Instag{;;rjnz Posts

* Accumulated f in current reporting s of 31 March 20 . from launch on 2 | 2024 to 31 March 202

HEFRRT F (BZE 2025 4 H) HLRIEE 2024 1 A 2 AFEEE 2024 4 3 A 31 HWRFTEHAR -

Facebook Posts

3%

4 WeChat Posts
12374

Aggregate figures since the channel's launch in 2018

B 2018 F4ampR IR R B

° Reporting Year k&4 &
Views
YouTube 462,644 ..
Total Subscribers
3T R New Subscribers
Million B & 2,95 HEIF
Total Views @ 9 4 Mllllon
HEEE RS Minutes Watch Time :
Minutes Total Watch Time 782 ’ 796 HE/NE AT

DI HEERTE
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During the year under review, a total of 7 Shopping Guide articles, 95 videos
and 53 infographics were produced to enrich the website’'s content on top of
the regular CHOICE articles. Page view peaks were observed after the launch
of free CHOICE on 2 January 2025, with over 1.4 million page views recorded
each month from January to March 2025.

The Council's followers on Facebook and Instagram continued to grow, with
concise and visually impactful content performing the best. On Facebook,
infographics and photos outperformed videos, with the post on Instant Noodles
Shopping Guide achieving the highest engagement rate of 72.39%, whereas the
Free CHOICE giveaway post on Instagram recorded the highest engagement
rate of 39.91%.

The Council's YouTube channel continues to offer a wealth of informative videos
for consumers. While the content included CHOICE Magazine highlights, test
report findings, past events and activities, the videos covering the Free CHOICE
announcement and the topic of cooker hoods garnered the highest views during
the year.
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BT FIBESH (RE) BHNXEZN  Ag
PEREBK 7 FE THERKREE ) XE 95 &
FARDIEEEE SHRERAREEE - B
2025 1 B2 H TCGEE)Y 8B, #H#HE
R REEERN N2025F 1 AE3 A
BERREEINEEE 140 8K -

(##2) AT Facebook % Instagram HI3BEHEA B
FEEE  HALEHRERERRESINAR
FKIRFE - (5 8B K8 A 1E Facebook FRIRY
BB s Edh TEHEZ2KRE  BEREHN
M5 8% 1S 72.39% N m B 82 ; Instagram Bl
DLUTQRE)Y RER ) S MBS R eI ST
HEEE 3991% MRS EHE -
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A& YouTube BEABE—HRHEERA—
RINENEENT A AABE (EF) AT
BE - ARRERRLEBER - BE—F
AR TCEE) RBB ) REURRER S EER
FRERRBERE -
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Empowering Consumers Through the Mass Media BHAREERE RAEREA

Thanks to the longstanding support of the mass media, the Council is often on EREERADRNIRF  A2—HFARLD °
the public’s mind. For many years, the Council has organised extensive media LER AEAEENEECERETEEH
programmes and publicity campaigns, notably the monthly CHOICE press BRTYZRETM (EE) ATIFMERAE 2
conference, as well as a good many interviews to keep consumers informed TR AR BOBEARERETY
about, and alert to, what was happening in the marketplace. BEH - MEMSBEIARSES -
Mass Media
y P
6 Press Releases 1 6 8 Media Interviews
s BIEEREH

Press Statements Media Enquiries
2 FEEEA 5 0 0 + BiEER

5,700+ G 43 s

Throughout the year, the Council issued numerous press releases covering FR > REBRMAENER - BE (B2) R
selected CHOICE topics, advocacy issues and events. The most widely covered TNHEEANR  EEBZELBRNED - BE—

FERLEEREN (&
#) BHEERRAFT
ISR (2024 £ 12 A »
E 578 ) XEB/RTY
ITRBLR » PlandERE
RAF ~ REBNBES
BEARITR  AaHERE
120 ZRHEWE - 88
Positive media relations and 6 FEIEMGHTE » % BBC
publicity outcomes were @3l N FNEE TR A SRR EE
maintained via press interviews G o

and appearances across print,
electronic and online channels.
Monthly media partnership
continued with Radio Television
Hong Kong (RTHK), featuring
CHOICE topics on TV31's “Hong
Kong United” ( ¥t B¢ & # ), and
radio programmes “Healthpedia”
(¥5Z—2h) and "Money Talk".

CHOICE topic was Claw Machine Complaints :
(Issue 578, December 2024), which exposed a |
myriad of malpractices such as unfair gameplay

and unreasonable practices. It generated over
120 news reports, including 6 frontpage stories,
and was picked up by international outlets like
BBC and Channel News Asia.

RE— MR EZNFAAER SRR
BRERS @B THILEBRERFR
WER - FATHELEEESEEF K
SRREACHRETAEE - BEER
31 BNEME R (SREE) BEHE
(FEE—&) MEXHE (Money Talk) -
HEBMENY (BF) BTIRR

RETEBRS AN B IMERE
HIERGH - B2 TR EIR LG
FNMBRER  AIMREES
BRXHEE (Hong Kong Today)
RATIREERSE « MIEER (WH
BRY NEEBA (TEFER)

The Council also addressed key advocacy issues
through media interviews and statements with
both local and global media networks. Topics
included online shopping scams on RTHK's
English programme “Hong Kong Today", taxi and
e-hailing services on TVB's “News Magazine”

(¥ B % 18 ) and RTHK's “Hong Kong 2000" REBMNLTERLBNERE
(FEER), a silver economy investigative series on RTHK's “Money Talk”, and B9shHHE ~ RXETE (Money Talk) USRS
northbound consumption in Orange News' “Warm Talking” ( E{& ) and TVB's BRARY DREFE (BE) MESER
“Finance Magazine” ( B #&ER ). (OB 1R) Bt EENE:) -
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Publicity for the Council’s study
reports, initiatives and events were
also achieved through scores of
press interviews, including HOY
TV's “Let’s Talk" ( B¥EHEEE) and
CRHK's “On a Clear Day” ( 1£ #&
BAHY — K B &8 ) for the Yearender
2024, now News' “News Magazine”
(BEF=E27511) and Metro Finance's
“Roadmap to Knowledge Economy”
(Bt #1 K % ) for the Council's
study report on private healthcare
price transparency, Cable News'
“Property Outlook” (& & /& & )
for the GBA Smart Guide, and Ming Pao’s feature on the Smart Consumption
Academy, to count a few.

Responding to Issues of Consumer Interest

Through ongoing proactive media engagement and an agile incident
management system, the Council efficiently responded to a host of media
enquiries and published timely cautionary advice to consumers whenever
a significant consumption matter arose. In terms of issues of widespread
concern, 2 trends stood out during the year, namely disputes related to mega
events and shop closures.

While the city's extensive line-up of mega events showed phenomenal results
in boosting the economy and attracting both visitors and locals to revel in
the festivities, they gave rise to various issues, such as ticketing problems for
Coldplay’s concert and ComplexCon; obstructed views of the stage for Coldplay
and a local singer's respective concerts, which were not communicated when
selling tickets; the Legends Assemble fan meeting session featuring legendary
football stars, which sparked a major backlash among fans due to poor
organisation and unmet expectations; withdrawal of a world champion followed
by early evacuation of spectators for the World Grand Prix Snooker Tournament
2025, etc. The Council responded swiftly to hundreds of media enquiries on
these incidents with complaint figures and advice for affected consumers.

Meanwhile, shop closures were unfortunately still observed in considerable
numbers in the post-pandemic era, including the most high-profile of all the
closure of Physical Fitness and subsequent takeover by perFIT, for which the
Council handled over 100 media enquiries and conducted around 20 interviews,
whereas Deliveroo’s exit from the Hong Kong market also garnered extensive
media and public attention. Other shuttered traders included 2 online kids
products shopping agents Choco Cloud Kids and Rabbit N Radish, Little Frog
Learning Centre, health product chain CR Care, century-old fermented tofu
brand Liu Ma Kee, wedding ring design centre MARY bIVE, etc. all of which
sparked a flurry of media enquiries.

LEBETIEEASH
WRME - BEsrE
LEEBETHB 8
BHOYTV(EEREE
B RE¥EE (&
BRI —REER) B
| & 2024 FEEEREM
Hih - now HTEE (FF
CEBRAAY) RITHAE
& (HHKRE) Ag
BRLEEREREHR
EMRRENFE B
BRyH (BEEE) &
TREBERERE, &
TRE > URB®RS T EREEEEY | T
HEEHRIES -

[E] FE £ K BB 1 2R AR RARY 3R RE

AEEBEMESREEBE  DRETEE
RGN AEMERCE T KREEHKE
#A MHERREREERBERREFHEE R
MERLEZ B EEZBINEE T
FRAEMEBBLRHEE > 25 —EEEE
PP R ARAEE S -

KBS SHESRERE —L$ﬁ§ﬁﬂ’3ﬁ*”§
ERINRSIBEMAMTRATZE - KK
WEEE BESTIIRTSEMY - fla
Coldplay &M1& & ComplexCon HIFIZRIRE ;
Coldplay 15—z Tf*ﬂﬂ?ﬁ(?’ﬁﬂ' SBINEIE S
HIRBRERIMENER  ATERFREA
w5 LIERREABERN Legends Assemble &
FRERBRENRES  HRTBREE <
DRIKEAE HIREZ= %|’§‘éﬁ?ﬁt£ﬁL§§f\'ﬂ<ﬁ§~
2025 FFIHEREABARIRARES » —ZHR
BEMEFRE BRERES —SEEFHRE
RIZEBHS - AR Ll —REHAR B ER
DEStNEREH  TRERFHEZEREZR
EHBEERMES -

HILR  BEGEHSE  BEPREXET
BB EF B RIS N IBE perfIT B DT
AELALERTHABREERESEH » WS 20
RABETHRE o £ P P 3% Deliveroo & & %
™i% - TEREENRAREZEL - HfEzE
N FBEmERE LR ERRREAR Choco
Cloud Kids & Rabbit N Radish - 8t Little
Frog Learning Centre ~ 2R E MmEH/EEHE
BEBIARBERTT ~ B 0 MARY
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Top 10 Consumer News — Year of the Dragon

Entering its 27st year since its launch in 2005, the Top 10 Consumer News
voting campaign was held with the generous support from media partners Cable
News, HKO1, Hong Kong Economic Times, Oriental Sunday, RTHK, SkyPost,
Sunday Kiss, TOPick, U Magazine, and Yahoo. The campaign recorded a historical-
high turnout of 14,429 voters.

The top 10 news® reflected consumers' key concerns and hot consumption
topics during the reporting year, among which the closure of Physical Fitness
topped the list by a landslide 55% of the total number of voters. Other voted
news were also talk-of-the-town topics covering an extensive scope, from
tourism and economy-boosting initiatives, environmental policies, to residential
property measures.

For instance, football star Lionel Messi's disappointing absence from the Inter
Miami exhibition match in Hong Kong ranked second with 4,552 votes and was
also voted as the “Most Outrageous” consumer news, while the suspension of
the waste charging scheme came in third. The launch of free CHOICE by the
Consumer Council was recognised as “Most Liked” with 5,992 votes. .

Total Voters
f N

REFETXHBENEESR

2005 FEORBWN T HRBEHE , BEC
BAE 2T EFE FHREE 1I0EEESE
IEERNRANSF - 2 RIRERSE - &8 01
EERBEAR  RAFL - FBEES  BR
Sunday Kiss ~ TOPick ~ U EFIF Yahoo © jEEhE
W3l 14,429 ZTHERKE @ FIEECH -

ABTARHBEEHE RR T BBEERESFE
NERBIMNZEENRFDEEEY - APFEE
PREXZFMHUESE  BEAMERREAR
f9 55% o HtW NREEE RWAEE  RELRL
BEZ Wi EMIREEEER - RRBUR
IVE: ey il

B REITERERBESI BOUHE IR KSR -
BHLL4552 BAFIE 2 TRRIFRA " &k
& OHBENE > MARMERATRERET
RIZIEE 3o EFOUHE SRR LR GEE)
BH#MtmESB/ME  BILI5992 Z&E &
K&, 8 ° -

B, OHERE ‘ \

AW
D

Physical Fitness Closes All Branches Consumer Council Receives Over 5,000 Complaints

RRHBEETASMER #EXSERBEREET

votes 5=

D Involving Almost HK$200 Million Regulation of Prepayment Consumption Returns to the Public Eye 70’('.2532
FEERREE HEEREEL S TRIEF £HE2R8 HEENFERERHNEE vores =
Messi’s No-Show at Exhibition Match Sparks Uproar

D Half-refund Offered for Tickets Bought Through Official Channels 4't55§
EHREREFEAMBRER BEHTEEBREITEER—F vores =
Municipal Solid Waste Charging Scheme Suspended

P After 2-month Demonstration and Consideration of Public Views 414032

“Most Liked” News " 1z | i
Consumer Council's 50th Anniversary
CHOICE Magazine Free for All Starting from 2025
JHZES 50 B4 2025 FRE (BE) BTISER
“Most Gratifying” News " & KIRAD 5 iR
Taxi-Driver-Offence Points System Takes Effect
3-Month Disqualification Upon Accumulating 15 Offence Points

LT RBESIRARER M 15 DA 3 E A
“Most Outrageous” News " GRBEE | FiE
Messi's No-Show at Exhibition Match Sparks Uproar
Half-refund Offered for Tickets Bought Through Official Channels
EHTREFREBEAMBAR BENREBEEIERT—F

Consumer News Hot Topics Results FREEHE#HERERZR

5,992

votes =

8,088

votes =

9,440

votes =

Consumer News —Year of the Dragon.

9. Visit https://www.consumer.org.hk/en/press-release/p-top 10-consumer-2025 or scan the QR code for the voting results of the Top 10

BETEBHEGER - 5588 https//www.consumerorghk/tc/press-release/p-top 10-consumer-2025 » SR G _HES -
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Consumer Rights Reporting Awards

The Consumer Rights Reporting Awards (CRRA) welcomed another record-
breaking year, receiving a historical high of 471 entries from 46 news
organisations, social media platforms and higher education institutions.

The 24th CRRA concluded with a presentation ceremony officiated by the
Acting Secretary for Commerce and Economic Development, Dr Bernard Chan
Pak-li, on 12 November 2024. A signature annual event recognising journalistic
excellence in Hong Kong's media industry for close to a quarter century, this
year's CRRA saw a diverse spectrum of consumer rights-related topics among
the entries. Apart from topics related to basic necessities such as clothing, food,
housing and transportation, this year's entries also probed into issues related to
changes in consumption trends, e-commerce and digital payment systems, new
forms of scams, investment traps, medical beauty, and anti-competitive practices
in the marketplace.

One of the highlights was the “Topical Reporting Award”. Under the annual
theme “How the Application of Innovation and Technology is Impacting
Consumers”, 5 entries were shortlisted as “Top 5 Finalists” and the award
went to a newspaper investigative series focusing on food ordering via
digital platforms.

HEBERHEREERE
USRS (THE ) B 46 RHA
B HERTARAERR - 23 471 HME
RE%  THEESEFRIE -

% 24 J8 TIRESR ) BARegN 2024 £ 11 B
12 HEWSET  HBERELAKERRRBRER
MEEEIETEERZE - TRER, BEXE
A E T EER B EEERREN S
o BHERLIR  HRANESEEANFERS -
SENSEELRENHERREMEEET -
BRYXBETH  NEFTHEEAEE &
FHE BFXN FERE  RERBH - &
BER  MBREFTASEE -

TEEFEARE | REREBNERNZ—  SEM
TAFRIERHHEEENTE ) RFEETE
BHOMERAE "THRE 5B, BREEA—OEE
RNETHENAERERIESARE -

Awards Presented at the 24nd CRRA® 2 24 [F " $HigHE | fASEIEIH °

Gold Awards £1%
Silver Awards $R#%

39

Bronze Awards #f4%

N N NN

Awards Merit Awards {BRig
4215
“Best Use of Social Media in Consumer Advocacy”
RiEEREEESZHRTE
3 Best Audience Engagement Awards S{EitEf L2 E18E
9 1 Best Presentation Award FR{EFRERKIFHE
Categories 1 Grand Prize R#IKHE
#8731
5 Topical Reporting Awards FEEEREALE
1 Grand Award FE X

Shortly after, applications for the 25th CRRA opened in March 2025, inviting
entries for 9 award categories, including the “Topical Reporting Award” with
“Consumer Rights Beyond Boundaries” as the selected topic for 2024.The topic
for 2025 was simultaneously announced to be “Protecting the Consumer Rights
of the Silver Generation”, applicable to submissions for the 26th CRRA the next
year (ie. 2026).

10. Visit https://www.consumer.org.hk/en/press-release/consumer-rights-reporting-awards-2024 or scan the QR code for more information

on the 24th CRRA.

FLERE 24 EBHERSTEREENEN » 5588 https//www.consumerorg hk/en/press-release/consumer-rights-reporting-

$ 258 "HESR ) BERNR 2025 FF 3 AR
W 0 AR 9 ERIEMER - Hh 2024 &
TFEFBERE, Eh "HEBFOHENELS -
AERFFIVAT 2025 FEER T REREH
RAVEERS > BANREEE 268 "HER
RRHIMEd °

awards-2024 » SHHAE HENS ©
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“News Magazine: Comeback of the ‘Black Taxis'?" ( r [
FEHECEHHLIEE?)) from the Video Reporting Award
(Long Clip) category won this year's Grand Award. TVB's
representative received the trophy from Dr Bernard Chan
Pak-li, Acting Secretary for Commerce and Economic
Development, Mr Clement Chan Kam-wing, Chairman of the
Consumer Council, and Ms Gilly Wong Fung-han, then Chief
Executive of the Consumer Council.

FEERE (RA) RN THEER (RBER 7))
BR THEEXE ) BREBBRARDNKENEEEH
EREEREARREERL  BREETRFRIBLLL
DR DERSRGEERERML LT LBRE -

Dr Bernard Chan Pak-li, Acting Secretary for Commerce
and Economic Development, viewed the exhibit panels of
winning entries accompanied by Mr Clement Chan Kam-wing,
Chairman of the Consumer Council and Ms Gilly Wong Fung-
han, then Chief Executive of the Consumer Council.

FREEEEHEAKERRBRARRAEHLMERFEE
ERER  BERGERRBEEENFTHRENSE
ERHL LR -

The Guest of Honour, award presenters, Consumer Council
representatives, and the adjudication panel.

FREE  AREE HREARKTERER -
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EMPOWERING CONSUMERS
THROUGH EDUCATION

DA EI=HHBEEB K FRERET

Education is key for consumers in making informed choices and protecting themselves in an ever-

evolving and increasingly complex marketplace. Over the past half century, the Council has firmly

stood by its commitment in equipping consumers with the right knowledge to make wise and

informed choices, so as to safeguard their rights. Rapid technological advancements in the past

decade have simplified the sourcing and purchasing of consumer products, yet they have also made

it even harder to identify unscrupulous traders and ensure adequate consumer protection. The

Council continues to address this escalating challenge by empowering consumers — especially more

vulnerable groups such as young students, mentally handicapped persons, and Hong Kong's growing

elderly population — through customised educational programmes, liaison with relevant stakeholders

and community engagement that informs the needs of each generation and era, enabling them to

become responsible consumers.

HEBREAENREH A REM  AEERBEEEFHABEENNRERRE - BEYF

HHLUR - BERERTIREEERDNES - 2 HRERBERENLEE®HEES - B

EHBENANBAVEERE - BX 10 FAMERERER ERSZEPHEERELERN - B

FSTSHFBEAREB[ T EERRE  HLURKHEESE 2HNRE - HEHTIRTRIEN

B AERRIEEBESTENAEERE  BEEEFNERREE UG ARERE

AttE2EEE  BRIDEEENBBARERS - BHRFEET BRRFEEATRABCNE

ERNBERSHDLE  SIEHMRAEEENEES -
Cultivating Positive Consumer Attitude from a IMEEEEEBREE
Young Age RHXEH AR - TIRRET A B SR
In an era of technological innovations and increasing market complexity, RICNEZHEEHE  BHHEIERHESE
consumer education in childhood serves as a crucial guidepost to help young BEBRTR  REREEREHENREE
consumers develop proper consumption values and behaviours, building a solid EEEETEEER -
foundation of judicious purchases and green lifestyle for the rest of their lives.

NBRERRER TR BETE —

Experiential Learning Programme for Primary School Students — 2038 Ik A8 Z el FHEH B hRiE
Earth 2038’s Learning Journey of Sustainable Consumption REBTHARFEEEHENRGE LR
The Council upheld its commitment to sustainable consumption (SC) IBRERZ— ° 7£ 2023/24 B4 > 12038 3k
education as a key advocacy initiative. During the 2023/24 school year, the AstEZ AT B IR 1 (72038 M BRAGT
“Earth 2038's Learning Journey of Sustainable Consumption” programme &) HXIR 30 Bt EIRR - BT 90 5
(“Earth 2038 programme”) supported 30 project schools to equip students BIEE) iR 3,760 REA ZRERNAFF
with essential knowledge in SC. Over 3,760 students in total benefitted BHEBAE - R T B EEERHMAZRA
from 90 educational activities organised throughout the year. To effectively RER RNENAZEIRHESRIEHERNE
incorporate the programme into the school-based curriculum, resources Al DU Bh R T3 BTSRRI AE &) © b5k - 5F
and training were provided to a number of waitlisted schools for self- 7L 2024/25 B ERIHK S 30 BEER &
administered activities. Furthermore, the programme successfully enrolled 3130 BEBAEZIN  ESAHEHRT 41 HIK

more than 3,130 students from 30 primary schools in the 2024/25 school RAEIER -
year, with 41 school activities and training sessions conducted.

MEBEESS 2024-25 £ 89
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Extending students’ learning beyond the classroom helped connect their
SC knowledge to daily lives, hence reinforcing their knowledge acquisition
and application. A total of 9 “Experiential Learning Trips” were organised
to the LINK Sustainability Lab and the Recycling Stations operated by
GREEN@COMMUNITY for over 260 high-calibre participants of the Earth
2038 programme. Through these trips, students obtained practical knowledge of
circular economy and the most recent recycling facilities in Hong Kong that help
cultivate their SC lifestyle.

Continuous professional development was crucial for inspiring teachers to
create a variety of innovative, customised SC activities for the delivery of “Earth
2038", thus sustaining the impact of SC education in their schools. Apart from
11 training sessions conducted for project schools, 4 train-the-trainer public
seminars and workshops were organised addressing the topics of recycling and
upcycling in sustainable fashion and paper products, and industry practitioners
and social entrepreneurs were invited as guest speakers to share their
experience, which provided new insights for teachers in designing SC teaching
materials and activities.

reported having a better understanding of SC, expressed satisfaction with
the programme and were willing to adopt SC-related behaviours and habits

ZHBRAERTHUFREENERAMRARYHBRTERE © MEASERM

Feedback from Participants 2 & 8§
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Fun and Interactive New Consumer Education Programme
for Secondary School Students —

Smart Consumption Academy (SCA)

Riding on the successful launch of the revamped programme, the 1st SCA
witnessed overwhelming support from schools. Over 25,000 students from
140 schools enrolled in the 3 competitions of SCA, namely “My Unique Project
Study”, "My Witty Online Quiz" and “My Fun |G Post Creation”, which adopted
a gamified, fun and interactive approach that matched the varying attributes and
interests of individual students of different study levels.

The “My Witty Online Quiz" competition was designed to enhance students’
understanding of the Council's mission and work and equip them with
knowledge in rational and sustainable consumption. After the preliminary round
in February 2024, the finalists competed for the championship in the Live Quiz
Final Competition on 4 July 2024. All finalists demonstrated their extensive
knowledge in selected consumption topics during the 2 rounds of intense and
exciting contests.

Officiated by The Hon Alice Mak Mei-kuen, SBS, JP, Secretary for Home and
Youth Affairs, a total of 44 major awards were presented at the 1st SCA Awards
Presentation Ceremony on 12 July 2024 to recognise students’ dedication
and achievements in developing positive consumption values and attitudes to
become smart consumers, marking the programme’s successful conclusion.

During the ceremony, winners of “My Unique Project Study” showcased their
insightful thoughts about hot consumption issues through lively and interesting
drama presentations that depicted some of the key challenges faced by the
vulnerable groups during consumption and also the young generations in
practising SC. Another highlight of the ceremony was the live presentation of
“My Fun IG Post Creation” works and live voting for the major awards.
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The 2nd SCA in the 2024/25 school year continued to receive overwhelming
enrolment of 163 schools and 29,1071 students as of 31 March 2025.To enrich
students’ understanding of consumption-related issues and optimise their learning
outcomes, 6 undergraduate students and postgraduates from 3 supporting
universities, namely the Chinese University of Hong Kong, the Education
University of Hong Kong, and the University of Hong Kong, conducted 40
consultation sessions for project teams. A series of public learning activities such
as expert talks, workshops, learning trips and site visits to companies in the green
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industry were also organised, benefitting around 540 students and teachers.

Enrolment numbers of 3 modules in 2nd SCA
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My Unique Project Study

Inspires students to conduct in-depth
studies and reflections on topics around
the latest consumption trends and
consumer behaviours.
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My Witty Online Quiz

Takes on an exciting quiz competition
format to stimulate knowledge
acquisition on key topics relevant to
consumer rights protection and SC.
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My Fun IG Post Creation

Encourages students to share their

observations and thoughts on consumer
behaviour on social media platforms
among their peers.
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Empowering Vulnerable Groups to Enhance
Self-Protection

Recognising that the elderly and persons with disabilities may be particularly
vulnerable to the risks posed by unfair trade practices, the Council continued its
effort to reach out to these target groups through various tailored programmes
together with consumer education talks with a view to strengthening their self-
protection ability.

Consumer Education for Persons with Special Needs

Entering the fifth year since its implementation, the “Support Programme for
Persons with Special Needs” (“Programme”) continued to empower social
work and education practitioners in delivering workshops to enhance consumer
education for persons with autism spectrum disorder, mild intellectual disability,
and common mental disorder (“target groups”). The Programme has received
staunch support from 80 social welfare organisations, self-help groups and special
schools (“partner organisations”) to jointly assist the target groups in enhancing
their self-protection ability as consumers and promote their consumer rights.

During the year, a total of 13 train-the-trainer sessions and parent talks were
conducted for frontline staff members, social workers, teachers, family members
and caregivers of the target groups, with nearly 310 participants. 23 consumer
education workshops were subsequently organised for the target groups that
benefitted over 1,150 participants and received positive comments from various
sectors on the effectiveness and impact of these workshops.

The Council is committed to continuously strengthening collaboration with
partner organisations and also encourage new social welfare organisations or
special schools to participate in the Programme. An “Annual Experience Sharing
Session” was held on 18 December 2024 to give stakeholders an update of
the Council's work for the target groups. A team of students from a partnering
special school was invited to present a lively drama that reflected the common
consumption issues facing the MH students, e.g. lack of proper expenditure
record and budget planning, falling into online shopping pitfalls, and the benefits
of participating in the Council's MH workshops.

In addition, to boost the self-protection capabilities of vulnerable groups against
other unscrupulous sales tactics, the Council and the Hong Kong Monetary
Authority (HKMA) jointly launched a series of new virtual reality (VR) simulation
games designed to foster proper attitude towards consumption with the
responsible use of credit cards, while raising participants’ awareness of scams and
fraud prevention through a gamified learning experience. The online version was
officially launched on 31 March 2025.
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Consumer Education for Senior Citizens

As Hong Kong's population ages, the need to empower senior citizens through
consumer education has become increasingly crucial. In collaboration with
different social service organisations, 34 consumer education talks were
conducted for senior citizens either face-to-face or virtually, reaching a total of
807 participants over the year. These sessions
covered a wide range of topics, including unfair
trade practices under the Trade Descriptions
Ordinance (TDO) and consumer alerts for
seniors in areas such as health food, dried
seafood, elderly care homes, telemarketing of
health checkup plans, foreign domestic helper
services, and online shopping.

Collaboration with partner organisations was
critical in effectively disseminating important
consumer messages to the elderly and their peers. Since the
regularisation of the “Educator Scheme for Senior Citizens”
in 2022, the Council continued the partnership with 6
organisations including Christian Family Service Centre —
True Light Villa District Elderly Community Centre, ELCHK
Shatin District Community Centre for the Golden-Aged,
Yan Oi Tong Hong Kong Toi Shan Association
Neighbourhood Elderly Centre, SAGE Ho
Sang Neighbourhood Elderly Centre, Senior
Police Call and St. James' Settlement.

During the year, 74 retirees or soon-to-be
retirees aged between 50 and 77 received
the basic training, and amongst them 21 with
the most outstanding performance were
selected to undertake advanced training and
then become qualified as “Senior Educators”
after assessment. A total of 145 active
Network Members and 63 active Senior Educators, including scheme members
over the past 3 years, have been trained to date. Besides, 3 post-training activities
related to gerontechnology and SC were held to further enrich the knowledge
of scheme members.

As their core mission, Senior Educators hosted 31 community talks for their
fellow elderly, attracting 578 participants. They also actively participated in
other publicity and consumer-related activities, including attending TV interviews
by now News on the topic of banking services for the elderly and rendering
support in primary school consumer education activities. To further reach out to
the community, 2 Senior Educators co-hosted 2 workshops at the Family Well-
Being Expo in December 2024 to promote SC to families.
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Certificates of appreciation were presented to Network Members, Senior
Educators and partner organisations during the “Annual Sharing Session” on 17
December 2024 in recognition of their respective achievements and efforts in
the past year. 2 experienced Senior Educators were also invited to share their
valuable experiences of hosting consumer education talks for the elderly with an
aim of boosting the momentum.

000
A New Dedicated Webpage for the Elderly ey

To complement the Government's efforts in promoting
the “silver economy”, a new elderly webpage “Smart
Seniors”, compiling a rich collection of CHOICE articles
and videos relevant to elderly consumption released in
recent years, was launched under the Council's website
in February 2025. The said collection was published
under 3 categories, namely “Health Knowledge”,
“Life Encyclopaedia” and “Food Facts”, together with
other useful tools and information to empower senior
consumers, their family members and carers to make
smart and informed consumption choices.
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Providing Support to the Community

To cascade important consumer alerts to a wider audience, the Council
continued to conduct community talks for different target groups regularly, apart
from those for retirees and the elderly. During the year, 8 community talks were
held for primary and secondary school students, tertiary institution students and
persons recovered from mental illness, and benefitted a total of 502 participants.
A host of topics were covered including consumer rights and responsibilities,
unfair trade practices under the TDO, SC and consumer alerts in areas such as
pre-payment consumption and online shopping.

Reaching out to the wider community through engagement work was also
important in fostering consumer education for the public. Out of the 8 sessions
of community talks, the Council was invited to deliver a talk to 90 gifted primary
and secondary students in January 2025 on the theme of “Methodologies of
Product Testing Research”. In addition, a group visit to the Council's headquarters
was arranged in July 2024 for 15 secondary school students through the
HKSAR Government’s Strive and Rise Programme, which introduced the
Council's work and mission, as well as key consumption tips on online shopping
and the concept of SC to help nurture positive consumption values in them.

2 talks were delivered to a group of Elder Academy's participants through
collaboration with the Hong Kong Family Welfare Society (HKFWS) in a thematic
financial management course funded by the Labour and Welfare Bureau of the
HKSAR Government.
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FORGING CLOSER COLLABORATION
FOR CONSUMER PROTECTION /~

Mz SEFREEEEER

N\

Partnerships, collaborations and information exchange at local, regional and international levels
are crucial for the Council to discharge its duties in consumer protection and empowerment.
Outside Hong Kong, the Council has fostered links with consumer organisations in many countries
and regions, with Memoranda of Understanding (MOU) for collaboration on consumer rights
and interests signed with 35 counterparts over the years, including 30 provinces/cities in the
Mainland, as well as Macau, South Koreg, Japan, Singapore, Thailand (up to the year under review).
The Council is also active in global bodies such as Consumers International (Cl), Organisation for
Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), United Nations Conference on Trade and
Development (UNCTAD), etc. i

On the home front, the Council engages
regularly with relevant Government
departments, regulators, trade and
professional bodies. As borders fully
reopened and global travel resumed in
the past year, the Council was thankful to
reconnect with consumer counterparts
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Local Collaboration RS

The Council has closely liaised with the Commerce and Economic Development AEe—HHEEEHDHEEREBRNABK

Bureau, which oversees policy on consumer protection. The Council also worked RERRBETHE  FEEMBIFIHFINE

with other Government bureaux and departments, as well as statutory bodies ERBEF ABREHEZERTER  BE

to provide advice on matters of consumer interest, such as fair competition and ANFHRFNEETE - SRERERSE - AH

trade practices, financial and insurance services, public health and food safety, BFEMBRREZE Sl UK EEYERRSE

telecommunications, residential property and transportation issues. FEIE o

Members and staff of the Council sit on over 50 public advisory committees, AEERENBESHBEBEIB 50 BAAKEEE

offering views from consumers’ perspectives. HEEE  WWHEEAERARBERMZEER
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Anti-Scam Consumer Protection Charter 2.0

The Hong Kong Monetary Authority (HKMA) launched the Anti-Scam
Consumer Protection Charter 2.0 during the year in collaboration with the
Hong Kong Association of Banks (HKAB). The Consumer Council was one of
the supporting organisations of the Charter alongside the Hong Kong Police
Force and other statutory bodies such as the Airport Authority, Securities and
Futures Commission, Travel Industry Authority, etc. With the participation of
over 230 financial and merchant institutions, the expanded coverage of the
Charter will further assist the public in guarding against credit card scams and
other digital frauds.

Collaboration with the Mainland (including GBA)
GBA Smart Guide for Residential Properties

In tandem with the rapid development and integration of the Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area (GBA), the demand for housing within the “One-
hour Living Circle” is steadily on the rise, yet the differences in legal systems,
housing policies and even purchase restrictions across GBA cities may prove
challenging for consumers. To empower consumers with practical knowledge
on property purchase and rental in the area, the GBA Smart Guide (Residential
Properties) was launched on the Council's website on 5 February 2025 with
the strong support from consumer counterparts across GBA partner cities and
with input from the HKMA.

Serving as a one-stop online platform,
the GBA Smart Guide provides clear and
comprehensive guidance on purchasing and
renting properties in the region, featuring a
dedicated page for each of the 11 GBA cities
outlining the local real estate policy, required
documents for transaction, mortgage
requirements, property management
details, and other essential information. By
consolidating essential property transaction
information, the Guide is a powerful tool
for enhancing consumer education and
protection. Moving forward, the Council plans to expand the Guide's features
and content, further strengthening regional integration and cooperation with
GBA cities.
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Greater Bay Area Consumer Protection Meeting

Invited by the Guangdong Consumer Council (GDCC), the Council's delegation
led by the Vice-Chairman attended the captioned meeting held in Guangzhou on
6 November 2024. Other participants included senior officials from consumer
associations from the GBA. The HKSAR Government's Policy Address and
the Council's latest developments were shared at the meeting with over 50
participants.

An MOU was signed among the Consumer Councils of Guangdong, Hong
Kong and Macau on the terms of organising the GBA Meeting regularly on a
rotational basis.

Riding on the trip, visits to BYD Company Limited and Shenzhen Academy of
Metrology and Quality Inspection to understand production line and operation
were arranged by the GDCC for the Council's delegation.

20URARARET R
HEENERFEN

Signing of MOU for Cooperation with GDCC

Riding on the 50th Anniversary Cocktail Reception of the Consumer Council,
an exchange workshop with GDCC and consumer associations in the GBA
on the theme “Sustainable Consumption” was conducted on 26 April 2024.
During the event, the Council signed an MOU for strengthened integration of
consumer protection between Guangdong and Hong Kong ( (b EiE@igm
B—R{CEERRESIERED ) with GDCC, further establishing a collaboration
mechanism on cross-boundary consumer dispute resolution.

onsumer Council 2024-25 Annual Report
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Renewal of MOU with Zhejiang Consumers Council (ZCC) ENIER BT HEBEERRERS
and Shanghai Consumer Council (SCC) g CHRE) EESIFHE

Invited by ZCC and SCC, the Council's AERRENIZBERE L
representatives visited the 2 associations to renew the = ) " BTUHRENRGS - 7 2024
MOU on 8 July and 9 July 2024 respectively. Senior AE Y-S FTASARIBARE
officials from the Zhejiang Provincial Administration Bs ‘ﬁﬁf"-": ER= mtiEEE O ~ BEEEHER

merk ~uncil

for Market Regulation (ZJAMR) and Shanghai
Municipal Administration for Market Regulation, the
regulatory bodies of the ZCC and SCC respectively,
also attended and witnessed the MOU signing
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ceremonies. The history and accomplishments of the
Council in the past 50 years were presented during

the meetings. RAER -

Visitation by Department of Credit Regulation of State BxRmSEEEEEREREEEIER
Administration of Market Regulation (SAMR) EREESHEAE

A delegation from the SAMR led by Ms Liu Lin, Deputy Director General of the RABZFRATABERY  BRTISEEE
Department of Credit Regulation, visited the Council on 21 November 2024 EREEAEEEEAARIIMFERKE
during a trip to Hong Kong organised by the Association of China-appointed EEELR - WH 2024 F 11 B 21 BEHAS -
Attesting Officers. Introduction of the Council including complaints statistics, RABENMBTY RGN T BFEEFET
experience in establishing industry codes of practice were shared at the meeting. BT R EHEFTANKRSE -

Meeting with ZJAMR BN IAmisEREREHE

On 30 July 2024, a delegation of 4 led by Mr Xie Xiaoyun, Director of ZJAMR 2024 7 B30 A mIdhmBEERBRS
met with Council representatives during their participation in Mainland and Hong INERFE—T 4 ARIRKEZREZN 2024 &
Kong SAR, Macao SAR Intellectual Property Symposium 2024 held in Hong RIREFSFE RSB BERTNE .
Kong,. Topics discussed at the meeting included current consumer protection and WHRTEABEASREREH  £RAFNERS
safeguarding intellectual property. HEERERRENBERSEE
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International and Regional Collaboration
OECD Consumer Policy Ministerial Meeting 2024

In the capacity of Vice President and Council Member of Cl, the Council's then
Chief Executive joined the Cl delegation in attending the captioned meeting
themed “Consumers at the Centre of the Digital and Green Transitions” held at
the OECD Headquarters in Paris, France from 8 to 9 October 2024. She spoke
at the VIP Stakeholder Lunch “A Shared Roadmap for Safety and Sustainability”,
to share the Council's experience in advocating sustainable consumption and
insights on steps that could be

taken to make product safety and
sustainability information clearer for
consumers.

Presented alongside the meeting was
the “Voices of Change: Protecting and
empowering consumers for a better
tomorrow” photo exhibition, which
captured stories from individuals and
key stakeholders around the world,
offering a human lens on the pressing
challenges faced by consumers today. The Council's photo
submission was also selected and showcased in the exhibition.

ASEAN+3 Conference 2024 — “Consumer Protection in
the Digital Economy and Al”

The Council participated in the first ASEAN+3 Conference held in Bangkok,
Thailand from 29 to 30 August 2024 jointly organised by TCC, the Indonesian
Consumers Foundation (YLKI) and the Federation of Malaysian Consumers
Associations (FOMCA). The 2-day conference brought together consumer
organisations of the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) Plus Three
(APT) Members, including the 10 ASEAN Member States plus the People's
Republic of China, Japan and the Republic of Korea, with
the aim to exchange information on issues, challenges and
solutions on consumer protection related to the digital
economy and artificial intelligence (Al) amongst the APT
countries, and developing solutions through collaboration
and knowledge exchange on consumer protection.

The Council's then Chief Executive spoke at
the core session titled “Consumers Rights and
Advocacy from ASEAN Consumers Organizations
Plus Three Countries”, sharing the Council’s
experience as well as the risks and challenges
of digital economy and Al on consumer rights,
including Al-related online scams and copyright
issues, highlighting the importance of a robust
regulatory framework and consumer protection

on the use of Al. ~Coammrer Orgaatzations

on Consurmaer Protect]

Furthermore, she moderated the Brainstorming Session
on “Consumer Organisations in ASEAN + 3 Facing
Challenges on Consumer Protection in the Digital

Brainstorming Session:
i SEAM + 3 facing chall
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Economy and Artificial Intelligence” on the second day,
discussing the goals, critical issues and challenges to be highlighted or prioritised
by respective APT consumer organisations.
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Thailand Consumers Council (TCC) —

MOU for Collaboration on Dispute Resolution

Thailand has long been a popular travel destination for Hong Kong people, and
there has been a steep rebound in cross-border travel and consumption demand
from both Thailand and Hong Kong residents after the pandemic. In October
2024, the Council signed an MOU for collaboration on cross-border consumer
disputes with the TCC to establish an information exchange and complaint
referral mechanism.

Under the MOU, residents of either Hong Kong or Thailand involved in
consumer disputes with traders in the other party's territory may lodge their
complaints with the local consumer body at their place of residence. The
complaint referral mechanism could strengthen cooperation between the two
parties and effectively iron out obstacles that leave many consumer complaints
unresolved, including language, geographical, and jurisdictional barriers.
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Visitation by the Consumers Association of Singapore
(CASE)

A delegation from CASE led by President Mr Melvin Yong visited the Consumer
Council Services Centre in Tsim Sha Tsui on 19 April 2024. During the meeting,
the counterparts discussed the referred complaint cases after the MOU was
signed between CASE and the Council in 2019. The Council's experience in
online price comparison tools was also shared.
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Consumers International

During the year under review, the Council was a Board and Council Member of
Consumers International (Cl), a global federation championing consumer rights
which comprises over 200 organisations from almost 100 countries and regions
worldwide. Sharing a kindred vision, Cl's mission is to work closely with its
constituent member organisations and to strengthen networks to protect, inform,
give voice to, and secure rights for, consumers at regional and international levels.

World Consumer Rights Day 2025

On World Consumer Rights Day (WCRD) (15 March) each year;, Cl brings
together the consumer movement to raise global
awareness on consumer rights, protection and

empowerment. In support of WCRD 2025 and its ~ FFeRAHEN 2

B EEERE

FR - ASREBEBNESTELEEGRE -
HEOEB R — AR NHES RS MEEEER
AEEER - S BIER I 100 ERERMME
B 200 EHBERE - BEMERSHES
RERS— - e EEKREE  BBH
NEBREMBNERRBENAE  HHES
BB RHEN  BTIREEEBNRES -

B HEEERH 2025

TEFEEEESE#ERE (3 A 15 B) ' B
EBMHe REHASMHEREE &0
RE2REEEEER - RENEEN
B REFEBEESESA 2025
MEFTETAFEANEARFELETH

theme “A Just Transition to Sustainable Lifestyles”,
the Council published an article about “Sustainable
Lifestyle” in the March 2025 issue (#581) of
CHOICE Magazine, with the aim to advocating for
consumers to transit to a more sustainable lifestyle
through energy-saving practices, reducing the use of
plastics and green procurement.

Echoing the same theme, the Council's then Chief
Executive spoke at the opening session of Cl's
Sustainable Lifestyles Summit 2025 on 10 March
2025, highlighting the importance of availability,
accessibility and affordability of sustainable choices to
drive consumers to live more sustainably.

More on WCRD 2025 in the chapter “Promoting Sustainable Consumption”
(p56).

Consumer Coalition to Stop Scams

The Council participated in the Consumer Coalition to Stop Scams, which is a
global, consumer-led coalition initiated by Cl to stop online scams uniting over
40 cross-sector stakeholders from all regions, including consumer organisations,
enforcement agencies, digital platforms and payment providers. The coalition
aims to address the issue of online scams by developing consumer-centric anti-
scam policy positions, shaping scam prevention business practices, and advocating
stronger international responses to online scams.

Sustainable Consumption Taskforce

As a member of the ClI's Sustainable Consumption Taskforce, the Council
monitored the development of an international legally binding instrument on
plastic pollution in the Intergovernmental Negotiating Committee on Plastic
Pollution, and participated in discussions on various topics including plastics
pollution and circular economy, etc.
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COMMENDATIONS AND

COMPLIMENTS

The Council is extremely grateful to receive hundreds of messages of support from
CHOICE Magazine readers, followers of its social media channels and other sources
each year, expressing thanks for the Council's consumer advice or efforts in complaints
resolution. Awards from authoritative bodies also give recognition to the Council’s
achievements in various operational dimensions, such as governance, communications,
public education and talent development. Apart from providing assurance that the
Council is meeting public expectations, these commendations and compliments are
an invaluable boost for staff's morale and pride in their mission of protecting and
empowering consumers in Hong Kong.
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9th Media Convergence Awards

CHOICE Magazine was honoured to receive 2
accolades at the captioned Awards, including the
“Media Convergence Award — Overall Lifestyle
and Infotainment” and the “Media Convergence
Award — Top 10 Popular Media Websites".
Organised by the Hong Kong Association
of Interactive Marketing, the Awards aim to
recognise the outstanding performance of
local media in the fields of television, radio,
newspapers and magazines in the past year,
commending their efforts in utilising technology
to disseminate news and information.
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The Ombudsman’s Awards 2024

The Council was delighted for two of its staff members to
receive the Ombudsman’s Awards in 2024, for the twelfth
consecutive year. Ms Kathy Tse Hiu-wa and MrTim Chan
Hoi-ki, Complaints and Advice Officers, were presented
with the Award this year in recognition of their exceptional
performance in customer service and handling consumer
complaints.
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Best Annual Reports Awards 2024

THE HONG KONG MANAGEMENT ASSOCIATION

- BEST ANNUAL REPORTS AWARDS 2024 The Council's Annual Report 2022-23 was awarded 2
accolades at the captioned Awards organised by the Hong

Excellence Report Award Kong Management Association, namely the “Excellence
Consumer Council Report Award” and the “Excellence Award for Small

Size Entries”. This annual competition aims to encourage
the publication of timely, accurate, informative and well-
presented annual reports and to recognise and honour the
organisations for their exemplary achievement in producing
such reports.
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Digital Accessibility Recognition Scheme 2024-25 2024-2025 FE

The Council's website and various applications received a total of 12 awards r %E%ﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁ%%f%ﬂ d

at the captioned Scheme organised by Hong Kong Internet Registration BEETBEEMEEERAT (HKRC) £
Corporation Limited (HKIRC) and co-organised by the Digital Policy Office of W BFHERATRN T I EERE
the HKSAR Government. This included 5 “Triple Gold Award”, which recognises HE | SEERSRTELBEEELT ) DUEE
recipients of the “Gold Award” for 3 consecutive scheme years. The Scheme HEARBETESHEBERE  BHEERA
aims to promote digital inclusion, ensuring equal access to digital services for all MRS - AQNAEITRLE 12 @S
members of society to contribute to Hong Kong's development as a smart city. I WEBE N EERRER ) EheiE51a

T=Ee® BTEBIFES '£8, NE
BRESA

Website / Application Category
Ak / AR £85I
Consumer Council Website Triple Gold Award =@&42
HEEEEE =] Elderly-friendly Award K&K Z5E

Consumer Council — Booking System Website Gold Award
HEEREE - BORK HE Elderly-friendly Award

Oil Price Watch (Android) Mobile App Triple Gold Award
JREZEEE (Android) mEERER Elderly-friendly Award

Oil Price Watch (iOS) Mobile App Triple Gold Award
SMEEHRE (i0S) mEERER Elderly-friendly Award

Oil Price Watch Website Triple Gold Award
MEENE HE=] Elderly-friendly Award

Online Price Watch Website Triple Gold Award
HLER—Ea e Elderly-friendly Award

e “ @ S @uaseas
20242025 F BB EIS R =T AT B RIS - = EE i

Digital Accessibility Recognition Scheme 2024-2025 Awards Presentation Ceremony - Triple Gold Award
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Words of Thanks

The Council deeply appreciates the positive feedback from partners and
stakeholders, as well as consumers and readers of CHOICE Magazine in
recognition of the professionalism of our staff. Positive sentiment from the
audience of the Council's various social media channels is also highly appreciated.

Selected examples are shown below:

(Note: The following messages from a partner organisation and complainants have been edited to

enhance readability and comprehension)
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Case Highlight EZXEEs

Compliment Letter by The Hong Kong Joint Council of
Parents of the Mentally Handicapped (HKJCPMH)

Invited by HKJCPMH, the Council conducted a consumer rights talk for a
group of parents of persons with autism spectrum disorder, mild intellectual
disability and/or common mental disorder on 21 February 2025. Featuring
the topic of sales malpractices deployed by unscrupulous fitness and beauty
centres, Virtual Reality (VR) simulation of role play activities and case sharing
were adopted to enhance the learning outcome.

The organisation expressed their appreciation to the Council via email for
the impact of this talk on empowering the participants’ self-protection ability,
which successfully helped them avert fraudulent sales tactics for health
checkup services after attending the session.

REEEHEALTRRBEIRBE
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Case Highlight EXEZL

The complainant, a Japanese tourist, booked a Hong Kong hotel for 6-7 August
2024 via an online platform, but after paying in full, she discovered the dates had
been changed to 2-3 September 2024 due to a system error.

Despite the online platform’s request to amend the dates, the hotel refused
changes by citing its policy. The complainant thus sought help from the Council
on 22 July 2024. After conciliation by Senior Complaints Officer Ms Wong, the
platform rectified the booking by end of July, and the complainant expressed
heartfelt thanks to the Council. The case was also referred to the Travel Industry
Authority for record as the online platform was a licensed travel agent.
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My family and | truly appreciate your help
and the lovely emails, which have provided
us with a lot of comfort. | am looking
forward to enjoying the trip and stay in

Hong Kong.




Commendations and Compliments
-

Case Highlight EXE2s

The complainant found out the telecom company added unauthorised “Call Guard”
service charges of $25 each on his family's 5 mobile contracts in September 2024
without prior consent. Despite requesting cancellation, charges persisted.
He lodged a complaint with the Council in November 2024. Following

conciliation efforts by Complaints Officer Mr Chow, the telecom EEiC
company fully refunded add-on charges and waived 1 month's regular BEH BRI A o B TAFAMERRR J AN
mobile fees. The complainant later praised the Council's efficient dispute BRE  CEAHBELEBCITIEA 3 5
resolution and thanked Mr Chow and Advice Assistant Ms Mok for their _ ‘L N v; . - '
support BIEREA B - LIt BRBHARYTRRALE
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—, S g e e y _ The complainant was dissatisfied with an unbalanced eyebrow tattoo from
SRR BB REEES - REBKIR plaiiant was desaes i an | e
e Py N A a beauty centre, which she had purchased a package for. Opining that the
B EISASEISHVENM L 3 BRAERES - . .

A (B JE 2 A\ arEE |, SgwEh tattoo looked fine, the beauty centre declined a full refund of $6,510, instead
IMETRIPIRZ DA PIINNRR - RILFA i ol refund of $1.000.which cted by th i
HAEEEERE o offering a partial refund of $1, , which was rejected by the complainant.

’ The complainant lodged a complaint with the Council in April 2024. After

Case Highlight EZEEZ,

= /aAE s et NPy, iliation by the case officer Ms Kwok, the centre agreed to a full refund

HORBROSHIBIMEPINER - | O

Eﬁz‘égﬁiﬁ ﬂﬁ;ﬂié.—é PIUNTR of $6,510.The shop later praised Ms Kwok's professionalism and impartiality
= Lt o ' Joio ©

in resolving the dispute. The case highlighted the Council’s unbiased role
in helping both the consumer and trader to reach a mutually acceptable

V.,

agreement.
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s Hﬂa}@ﬁé‘{li\\k ~ B~ 1 | would like to express my greatest thanks to Mr Lo who
o is very caring, patient and professional. He tried his
S EE E___ - 4| best to understand my difficult situation. He followed

wlse b Sy up with my incident regularly and advised us how to

FTSRE EZNZShE B | respond to Il Employment Agency in a professional
BEROBA - FEESBHA / ; manner... He' has a very big kind and sincere heart and

B | expressed his sympathy on my loss of father. At that
REBAPRANEARBERI time, no [other] authorities have really given me a
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Commendations and Compliments
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Compliments on Social Media
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Appendix 1 - Bfi#&—

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of

Consumer Council
(Established in Hong Kong under the Consumer Council Ordinance)

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Consumer Council (the
“Council”) set out on pages 113 to 145, which comprise the statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2025, and the statement of income
and expenditure, the statement of changes in funds and reserves and
the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Council as at 31 March 2025 and of its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our report. We are
independent of the Council in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Matter

The financial statements of the Council for the year ended 31 March
2024 were audited by another independent auditor whose report
dated 19 July 2024 expressed an unmodified opinion on those financial
statements.

Other Information

The Members of the Council are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report but does not include the financial statements and our auditor's
report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of

Consumer Council
(Established in Hong Kong under the Consumer Council Ordinance)

Responsibilities of the Council Members and Those Charged with
Governance for the Financial Statements

The Members of the Council are responsible for the preparation of
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA, and for such
internal control as the Members determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Members are responsible for
assessing the Council's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the Members either intend to
liquidate the Council or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Members of the Council are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Council's financial
reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Council's internal control.

Financial Statements
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Appendix 1 - Bfi#&—

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of

Consumer Council
(Established in Hong Kong under the Consumer Council Ordinance)

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
(Continued)

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the Members.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the Members' use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Council's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Council to cease to continue as a going
concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 22 July 2025

Tong Wai Hang
Practising Certificate number: P06231
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Consumer Council S BEEEE€

Statement of Income and Expenditure WX {5 E 3R

for the year ended 31 March 2025 2 _F _hF=A=1+—HULFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUBITTHRR)

EUECEES

Financial Statements

Income

Government subvention
Non-recurrent projects subventions
Sales of CHOICE magazine
Administrative service income
Interest on bank deposits

Sundry income

Less:

Expenditure

Staff costs

Non-recurrent projects expenses

Testing and research

Office accommodation and related expenses
Depreciation for property, plant and equipment
Depreciation for right-of-use assets

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Production and marketing cost of CHOICE magazine
Repairs and maintenances

IT related services

Consumer international membership fees
Consumer education

Publicity and public relations

Consumer protection studies

International conferences and duty visits
Auditor's remuneration

Legal and professional fees

Council member expenses

Interest expenses on lease liabilities

Other administrative expenses

(Deficit)/surplus for the year

WA

BURFEER
FRRREMIE RN
HE GEE2) BT
ITHARFEHA
RITERA S
FETRAN

L

X

ERNZN

FFKEMIBEX W

AR FT

MEENEREER

W ~ AR RRIBRIITE

EHEEENITE

REW* - ez RREHIER
CGEE) RTIHRLEEE

HEERRE

BB ER AR

BEHEEREEESE

HEEHE

=S UNE

REHE BRI

Brg MG

B AN <

FEMEXER

ZEGREMX

AE&EMN S
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FEE (BE) /2%

Notes

fyat

23

oo

10

6

22

2025 2024
S “EITUE
HKS HKS

BT BT
138,988,608 136,525,253
14,408,357 17,786,599
858,066 1,731,564
992,435 1,142,392
2,924,690 3,384,839
199,058 214,398
158,371,214 160,785,045
107,189,055 104,655,873
8,799,057 11,241,999
8,388,814 8,801,203
4,928,907 3,633,958
10,586,490 8,812,023
2,779,218 2,009,881

- 360,268

1,656,090 1,945,660
1,900,391 2,767,452
4,328,401 3,771,692
575,274 547,568
1,143,985 1,237,025
1,396,463 1,814,817
862,960 506,703
67,052 307,957
205,000 214,300
2,416,014 1,333,127
20,800 25,200
441,306 213,821
3,740,053 3,080,418
161,425,330 157,280,945
(3,054,116) 3,504,100

The notes on pages 118 to 145 form part of the financial statements. & 1188 EF 145 BN T BN IR ERAME PR ©
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Consumer Council S BEEEE€
Statement of Financial Position BEf #&AR 3R
asat31March2025 R_F _FRF=H=+—H

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUBITTHRR)

2025 2024
“ES"hF B U
Notes HKS HKS
BYET JBIT JBIT

Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment W~ e NGRIE 9 74,082,914 66,810,118
Right-of-use assets EREEE 10 5,376,741 9,919,898
79,459,655 76,730,016

Current assets MENEE
Account receivables, deposits and prepayments  fEUBRFR &% KT RIE 11 3,086,648 4,284,786
Advances to staffs REFETHFESR 11 17,119 18,145
Amount due from Consumer Legal Action Fund SBEEFIESHEKGIE 11 992,435 1,142,392
Subventions to be claimed 1R REVETR 12 - 5,375,425
Bank balances and cash SRITHBRNIAS 13 96,571,842 97,152,559
100,668,044 107,973,307
Current liabilities PiEh=Li

Subscriptions received in advance TEUWET B - 608,118
Account payables and accrued expenses BRI IERTE A 14 10,900,807 14,406,856
Provision for untaken leaves R B FEREE 5,855,240 6,415,287
Subventions received in advance FEDeEN 15 62,617,901 51,966,897
Lease liabilities HE&E 16 1,849,769 2,680,834
81,223,717 76,077,992
Net current assets MENEERE 19,444,327 31,895,315
Total assets less current liabilities BEEHERREIAE 98,903,982 108,625,331

Non-current liabilities FERBEE
Lease liabilities HEEE 16 3,544,001 6,795,219
Provision for restoration cost BERBR ARG 400,000 900,000
Subventions received in advance FAWEE TR 15 4,436,957 7,352,972
8,380,958 15,048,191
NET ASSETS FBEE 90,523,024 93,577,140

T4  Consumer Council 2024-25 Annual Report



Financial Statements Ef#$R%

Consumer Council S BEEEE€
Statement of Financial Position BEf #&AR 3R

as at 31 March 2025 (Continued) R —_F_HRF=A=+—H (&)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUBITTHRR)

2025 2024
B0 HE “E e
Notes HKS HKS
[ JBIT BT

Represented by: wE:
Leasehold property control account THEYESFIRIE 17 52,397,398 42,532,861
Equipment control account R EIBRIE 18 3,628,807 1,663,779
Designated fund for approved projects BEBHEBZIEEES 19 15,486,352 29,323,959
General fund —ES 19,010,467 20,056,541
90,523,024 93,577,140

The financial statements on pages 113 to 145 were approved and authorised for issue by the Members of Consumer Council on 22
July 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

gﬁ(\% 113 BEE% 145 BMBEREZEN B AF A+ A EEEZS QR EETRERM - WHATRRSE

Mr. Francis Ho Ying Foo
AIEE L
Acting Chief Executive

EIRAsE

The notes on pages 118 to 145 form part of the financial statements. 51188 255 1458 KT8 B ISR I E B EHD
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Consumer Council B EEZE€
Statement of Changes in Funds and Reserves B & & fE B E %

for the year ended 31 March 2025 i Z _ S _FAF=F=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( BI#ITTHRR)

Leasehold Designated
property Equipment fund for
control control approved General
account account projects fund
HEWE ®iE REEBZ —f Total
HHIRIE HHIRIE BEES e a5
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
BT BT BT BT BT
(Note 17) (Note 18) (Note 19)
(Bf&r17) (MIsE18)  (FHEE19)
At 1 April 2023 NZE_=FmA—H 43,937,180 1,484,621 13,289,787 31,361,452 90,073,040
Surplus for the year RNEERR - - - 3,504,100 3,504,100
Current year addition  AEEIEHNSEE 220,000 1,181,962 17,675,205 (19,077,167) -
Current year utilisation ANEE([FHTEE (1,624,319)  (1,002,804)  (1,641,033) 4,268,156 -
At31March2024and WN_FE_NFE=F=+—H
1 April 2024 RS puEmNE—H 42,532,861 1,663,779 29,323,959 20,056,541 93,577,140
Deficit for the year ANEEEE - - - (3,054,116)  (3,054,116)
Current year addition RNEEZIEINSRE 13,101,002 3,706,320 11,487,982 (28,295,304) -
Current year utilisation ANEE([FHTEE (3,236,465) (1,741,292) (25,325,589) 30,303,346 -
At 31 March 2025 RS- FE=A=+—§ 52,397,398 3,628,807 15,486,352 19,010,467 90,523,024

The notes on pages 118 to 145 form part of the financial statements. =& 118 B X 5 145 BB SRR E P o
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Consumer Council B EEHES

Statement of Cash Flows IR& R ER

for the year ended 31 March 2025 B E _ S _FAHF=F=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUBTTIRR )

Financial Statements

Operating activities

(Deficit)/surplus for the year

Adjustments for:

- Subventions utilisation on property, plant and
equipment

- Interest expenses on lease liabilities

- Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

- Depreciation of right-of-use assets

- Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

- Gain on lease modification

- Interest income

Operating gain before working capital changes

Decrease/(Increase) in account receivables,
deposits and prepayments

Decrease in advances to staffs

Decrease in amount due from Consumer Legal
Action Fund

(Decrease)/ Increase in subventions to be claimed

Decrease in subscriptions received in advance

(Decrease)/Increase in account payables and
accrued expenses

(Decrease)/Increase in provision for untaken leaves

Net cash generated from operating activities

Investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Placement in time deposits with original maturity
over three months

Withdrawal of time deposits with original maturity
over three months

Interest received

Net cash (used in)/ generated from investing
activities

Financing activities

Subventions utilised for non-recurrent projects
Subventions received for non-recurrent projects
Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities
Interest paid for lease liabilities

Net cash generated from financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year
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(AR IREREESHEEHE

AERE
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BEESEECASED
SAHEEREZHNE

ABEEBFTBCREEER
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RAFNZRERRSEEY
REFEECRERRESEEY

Notes

(hEzS

22

22

2025
_E_HEF
HKS

JBIT

(3,054,116)

2024
| e
HKS
BT

3,504,100

(5,609,300) (6,544,600)
441,306 213,821
10,586,490 8,812,023
2,779,218 2,009,881

- 360,268

(382,542) (100,000)
(2,924,690) (3,384,839)
1,836,366 4,870,654
855,265 (1,310,039)
1,026 12,287
149,957 219,355
5,375,425 (3,803,157)
(608,118) (342,543)
(3,506,049) 7,539,495
(560,047) 291,295
3,543,825 7,477,347
(17,859,286) (18,341,553)

(70,000,000)  (121,000,000)
61,500,000 144,082,000
3,267,563 3,244,600
(23,091,723) 7,985,047
(8,799,057)  (11,241,999)
22,143,346 23,322,633
(2,435,802) (1,635,840)
(441,306) (213,821)
10,467,181 10,230,973
(9,080,717) 25,693,367
60,652,559 34,959,192
51,571,842 60,652,559

The notes on pages 118 to 145 form part of the financial statements. R 118 BE 2 145
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Consumer Council  HEEEZES
Notes to the Financial Statements Bf }&3R izt

For the year ended 31 March2025s & E _F " AF—HA=1+—HI&EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( BUETTHRR )
1. OBJECTIVES AND OPERATION OF THE COUNCIL

The Consumer Council (the “Council”) is a body corporate
with perpetual succession established under the Consumer
Council Ordinance 1977 (Chapter 216, Laws of Hong Kong) for
the purpose of protecting and promoting the interests of
consumers of goods, immovable property and services. It is
mainly funded by Government subventions. The Council is
also appointed as trustee for the Consumer Legal Action Fund
under a Deed of Trust for the purpose of offering financial
assistance to consumers in seeking legal redress, remedies
and protection.

The address of the registered office and principal place of
operation of the Council is 22nd Floor, K. Wah Centre, 191
Java Road, North Point, Hong Kong.

The Council is exempted from profits tax under the provision
of section 87 of the Inland Revenue Ordinance.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is also the functional currency of the Council.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(a) Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Council has applied the following
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily effective
for the Council’s annual period beginning on 1 April 2024 for
the preparation of the financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16  Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements
and HKFRS 7

The application of the amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in the current year has had no material impact on
the Council’s financial position and performance for the
current or prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these financial statements.

T8 Consumer Council 2024-25 Annual Report
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Consumer Council  HEEEZES
Notes to the Financial Statements Bf }&3R izt

For the year ended 31 March2025s & E _F " AF—HA=1+—HI&EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( BUETTHRR )

2.

(b)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards in
issue but not yet effective

The Council has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have been

issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability*

Amendments to HKFRS9 Amendments to the Classification
and HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Amendments to HKFRS 9  Contracts Referencing Nature —
and HKFRS 7 Dependent Electricity?

Amendments to HKFRS Annual Improvements to HKFRS

Accounting Standards Accounting Standards — Volume
112
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in

Financial Statements?

Amendments to HKFRS Sale or Contribution of Assets
10 and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

Except for the new HKFRS Accounting Standards mentioned
below, the Members of the Council anticipate that the
application of all these new and amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards will have no material impact on the
financial statements in the foreseeable future.

Financial Statements Ef#$R%
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Consumer Council  HEEEZEE
Notes to the Financial Statements Bf }& R =M=

For the year ended 31 March 2025 82 " " AF =B =1+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUEBTTIRR )

3.1

3.2

(a)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements”
HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial

Statements”, which sets out requirements on presentation
and disclosures in financial statements, will replace HKAS 1
“Presentation of Financial Statements”. This new HKFRS
Accounting Standard, while carrying forward many of the
requirements in HKAS 1, introduces new requirements to
present specified categories and defined subtotals in the
statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in the notes to
the financial statements and improve aggregation and
disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the financial
statements. In addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been
moved to HKAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors” and HKFRS 7 “Financial
Instruments: Disclosure”. Minor amendments to HKAS 7
“Statement of Cash Flows” and HKAS 33 “Earnings per Share”
are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027, with early application permitted. The application of the
new standard is expected to affect the presentation of the
statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the future
financial statements. The Council in the process of assessing
the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the Council’s financial
statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

Basis of preparation of financial statements

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by HKICPA. These
financial statements have been prepared on a basis consistent
with the accounting policies in the 2024 financial statements.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical
cost basis. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value
of the consideration given in exchange for goods or services
at the date of transaction.

Material accounting policies

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

The Council recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when "control" of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.
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Consumer Council  HEEEZEE
Notes to the Financial Statements Bf }& R =M=

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B E_F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3.2

(a)

(LUBTTRR)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Material accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

. the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Council's performance as
the Council performs;

. the Council's performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Council
performs; or

. the Council's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Council and the Council
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

(i) Government subventions

Government subventions for recurrent projects are
recognised when funds are appropriated by the Government.

Government subventions for non-recurrent projects are
recognised as income over the periods necessary to match
with the related costs which the subventions are intended to
compensate on a systematic basis.

(ii) Capital contribution
Contribution of cash and capital assets by the Government of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the "HKSAR")

are accounted for as capital contribution and recognised in
the appropriate funds and reserves account.

(iii) Sales of product

Sales of CHOICE magazine is recognised at a point in time when
the magazine is delivered to the customer.

(iv) Service income

Service income from administrative services is recognised over
time when services are rendered.
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Consumer Council  HEEEZEE
Notes to the Financial Statements Bf }& R =M=

For the year ended 31 March 2025 82 " " AF =B =1+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUEBTTIRR )

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

(b) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Assets in the course of development for production supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost less any
impairment loss. Costs include professional fees capitalised in
accordance with the Council's accounting policy. Such assets
are classified to the appropriate categories of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets,
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in statement of the
income and expenditure.

(c) Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
and only when the Council becomes a party to the contractual
provisions instruments and on a trade date basis.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers” ("HKFRS 15"). Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL")) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial assets or financial liabilities at
FVTPL are recognised immediately in the statement of
income and expenditure.
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Consumer Council  HEEEZEE
Notes to the Financial Statements Bf }& R =M=

For the year ended 31 March 2025 82 " " AF =B =1+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUEBTTIRR )

3.

3.2

(c)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions and are
not designated as at FVTPL subsequently measured at
amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The Council’s financial assets at amortised cost include
account receivables, advances to staffs, amount due from
Consumer Legal Action Fund, subvention to be claimed and
bank balances.

Interest income from financial assets

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of
the reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit impaired.
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Consumer Council  HEEEZEE
Notes to the Financial Statements Bf }& R =M=

For the year ended 31 March 2025 82 " " AF =B =1+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUEBTTIRR )

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

(c) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Council performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss ("ECL") on financial assets which are subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments” ("HKFRS 9") (including account receivables,
advances to staffs, amount due from Consumer Legal Action
Fund, subvention to be claimed and bank balances). The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessments are done based on the Council's historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as
the forecast of future conditions.

The ECL on these assets are assessed collectively using a
provision matrix with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Council measures the loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the Council recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Council compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Council considers both
guantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account

when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

124 Consumer Council 2024-25 Annual Report

3.

3.2

(R)

MBEBRERRHUEENERGBERRES
(%)

BERGEBER ()
SHMTA (&)
SREE ()
SHEENRE

ZEENRE (BFBYBEREEA) 595
@M T A, (" (BEEYBHRELER)
95k, ) AFHBENSHEE (BEE
WERSR ~ et B TATASGR ~ HBEEH
ARE BRI EMGRIR © RIS M ERTTE
B ) WIAMEEBRETRENE - Al
EEBRNSENE —EREEBES

PUR BR B BB RIEERBRAVELL o

2HABEEEREENEE T ANTER
EREA - FFEARNENSHREES
MIEMEERE - AR - 12 BRTEHRES
BEEERANHREREMR 12 B AARE
BEMBNEMH AP EHNE I DTS
EEBE - FHEDNREREENELEE
BERARET  UREEBARENE
E —REER T LH IR E BB ERIR
TR T fify LS 3 2R 2R O Y FROBU F U 5
2 o

ZEEEMANEEERRZEEN DA
ARRAEHH BB RIS ©

HWRFBEHEMTR - RE S ENEER
wBER 12 ERTEMEERIR - BRIFBER
ERREERRBRE L EZERT
ZEGEe 2 HEREEHBBMELER -
FEEAEREHAMEEBRRRRER
BREBURBEEON AN HARE
BEELT -

(=) EERBREELA

AAEERRBERERURALEE L
Tty ZEg@gneM T ARN®REHHR
AEONARESH T ANERERBH
BAEBEONRERFEHILR o fEHAFME
B ZE@SEEAELABENESR
EMER  8EEEKBELUAERAR
BAREREIELEER -

BEMS @ sSMEEERRAELERE LA
SERBLUTER !



Consumer Council  HEEEZEE
Notes to the Financial Statements Bf }& R =M=

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B E_F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3.

3.2

(c)

(LUsTRR)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument's external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor's ability to
meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

. an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor's ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Council presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Council
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Council regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

(ii) Definition of default

The Council considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Council, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Council).

Irrespective of the above, the Council considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 60 days past
due unless the Council has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf }& R =M=

For the year ended 31 March 2025 82 " " AF =B =1+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUEBTTIRR )

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

(c) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
of default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

. the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or

contractual reasons relating to the borrower's
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider; or

. it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(iv) Write-off policy

The Council writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or when the amounts are over one year past
due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Council's recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in the statement of income and expenditure.

(v) Low credit risk

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

. it has a low risk of default;

. the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term;
and
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf }& R =M=

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B E_F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUEBTTIRR )

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

(c) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v) Low credit risk (Continued)

. adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

(vi) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given default
is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Council in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Council expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for account receivables and subventions to be
claimed are considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward looking macroeconomic
information.

For collective assessment, the Council takes into
consideration the following characteristics when formulating
the grouping:

. Past-due status;
. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
. External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by Members of the Council
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

The Council recognises an impairment gain or loss in the
statement of income and expenditure for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of accounts receivables, where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.
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Consumer Council  HEEEZEE
Notes to the Financial Statements Bf }& R =M=

For the year ended 31 March 2025 82 " " AF =B =1+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUEBTTIRR )

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

(c) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Council are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including account payables and accrued
expenses are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method, unless the effect of discounting
would be insignificant, in which case they are stated at cost.

Derecognition

The Council derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirely, the
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in
the statement of income and expenditure.

The Council derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Council's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in the statement of income and
expenditure.

(d) Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Council reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
the Council estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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Consumer Council  HEEEZEE
Notes to the Financial Statements Bf }& R =M=

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B E_F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUEBTTIRR )

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

(d) Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-

use assets (Continued)

In addition, the Council assesses whether there is indication
that corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication
exists, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the
Council compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in the statement of income and
expenditure.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a
group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group
of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in the statement
of income and expenditure.

Financial Statements

“hEFE=R=1+—HLEE

E?%)ﬁﬁiﬁ;‘@%%%&ik%ﬁﬁﬁ%%
F

ERSFBOR (/)

4(@%)\ HeR  RIBRERBEERE
&

5 ZEGFEAREERSFANRE
BEZIR - MEERRIR - 7A@
FEL-—E/REENERT RAAEE
%?&%EE?H@EUE’JE%EE“W » BRI
NERAEIATHAGE L BN EE
NE/NREEE B AR

AW EIEE /A FENRHEXREMES
REEHEETHNREE - BT EERE
B > SRAURRERIHST EREE
ERZEE (ARESELBEMN ) EREH
BRERBASRHERBHRAIREEX
RHERTRIRIRS R BB RTE

MEEE (NRLELBR) TR
ESBORKERE  WEE (RBSEL
Bt ) MIRAEEROEEARESE -
RATHRAER—EEEARERSES
B> AREERATEEHATS -
BERUBESELBAHARCREE (&
EORERMARSEL BN ATEER
AREEHD REE) DRSEEBL
AR FREI S - BB
EHRRTUHER -

#}Wﬁ%?ﬁfﬁ%?ﬁﬁé@ ZEE (XReE
BASRSEABEMMAR ) WIREEY
BD:%E—N&IEIE%’EZﬂ STG{E - MERTIE AN
ZIRABNSBBZEE (NRSELS
MRREESBMAR ) NEEFEEIL R
HIRBESEMERCKREE - ZELDN
EEIERRNI S A ER AR o

HEEES® 2024-25 £ 129

EUECEES



Appendix 1 - Bfi#&—

Consumer Council  HEEEZEE
Notes to the Financial Statements Bf }& R =M=

For the year ended 31 March 2025 82 " " AF =B =1+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUEBTTIRR )

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL  ACCOUNTING  POLICY  INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
(e) Leases
Definition of a lease

The Council assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a
lease at inception of the contract. A contract is, or contains, a
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of
initial application or arising from business combinations, the
Council assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease
based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such
contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Council as a lessee

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Council applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of land and building and equipment that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option.
It also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-
value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-
line basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

. any initial direct costs incurred by the Council; and

. an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Council in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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Consumer Council  HEEEZEE
Notes to the Financial Statements Bf }& R =M=

For the year ended 31 March 2025 82 " " AF =B =1+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUEBTTIRR )

3.

3.2

(e)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Material accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Council as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Council is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Council presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Council recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the
present value of lease payments, the Council uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date
if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;
. variable lease payments that depend on an index or a

rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date;

. amounts expected to be payable by the Council under
residual value guarantees;

. the exercise price of a purchase option if the Council
is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

. payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Council exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf }& R =M=

For the year ended 31 March 2025 82 " " AF =B =1+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUEBTTIRR )

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

(e) Leases (Continued)

The Council as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Council remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

. the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which
case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

. the lease payments change in which cases the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The Council presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not
part of the original terms and conditions are accounted for as
lease modifications, including lease incentives provided

through forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Council accounts for a lease modification as a separate

lease if:

. the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

. the consideration for the leases increases by an

amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for
the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Council remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at
the effective date of the modification.

The Council accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional lease
or non-lease components, the Council allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf }& R =M=

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B E_F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3.

3.2

(f)

(8)

(h)

(LUBTTRR)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL  ACCOUNTING  POLICY  INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of the Council,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on the settlement of monetary items
and on retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in the
statement of income and expenditure in the period in which
they arise.

Short term employee benefits

Salaries and paid annual leave are accrued in the year in which
the associated services are rendered by employees to the
Council.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans
are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions. The assets of the
plans are held separately from those of the Council in an
independently administered fund.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Council is funded mainly by Government subventions.
The Council members manage its funds to ensure that the
Council will be able to continue as a going concern. The
Council's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 82 " " AF =B =1+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUEBTTIRR )

5. NON-RECURRENT PROJECTS SUBVENTIONS 5. FERCEMETE B Bk
2025 2024
_S"HE = SR oz S
HKS HKS
BT BT
) st (oY
Revamp and deV(.elop the signature monthly Eﬁz;&@é’éﬁ/\ﬁﬁ (Ea=0) 1,489,803 1,327,882
CHOICE magazine CGEEY AR
Renovation and refurbishment projects RIS ZERHIER 1,649,537 3,376,846
Time-limited posts AR T 2,232,591 2,657,538
WS
De.velopme.nt and enhancement of . Sﬂﬁ@@{lﬁmw EZRSINE 3,629,628 1,692,549
information systems and data security BETa
Auto-fuel market study BREBHTHISE 1,035,612 1,120,787
Re‘jivz\éilii)zment of the Council's official S E e A 1,578,277 1,209,852
) e ) e P 52
Job creation scheme under Anti-Epidemic Bﬁfg}\ﬁi?%%ﬁ?ﬁj;& 209,079 4,092,174
Fund BiAIsral
. u N -
Event Fommemoratmg the 50th . SH %%‘Kg ==y VA e e | 1434,545 1,076,739
Anniversary of Consumer Council FEVEED
——— o
Greater Bf'ay Area Forum on consumer - z:_fiij;,? EHESE 6,000 283,830
protection 2023 MR IRERE
Enhancing training programme ns&aEIIER 52,650 171,855
; N e 4
Enhancement on the Complaint Case ¥5 1j.< =SB RS 347,635 281,052
Management system BEtEl
Upgrading and replacing virtualisation EE B S M AR AN 25 680 )
infrastructure B ’
Consumer protection study SHEERENE 223,000 -
Other projects HihigH 494,320 495,495
14,408,357 17,786,599
6. SALES OF CHOICE MAGAZINE 6. SHE (RiEEY AT
Net loss from sales of CHOICE magazine after deduction of CEEY BT B ESEEINBRER
printing, artwork, postage and promotion costs amounting to IREEET ~ EUE L EEE R %A 798,024 3
HK$798,024 (2024: HK$214,096). Tt (/04 : 214,096 35T ) o
7. STAFF COSTS 7. BTER

Staff costs include an amount of HK$6,090,930 (2024: ETRAEIE 6,090,930 #it (—ZF M
HK$6,135,717) in respect of contributions to retirement 16,135,717 T ) BB IKE R 2 £
benefits scheme. o
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 82 " " AF =B =1+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUEBTTIRR )

8. NON-RECURRENT PROJECTS EXPENSES 8. JERREMIER S H
2025 2024
_EB_RHE “ENE
HKS HKS
BT BT
. Iy B ak
Revamp of and develop the signature E&}E\ﬁﬁﬁ/\ﬁﬁ MRS 381,810 242,970
monthly CHOICE magazine CGEEY BT
Renovation and refurbishment projects RIS ZHEEFHIER 38,748 -
Time-limited posts B BRI L 2,229,724 2,648,938
U EEISESS
De.velopme.nt and enhancement of _ Eﬂ?é@@ﬂﬂm ISEXSISE 1,778,106 486,665
information systems and data security ELZE
Auto-fuel market study B ABHTISTE 1,035,612 1,120,787
Re\(l:lvz\()tzlii:ment of the Council's official EE S EBE(L R 934,898 571,961
Job creation scheme under Anti-Epidemic BhEEESIE
NN 163,964 4,022,879
Fund BIERAET S
. ay N -
Event F:ommemoratmg the 50th . ﬁ%%x; S A B 1,434,545 1,076,739
Anniversary of Consumer Council FEEREED
G t B A F —ER— N = N ’g.
reater Bay Area Forum on consumer _%1_:;5!?5/% HEE 6,000 283,830
protection 2023 R IRERIEL
Enhancing training programme InaaEEsIIE g 52,650 171,855
Enhancement on the Complaint Case IR BEREIERT - 119,880
Management system B1atEl
Upgrading and replacing virtualisation L B S HE AR 25,680 -
infrastructure Fih
Consumer protection study HBEREMSE 223,000 -
Other projects HihEHa 494,320 495,495
8,799,057 11,241,999
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 82 " " AF =B =1+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUEBTTIRR )

9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 9. W~ BB NRE
Leasehold land
and buildings Information
in Hong Kong Information systems
under long- systems and upgrade in
term lease Leasehold Office computer Furniture progress  Renovation in
REBREFE  improvement equipment equipment and fixtures Motor TR progress
EHETH HEMHE AR ERAM i vehicle EREM LT Total
REgF ESE Wi RERR RKE BN FHR ESES A
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
& BT & & & E B & T
Cost BA
At 1 April 2023 R_Z_=FmE—H 62,638,435 25,257,762 1,801,309 32,474,252 887,225 538,046 4,277,469 403,281 128,277,779
Additions NE 110,000 115,406 1,465,240 14,434,048 2,216,859 18,341,553
Transfer from/(to) #wEEe/ (F)
renovation and EATHIEE
upgrade in progress  FIFHK T2 110,000 5,999,445 (5,999,445) (110,000) -
Disposal BE (3,585,672) (3,585,672)
At31March 2024 and P ZF_ME=F=+—HAK
1 April 2024 “FWFEMA—A 62,638,435 21,892,090 1,916,715 39,938,937 887,225 538,046 12,712,072 2,510,140 143,033,660
Additions B 1,931,727 85,498 447,310 40,000 3,793,648 11,561,103 17,859,286
Transfer from/(to) ®mEE/ (F)
renovation and EATHIEE
upgrade in progress IR T2 11,541,056 1,088,275 3,124,311 1,241,912 (3,124,311)  (13,871,243) -
Disposal e (7,920) (35,219) (43,139)
At31March202s R E-FE=A=+—8 62,638,435 35,364,873 3,082,568 43,510,558 2,133,918 538,046 13,381,409 200,000 160,849,807
Accumulated Rt
depreciation &
At 1 April 2023 RIBT=FmMA—H 19,680,791 19,530,981 1,540,510 28,588,385 758,210 538,046 70,636,923
Charge forthe year ~ AEEEH 875,972 3,756,464 95,952 4,015,437 68,198 8,812,023
Disposal BB (3,225,404) (3,225,404)
At31March2024and P " F - NFE=F=+—HK
1 April 2024 ZETNFEMA—H 20,556,763 20,062,041 1,636,462 32,603,822 826,408 538,046 76,223,542
Charge forthe year ~ REEZH 875,972 3,971,283 407,147 4,929,188 402,900 10,586,490
Disposal BRE - - (7,920) (35,219) (43,139)
At31March2025 R E-FE=A=1+—8 21,432,735 24,033,324 2,035,689 37,533,010 1,194,089 538,046 - 86,766,893
Carrying values BREI{E
At31March2025 BB FE=S=1—A 41,205,700 11,331,549 1,046,879 5,977,548 939,829 13,381,409 200,000 74,082,914

42,081,672

At 31 March 2024 RoE-—mE=F=4+—H 1,830,049 280,253 7,335,115

The above items of property, plant and equipment (other than
information systems upgrade in progress and renovation in
progress) are depreciated on a straight-line basis, at the following
rates per annum:

Over the remaining term of the
leases

Over the shorter of their useful

Leasehold land

Buildings lives or the remaining term of
the lease of land

Leasehold improvement 20%

Office equipment 33.33%

Information sysﬁems and 33.33%

computer equipment
Furniture and fixtures 33.33%
Motor vehicle 33.33%
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12,712,072 2,510,140

Ltz ~ AR R (BRETHNESR
iﬁg%_&&%f@z% ) BRUT F XD EREET

HE L R FIEREIR

BEAEAERSE L
BECHFER (L
REBEETE)

BT

HEMZEEE 20%
NS 33.33%
=B Z 4 E1RY
{E;%&E&E@,H 33.33%
FRRREE 33.33%
BN EE IR 33.33%

66,810,118




Consumer Council  HEEEZEE
Notes to the Financial Statements Bf }& R =M=

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B E_F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUEBTTIRR )
9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 9.
As at 31 March 2025, leasehold properties with an aggregate net
book value of HK$11,917,123 (2024: HK$12,028,966) are under
the second legal charge in favour of the Government. These
properties were previously pledged for a mortgage loan, which
was released during the year ended 31 March 2024.
In addition, leasehold properties with a carrying amount of
HK$29,288,577 (2024:HKS$30,052,706) are subject to certain
contractual non-alienation covenants in favour of the
Government.
10. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 10.
Cost 5%
At 1 April 2023 NI Z=FMA—H
Addition NE
Lease modification RAME K
At 31 March 2024 and RZE_NFE=A=+—HK
1 April 2024 “EFTugmA—H
Eliminated on early termination ~ iERIZ%1E/
/ contract expiry S B Eylis 6]

At 31 March 2025

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2023
Charge for the year

At 31 March 2024 and
1 April 2024

Charge for the year

Eliminated on early termination
/ contract expiry

At 31 March 2025

Net carrying amount

At 31 March 2025
At 31 March 2024

R _RAF=A=1—H

RtiE
RIS "=FmA—H
REELH

RIB_NFE=B=*1+—HFK
N MAB—H
KEEZH

REIA L/

S EIELSE e

R _RF=A=1—H

tREE

RZFB_RAF=A=1+—H
RIF_NFE=A=1+—H

Financial Statements

“hEFE=R=1+—HLEE

W~ MR RRE (E)

RIB"RF=B=+—8  KREFEST
11,917,123 5T ( —F UL : 12,028,966
JT) E’J%Hf%%uﬂuﬁﬁsxm}\{’ﬁtb % o
?%%mfﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁi SRIBER » MK
HETEREE_S_NFE=A=+—HI1
FRENRR -

Ite4h - IRTEE A 29,288,577 T ( —F Y
£ 130,052,706 7T ) MTHEWZEZ R
T B a8 ARES T 25 | SR IERATER -

ERREE
Office Office
Premises equipment Total
/NS /N BE
HKS HK$ HKS
BT BT BT
4,579,419 424,447 5,003,866
7,563,474 - 7,563,474
3,157,106 - 3,157,106
15,299,999 424,447 15,724,446
(7,736,526) - (7,736,526)
7,563,473 424,447 7,987,920
3,716,852 77,815 3,794,667
1,924,992 84,889 2,009,881
5,641,844 162,704 5,804,548
2,694,329 84,889 2,779,218
(5,972,587) - (5,972,587)
2,363,586 247,593 2,611,179
5,199,887 176,854 5,376,741
9,658,155 261,743 9,919,898

HBEEE® 2024-25 £ 137
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Consumer Council  HEEEZEE
Notes to the Financial Statements Bf }& R =M=

For the year ended 31 March 2025 82 " " AF =B =1+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUEBTTIRR )

10. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 10.

Total cash outflow for leases HECRES M HAERE

For both years, the Council leases offices premises and office
equipment for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into
for fixed term of two to five years (2024: one to five years).
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
a wide range of different terms and conditions. In determining
the lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Council applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

The above items of right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis, at the following rates per annum:

Office premises Over the lease term of 2 years to 4

years
Office equipment Over the lease term of 1 year to 5
years
11. OTHER ASSETS 11.

Other assets included account receivables, deposits and
prepayments, advances to staffs and amount due from
Consumer Legal Action Fund. The amounts are unsecured and
interest-free. Except for the advances to staffs which will be
settled by three or six (2024: three or six) monthly
instalments, other amounts are repayable on demand. The
Council assessed the ECL of such balances in Note 21.

12. SUBVENTIONS TO BE CLAIMED 12.
Job creation scheme under EIEESE T
Anti-Epidemic Fund BT S
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FEREEE (/&)
2025 2024
s “ETmE
HKS HKS
BT JBIT
2,877,108 1,849,661

RREEE  ZEQHEERAZERAR
RIEERECH HEANEI BT
FHRARTEFIAF (TR WNE: —5 A
F) - HEKRDUEBEEEITHER
BEERRNRMGERRES - REERAH
RAEET AR ER » ZESEBEHN
EENEEAKREIE AR -

DU R TR B I T R B O
BT

/NS # 2% 4 FHB
FNESG % 12 5 £
HivEE

HihBEEBFBEWERN - e RFAMRK
B RBEFETIMNEIR R EEEFRA
SRS o ZFFIBARIER L ARG
AE - BRAS TIREMESZHSU=3N
B (ZE_NE: = 8 ) RAHE
o EfhRIEE AR B REBER - £8
SRR 21 BRSESNTEREEEIEE
TY S ©

FRIUBER
2025 2024
“EFETREF B S o2 S
HKS HKS
BT JBIT
- 5,375,425




Consumer Council  HEEEZEE
Notes to the Financial Statements Bf }& R =M=
For the year ended 31 March 2025 82 " " AF =B =1+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUEBTTIRR )

13.

14.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH 13.

Time deposits with original maturity of REFBHBEAR=ER

three months EHER
Cash at bank and on hand RITRENEFRS
Cash and cash equivalent B MIRSSEY
Time deposits with original maturity over REZIHAHB=EH >
three months ERER
Bank balances and cash IRITHBREIRE

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Time deposits are made in between three
months and twelve months (2024: between three months
and twelve months) and earn interests at the respective time
deposits rates ranging from 3.00% to 4.70% (2024: 2.40% to
4.70%) per annum.

ACCOUNT PAYABLES AND ACCRUED EXPENSES 14.

Account payables are unsecured, interest-free and repayable
according to the respective credit terms. The Council has
financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all
payables are paid within the credit timeframe.

Financial Statements Ef#$R%

RITRBRARSE
2025 2024
“ETRHE “ETUE
HKS HKS
BT JBIT
24,000,000 44,000,000
27,571,842 16,652,559
51,571,842 60,652,559
45,000,000 36,500,000
96,571,842 97,152,559

RITIRESBEBITERIBERFEER
ME - EHERNBARA=21+@A
(ZBE-ME: Z2+-@A) - =&8
TEHEARFZERFE  EAXEER
3.00% %] 4.70% ( —F U4 : 2.40% Z|

470% ) o

e AR Rt B

RN BRI - Nt B A B BEAR
BEEEEGRRTUEE - RESRBHE
EN TR EREEBOR - DIBAREMA KA
HEEEHMRAT2H

SHEEES® 2024-25 £ 139



Appendix 1

- Big5—

Consumer Council  HEEEZEE
Notes to the Financial Statements Bf }& R =M=

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B E_F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

15.

SUBVENTIONS RECEIVED IN ADVANCE

Subventions unexpended at the end of the reporting period:

Renovation and refurbishment projects

Time-limited posts

Revamp of and develop the signature
monthly CHOICE magazine

Development and enhancement of
information systems and data security

Promotion of new legislation

Redevelopment of the Council's official
website

Auto-fuel market study

Consumer protection studies

Environmental responsibility

Enhancing training programme

Greater Bay Area Forum on consumer
protection 2023

Strengthening consumer protection for
Mainland visitors

Replacement of motor vehicle

Job creation scheme under Anti-Epidemic
Fund

Mobile site for Online Price Watch

Enhancement of the Council's Compliant
Case Management System

Event commemorating the 50th
Anniversary of Consumer Council

Redevelopment of network infrastructure

Development of stakeholder database and
application system

Revamp of and develop the Hotline System

Upgrading and replacing virtualisation
infrastructure

One-stop Consumer Information Online
Platform for the Elderly

Revamp and replacement of Accounting
and Purchase Requisition system

Other projects

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
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(LT )
15 TEMCER
EARE RS R A B B

BIRKELERHIER
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BEMBEREAARMERN
(=) AT
Eﬁ?’éﬂlfgﬂ:{m BRGLEER

xﬁ/ﬂﬁUZ}EE
HESHEEEECE S

BABHMISHTE
REHBEERERMTR
RIBEMT
hnsaEs) HIE =i
_F = /%/ j(/ E ﬁ
ERGRERE
INsR¥ M HEREEE RS
fRE
A BN &
FrEiEESE T
R st
FHAR TR LER—EE
HEERFEREERREL
B
HEEEZS SN A HAFLRL
/LJ\/EEjJ
Eg=iEE - i)
MR EBIE SRR
Fg%
BRFASBETFRR

FEH L BN 2 M AR B

FREEE AR LTA
SEIMRBRADCEN B
HfttIRE

MENEE

JEREAE

“hEFE=R=1+—HLEE

2025 2024
_S"HE SRy epz S
HKS HKS

BT JBIT
396,095 3,812,213
4,445,987 6,678,578
2,696,941 4,186,745
7,732,259 6,552,997
5,199,999 5,199,999
1,884,368 3,462,645
3,764,351 3,475,729
378,270 378,270
685,174 685,174
203,964 256,614
261,634 267,634
484,043 484,043
100 100

10,207 13,928
1,500,000 1,435,000
18,338,678 12,625,313
188,716 1,623,261
3,338,000 3,338,000
1,575,000 1,575,000
5,056,110 3,182,000
4,374,320 -
2,200,000 -
2,080,000 -
260,642 86,626
67,054,858 59,319,869
62,617,901 51,966,897
4,436,957 7,352,972
67,054,858 59,319,869
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Financial Statements

EUECEES

16. LEASE LIABILITIES 16. %ﬂgﬁ{ﬁ
2025 2024
_BTHE =S i S
HKS HKS
BT BT
Lease liabilities payable: ENEEEE
Within one year —FR 1,849,769 2,680,834
Within a period of more than one year but N R
—FR HEREARF 3,544,001 6,795,219
not more than 5 years
5,393,770 9,476,053
: ithi DD\ JHA - 68
Less: Amount due for settlement.W|Ff'1|.n 12 /UZ_ i ‘f; @EW?JB@ hig (1,849,769) (2,680,834)
months shown under current liabilities NAEII=EE
A — 1 IJ/ER » 3 /EE_ \;
Amount due for settlement a.fter. 12 months 1 ‘f’;“ﬁ éﬂ,ﬂﬂ WEER 3,544,001 6,795,219
shown under non-current liabilities JERBEE
17. LEASEHOLD PROPERTY CONTROL ACCOUNT 17. HEMELHIRIE
The amount arises from capital contribution by the HIEREGNEANRESHEYENETFR
Government for the acquisition of leasehold properties and BERNGBEREEEANEENBRETE—K
appropriation from general fund in previous years for EehidEmEs  REEBEEENIT
subsequent purchase of capital assets and is reduced by ==
depreciation of the related assets.
18. EQUIPMENT CONTROL ACCOUNT 18. FIEFHIRIE
The amount was appropriated from general fund in previous ZHIERETEE—RESHEL  AREE
years for the acquisition of office equipment, computer WMAEHE - BESEBE - MAEER  IF
equipment and furniture and fixtures and is reduced by BENEEEZITE o
depreciation of the related assets.
19. DESIGNATED FUND FOR APPROVED PROJECTS 19. BREEBERZIEEES
The amount represents funds for current projects NMEH AR BAEBEEEALUTEE

appropriated from general fund for the below designated
activities not yet incurred by the end of the reporting period:

B —RESBAMABHANES

2025 2024

_BTHEF “E g

HKS HKS

BT BT

Online CHOICE operation reserve ML CGRE) BHZEREE 2,637,344 2,637,344
Office equipment and maintenance N S S 296,978 16,389,026
Testing and research SEIE ARz 540,030 1,535,205
IT development SERMFAR 12,012,000 8,762,384
15,486,352 29,323,959

HBEESS 2024-25 F3R 141
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf }& R =M=

For the year ended 31 March 2025 82 " " AF =B =1+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUEBTTIRR )

20. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital expenditure in respect of
renovation and acquisition of plant and
equipment contracted for but not
provided in the financial statements

21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets
Amortised cost

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Council's major financial instruments include account
receivables, advances to staffs, subvention to be claimed,
amount due from Consumer Legal Action Fund, bank balances
and cash, provision for restoration cost and account payables
and accrued expenses. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments and the policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The Council Members
manage and monitor these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Council's maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the
Council due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties arises from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Council reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual receivable items at the
end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In
addition, the Council performs impairment assessment under
ECL model upon application of HKFRS 9 on receivable balances
based on provision matrix.
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20. BAEE
2025 2024
“ETRHE “EITUE
HKS HKS
BT JBIT
BEIEBLEEMABTR
& BaIEREMBER 26,665,823 33,070,386
FRIEHBBCERRAT
21. SRTHR
() SBTEER
2025 2024
_EJBTHAF |
HKS HKS
JBIT JBIT
SEEE
HEEERAR 99,200,204 104,885,915
A =R
HEEERAR 14,946,556 23,808,822
(2) ¢RERETEEERBR

ZEEMIZeHM T ABFBEBURS - 12
HFE TSR - HFRIUER  BHEE
FARESHEUGIR ~ RITEHRLRE
EREAEE  BARARETFER - &%
ST AMFBENERMRZED LUK
B - EzE S T AMBENER KA
BEZSARNBRBNTX - REGEH
SEBTEREZFAR - LERNFER
HEREUE B 1

EERERFBETH

R_BE_AFER_FE_NF=R=+—
H > ZESHNEAGEERR (AREHFX
S EEBBEEZERERYBEAX) B
BREVBRAKREINEEEERESRE
EMREE °

RYBRERECEEER  ZEEGNREH
Rig RS IR EWIE B R A B 28 - LU
PR RN A (3] WY <2 B8 1F HH 2 50 B9 Rk (B S
B ltsh  ZESERR (BEBYBRE
ZAI) 259 HRIKFTAHE EBIRRH(E
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 82 " " AF =B =1+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUEBTTIRR )

21.

(b)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

For account receivables, advances to staffs, subvention to be
claimed and amount due from Consumer Legal Action Fund,
the ECL is insignificant as the Council had not encountered any
difficulties in collecting from the debtors in the past and is not
aware of any financial difficulties being experienced by these
debtors.

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

Market risk
Foreign currency risk

Since majority of the Council’s transactions is denominated in
Hong Kong dollars (“HKS”) and United States dollars (USS”),
the Members consider that the Council’s exposure to foreign
currency risk is insignificant.

Interest rate risk

The Council’s exposure to changes in interest rates is mainly
attributable to bank balances and cash.

At the end of the reporting period, if interest rates of bank
balances denominated in USS and HKS had been 4% (2024:
4%) basis points higher / lower respectively and all other
variables were held constant, the Council’s surplus for the
year and general fund would increase / decrease by
HK$3,862,910 (2024: HKS3,886,064).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming
that the change in interest rates had occurred throughout the
year and had been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk
for bank balances in existence during the year. The 4% (2024:
4%) basis point increase or decrease on the bank balances
denominated in USS and HKS$ respectively represent the
Members’ assessment of a reasonably possible change in
interest rates over the period until the next annual end of the
reporting period. The analysis was performed on the same
basis for 2024.

Financial Statements Ef#$R%

EHMITR (&)
SREAREEERREEK (&)

EEREFBERT S ()

HREESBEREBABREREBE
EARE B ESHIZEFEBALRE
EMHFRE - At - BUIRK ~ ]t T
S TSR - FRIER  HBERD
ESMBUHIENEREEERER -
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iZER
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HREE
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S YA FE B AR — AR S 5 0 o A
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUEBTTIRR )

21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 21. SETH (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Z2) <mEREEEERBE (&)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk MENE R
The Council is dependent on the government subventions. ZECELSRRERTRT - ARBAS
The Members of the Council consider that the Council is i) ESERHEHNBERT  FIt -

exposed to minimal liquidity risk as the Government would
provide subvention for the Council based on budgets
prepared by the Council annually. The Members of the Council ﬁiﬁﬁx)miﬁj{/ﬁ o
also closely monitor the Council's cash flow position.

RREESGMHEBHINBES

ZESZETRYEE

Bank balances comprise of time deposits with an original RITASEEREIHH AT _E AL
maturity of twelve months or less. ANHTEEREZRR ©

The following tables detail the Council's remaining THRKRFHMATH T EESIETESHE
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. ENFRESNEE « ZEXEBIIRBEESES
The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted EerfERNSINERERE SR a
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on BERENBIESRERES -

which the Council can be required to pay.

Weighted
average Total
effective 6 months 6-12 1-5 undiscounted Carrying
interest rate or less months years cash flows amounts
hNREF ~ME R RNE —& CREERS BRME
BRI KL +ZER ks MEAEER *5R
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
% BT BT BT JBIT BT
2025 “S"hEF
Account payables  fE{FRRFK 9,552,786 - - 9,552,786 9,552,786
Subtotal INET 9,552,786 - - 9,552,786 9,552,786
Lease liabilities HEEE 5.88 1,052,500 1,052,500 3,720,200 5,825,200 5,393,770
Total a5t 10,605,286 1,052,500 3,720,200 15,377,986 14,946,556
2024 I mE
Account payables  fE{FBRFX 14,332,769 - - 14,332,769 14,332,769
Subtotal INE 14,332,769 - - 14,332,769 14,332,769
Lease liabilities HEEE 5.85 1,610,650 1,535,650 7,286,194 10,432,494 9,476,053
Total &t 15,943,419 1,535,650 7,286,194 24,765,263 23,808,822
(c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments (A) &MTECAVEEE
The Members of the Council consider that the carrying values FZESRERR  EUBRRPERNS
of financial assets and financial liabilities recognised in the AMEENMSREEZEREMAENYEMNE
financial statements approximate their fair values. o
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22,

23.

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Council's liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those
for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Council's statement of cash flows from
financing activities.

At 1 April 2023

Financing cash flows RMERSRE

Interest expenses FIEZH

New lease entered R HRA

Lease modification RABEHR

Subventions utilisation on property,  #JZ£ « #4280 {EE >
plant and equipment BEERE A

At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024

22,

RIF_=FNHA—H

REB_NFE=A=+—H

“ETFmA—H
Financing cash flows RERSNE
Interest expenses F B H
Early termination RRIFLE
Subventions utilisation on property, Y2 ~ 2R L
plant and equipment BHER

At 31 March 2025

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

The Council charged a fee of HK$992,435 (2024: HKS$1,142,392)
for administrative service and office support (comprising salary
costs and attributable overhead) provided to the Consumer
Legal Action Fund (the “Fund”) during the year. The charge is in
accordance with the provision of the Trust Deed governing the
Funds and approved by both the Council and the Board of
Administrators of the Fund.

_F_hF=H=1+—H

23.

Financial Statements

AEFEMELER RN

TERERRETHMELEZEGZEEL
LEFE  BERRSNFERSEE - AR
ERBMELE BB RREREBIMK
REMENEZESHEMNEXRDBRKE
RMEEHELNRSNE -

Subventions

Lease received in

liabilities advance Total

HE&sE TEUREIR a5
HKS HKS HKS
BT BT BT

(Note 16) (Note 15)
(Myzt1e)  (F9EE15)
1,291,313 53,783,835 55,075,148
(1,849,661) 12,080,634 10,230,973
213,821 - 213,821
6,663,474 - 6,663,474
3,157,106 - 3,157,106
- (6,544,600) (6,544,600)
9,476,053 59,319,869 68,795,922
(2,877,108) 13,344,289 10,467,181
441,306 - 441,306
(1,646,481) - (1,646,481)
- (5,609,300) (5,609,300)
5,393,770 67,054,858 72,448,628
R SR%

FEEENENWET 992,435 BT ( ZF [0
11,142,392 BIT) o EAKEEREE
EFAES ( TES ) ) =BETEREAN
WAELIE (BEFSHRERERE)
MER - ZRBFEERESCEARLE
FHGEREE  HAERZEGEBEEERA
HeTEE8a2itiZ
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Appendix 2 - fff$§—

PRODUCT TESTING AND MARKET SURVEY REPORTS
Emal B RmiziRERS

1. ELECTRICAL & ELECTRONIC GOODS ERKEEFEM kel
 AirPurifiers ZES BT
* Bladeless Fans with Heater Function A BEHEEERR
* Bluetooth / Wi-Fi Speakers B:ZF/ Wi-Fi 55228
« Cooker Hoods  IfhjfyfZi
o Dehumidifiers 7%
+ eBook Readers EFEHERS
» Electric lrons &&3}
+ Gaming and Office Mice BHMIFAZER
+ Smartphones ZREF 14
o Tablets FAREBS
« TVs &R
* Video Projectors ¥ 5/1%
e Wi-Fi Routers  Wi-Fi (& 23
* Window Type Air Conditioners #AT0% S
* Wireless Headphones AR BE F H i

_1

R e T e e B R B B I I I

2. PHOTOGRAPHIC EQUIPMENT & SOFTWARE 1B& 383 R4
* Interchangeable-lens Cameras RJ#2§EAT T
* Internet Security Software 3R L 2B
* Virtual Private Networks (VPN)  E#EEFLA MBS T

—

3. FOOD & HEALTH FOOD PRODUCTS EYWEREZEEMS
* Beer [
+ Bottled Water #RZEK
e FruitjJam RE
+ Pet Treats $HMZR
* Wheat Flour /NZEEE¥)

= =4+ =

4. HEALTH, BEAUTY & PERSONAL CARE PRODUCTS ### - E8REBEAEER M
* Anti-dandruff Shampoo  Z=/B¥EEEK
* Hair Styling Products SEE23&% &
* Makeup Base and Primers {4 BIETE
* Mosquito Repellents R4
* Nappy Creams #BE
* Pimple Patches REERL
« Vitamin C Skincare Products &#fbey C EER

4 v v A w A -
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Appendix 2 - fff$§—

1. ELECTRICAL & ELECTRONIC GOODS ERKEFEdm ¥Ry

5. HOUSEHOLD PRODUCTS ZHEHm

o Ceramicware [MBEEHR

+ Double Mattresses 2 A K15

* In-wash Scent Boosters IX¥)EELR
¢ Refillable Products 72 E R

+ Toilet Tissues B

+ Tumbles and Travel Mug B &R

+ Wet Toilet Paper RETHE

4 4 4 v A4 -4 -

6. AUTOMOBILE PRODUCTS RH
o Cars J/E T

7. CLOTHING, FOOTWEAR & ACCESSORIES %) - etlE RBCH
+ Babywear Z2ZFEXKY) T

8. TOYS, STATIONERIES & CHILDREN PRODUCTS iInE - XEERERS
+ Desk Mats £# T

T Test :AER /S © Survey HiZFAE
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Appendix 3 - [ff$§=

SERVICE SURVEY REPORTS
ARFSERHE RS

* Alteration of Net Weight of Grocery Products B ERAS / E2&H)

el

 Annual Supermarket Price Survey FEBHERKAE

* Boarding Services for Cats and Dogs  $#EF &R

* Bring-your-own-container at Restaurants B/ NEER
* Bring-your-own-cup at Beverage Shops E/BINEM

+ e-Gift Cards BFYERTE

* Elderly Home Services ZEFeRIE

* Home Rehabilitation and Care Services P18 BE/AFARYS
+ Home Removal Service RERTE

* Infant Formula Price Surveys 241K ERAE *

+ Naked Shopping BE

+ Online Build-your-own-PC Services #d_-#R2E B AR
* Powered Wheelchair Rental Services B BhiniaiH &R
* Private Camping Sites LSR5

+ Spam Call Blocker Apps 1IN EBEHEEL

+ Textbook Expenditure Survey 24 EEERE

¢ Textbook Price Survey #HREIZERAE

* Unilateral Recognition and Comprehensive Motor Insurance Policies E LB MAREFSREEETE

*  Published on the Council's Website FIZ A& 45
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Appendix 4 - fft#%m

PRODUCT AND SERVICE IN-DEPTH STUDY REPORTS
EmRRFMRES

A Just Transition to Sustainable Lifestyles /AR B AFELE

* Alteration of Layout of Private Residential Flats X &)Z= AR

+ Cause, Prevention and Care of Pressure Sores [ERERIERA ~ TAFH & EE

+ Dumplings ¥

* Elderly Gastrointestinal Problems K& 5S A

+ Gas Water Heaters $EEEKIE

* Incense Sticks #3&

+ Laboratory-grown Diamonds BR=HEEA

 Nutrient Content of Red Meat, White Meat and Other Alternatives #IA~ AR ERNEEKD
* Planting with Food Waste [Ei#rTEIE

* Safety Tips for Scanning QR Code Z2#&HE QR Code

e Sarcopenia and Osteoporosis ~ JLAME KB B BiFAE

* Security Risks of Public USB Charging Stations /A%t USB 78 BiLRIR T ARG
* Storage of Fresh Produce iR RHIETE

+ Sugars BHE

« Treatment of Common Household Odours REEREZWKHIEIEFE
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Appendix 5 - ff{#%H

TRADE PRACTICES IN-DEPTH STUDIES AND
CONSULTATION PAPERS RESPONDED TO BY THE
COUNCIL

ERFRRAMRR KaE8 O] fE

A) In-depth Studies AT B) Response to Consultation from the

CHOICE Article on Global Member Exercise with
Generative Al Chatbots

AT A BIREA BERRVE !
CEEY ATIxE

(16 September 2024)

CHOICE Article on Liability for Estate Agents'’
Misrepresentation

M EARERRRAL | FEHHA
() ATIXE

(16 September 2024)

BEEAE? L

CHOICE Article on One-word-against-another Disputes
TORSH, "OBERR, ? NEE "HEEE, |
(BF) ATIX=E

(15 November 2024)

Price Transparency in Healthcare: Fostering Consumer
Trust and Value

(BELREE - RIABRERENHE)

(6 March 2025)
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Government and Other Public Bodies

7 a8 S [E1 FE

Financial Services and the Treasury Bureau — Consultation
on the Legislative Proposals to Regulate Over-the-Counter
Trading of Virtual Assets

WREBNEBR - BBREEREESIRZHIDE
fe /N

(17 April 2024)

The Hong Kong ESG Ratings and Data Products
Providers Voluntary Code of Conduct Working Group
(sponsored by the Securities and Futures Commission) —
Consultation on Draft Hong Kong Code of Conduct
for ESG Ratings and Data Products Providers

&8 BSG sTRMEUR A M L re B R T2 R TE/
H(BHRPEEBERERES) -sRR HENE
TARTHRAIBIR E AL BRI IR T R S AR 2 55
(20 June 2024)

Hong Kong Monetary Authority — Consultation on
Cooling-off Period for Unsecured Consumer Credit
Products*

B EETEER - AEAKEEEEEERLFH
l'-ll:l ﬂ@ *

(9 August 2024)

Commerce and Economic Development Bureau and
the Intellectual Property Department — Consultation
on the Enhancement of the Copyright Ordinance
Regarding Protection for Artificial Intelligence
Technology Development
ABLEERRBAABERE - s CRERSD
DR TE R 8 R AR A

(4 September 2024)

Hong Kong Monetary Authority — Consultation on
Extending the Monetary Authority’s Inspection and
Enforcement Powers Under the Banking Ordinance*
BETREER - EASREEERTE (RITEK
B1) THIREMIEEDEITHIER *

(12 December 2024)



10.

Commerce and Economic Development Bureau —
Public Consultation on Proposed Updates to Safety
Standards for Toys and Children’s Products
BBEMEERER - nEF AR REERR DR
BRI ATET

(27 December 2024)

Hong Kong Monetary Authority — Consultation Paper
on Proposed Enhancements to the Banking Ordinance
(Cap. 155)

EETREER - BB GRITEEM) (£ 155 %)
ERBAVAR XXM

(28 January 2025)

Housing Bureau — Consultation Document on the
Regulatory Regime on Basic Housing Units
EER - A T EkE, REIEAREAXXM
(10 February 2025)

Centre for Food Safety — Public Consultation on the
Proposed Amendments to Food Adulteration (Metallic
Contamination) Regulations (Cap. 132V)
RUREHL - B ARYEM (EBHESE) KRB
(% 132V ) BEETNARER

(14 February 2025)

Environmental Protection Department — Consultation
on the Proposed Amendments to the Mercury Control
Ordinance

REHREE - 5l CREFIRE) BRETHIA

(21 February 2025)

*

Private Consultation  FE/AFIRAA

Appendix 5 - ff{#%H
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CONSUMER LEGAL ACTION FUND
MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

HEEARREEEHEERE
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(up to 2 2024.12.05) (from 2025.02.20 #2) (from 2025.02.20 #2)
Vice-Chairman BIEE Member BIEXE
(up to Z 2025.02.19) (up to Z 2025.02.19)

¢
Mr Selwyn YU Sing-cheung, SC Mr Richard AWWei-kiang, SC,Jp Mr Johnny MA Ka-chun, SC
RABERNEED FHEIRERALRAD - AL BERBRERREM
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R R EED AR AR HIRER A AT ERKEM
(from 2024.12.06 &)
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| T D
- |
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ANNUAL REPORT OF THE CONSUMER LEGAL

ACTION FUND 2024-25
HAEBFRBEEFH 2024-25

The Consumer Council is the Trustee of the Consumer Legal Action Fund (the
Fund) through a Declaration of Trust executed on 30 November 1994.

Purpose

The Fund was established with an initial Government grant of HK$10 million.
Subsequently three extra grants each in the amount of $10 million were
received in May 2010, May 2018 and July 2024 respectively. The Fund aims to
facilitate easier consumer access to legal remedies by providing legal assistance to
consumers, particularly for cases involving significant public interest and injustice.
Through granting assistance to eligible cases, the Fund also aims to deter business
malpractices and enhance public awareness of consumer rights.

Administration

The Council, as the Trustee, is responsible, through a Board of Administrators,
for the overall administration and investment of the Fund. The Board of
Administrators is in turn, underpinned by a Management Committee. The
latter, whose members were appointed by the Commerce and Economic
Development Bureau, is responsible for advising on the eligibility and merits of
applications seeking assistance from the Fund.

Operation

It is the function of the Council to help consumers resolve their complaints with
the traders concerned by means of conciliation. The Council may, if it considers
appropriate or if the complainants so request, refer cases of complaints to the
Fund for consideration. Consumers may also apply to the Fund directly for
assistance.

Generally, in processing an application for assistance, the Fund will consider
whether all other means of dispute resolution have been exhausted and
will assess the case against established eligibility criteria. Such criteria include
whether the case involves significant consumer interest; whether a large group
of consumers have been or will potentially be adversely affected; whether the
case has a reasonable chance of success; whether assistance to the matter
concerned can promote the consumer cause and produce deterrent effects on
unscrupulous business practices; and whether it is practicable for the Fund to
offer timely assistance.
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Seek further Assistance Endorsed by
information recommended BA
CBR BRIR I3 WITERAE
E—LEH Assessment by Assessment by e
Applic'ation S E— Man?gement thg ?oard of Assistance Granted
Received ¢ Committee of the » Administrators of » 120t B
W EIFREE Fund the Fund ™
EEZEEES BITREEHES
Assistance Not endorsed
not recommended by BA
TEBRMRE BITEEE
Legal / A8
Expert Advice Assistance Declined
EE/BERBER TERUERED

-

Deliberation

During the year under review, the Management Committee held 4 meetings
and resolved matters by circulation on 57 occasions, while the Board of
Administrators resolved matters by circulation on 12 occasions.

Altogether; the Fund considered 26 applications across different categories
during the year under review.

After thorough consideration, the Fund declined 17 applications relating to
complaints involving auto-repair services, elderly home services, product liability,
property management services, purchase of local property, telecommunication
services, beauty and fitness services respectively.

During the reporting period, the Fund granted assistance to 9 applications. These
applications relate to beauty services, immigration consuttancy services, purchase
of local property and residential renovation.

v v
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57T RUNMBERNEARER - MAMTEREE
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GE
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Cases Granted Assistance

EF LGB E S

0

Residential Renovation Works —
Unscrupulous Trade Practices and
Contract

The assisted consumer suffered loss due to the trader’s
failure to complete a renovation project following the
trader’s abrupt closure.

The Fund considered that the case involved sufficient
legal merits and significant consumer interest. However,
before the commencement of assistance, the assisted
consumer withdrew the application for personal reasons.

REREIRE — TREBFEREH
BEZE R—R2Z BB ER S R P RAREREST
BB TRMEREX -

ESAREREARINERZERNERIEEER
i o N - EIRBRFAR  ZENHEEENEARR
EEIlE

Residential Renovation Works —
Unscrupulous Trade Practices and
Contract

The assisted consumer was engaged in a dispute with
the trader concerning quality and delay in residential
renovation works at his property.

The Fund considered that the case involved sufficient
legal merits and significant consumer interest. During
the reporting period, the Fund instructed solicitors to
provide assistance to the assisted consumer:

RERIETRE — TREBFEREH
BREE—EZIEEEREETEMNEETEN
L BERLRIEEFETES RS TSI AR -

HESAR/ERBAINERERRERIEEER
i ARG - ESEEREMAYEEERE
8 e
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3. Purchase of Residential Property —

Unscrupulous Trade Practices

Evidence indicated that the assisted consumer
purchased a first-hand residential property prior to
completion. Upon completion, the living room’s window
was reduced from full size (per the sales brochure and
representations provided at the time of sale) to half size.

The Fund considered that the case involved sufficient
legal merits and significant consumer interest. During
the reporting period, the Fund instructed solicitors to
provide assistance to the assisted consumer:

FEYREE — TREBFE
BRETZIHEEREN—EREN—FETYE
@Tw EBREREREMEFLLRERY (REEEEM
PR HEROSE E S BREMBRAL ) Y —F -

ESAREREADNERBENERAVEESER
i o AREHE  ESCRBEMAZINEEERM
#RBh o

4. Purchase of Residential Property —

Breach of Duty and Contract

Evidence indicated that the developer had failed to
provide a first mortgage plan entailing a 2-year principal
and interest free period offered to purchasers at the
time of sale.

The assisted consumer is the administratrix of the estate
of her late husband who was granted assistance by
the Fund. The Fund agreed to grant assistance to the
assisted consumer to continue with the claim. During
the reporting period, the Fund instructed solicitors
to provide assistance to the assisted consumer. A
settlement was concluded with the developer. The
assisted consumer received the settlement sum and the
case was settled.

FEYREE — EREEREN
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Purchase of Residential Property —
Breach of Duty and Contract

Evidence indicated that the estate agency had breached
its duties to pass on property information to the assisted
consumers who entered into a preliminary agreement
to purchase the property, and that such information
could affect their ability to obtain a mortgage, resulting
in their decision to withdraw from the purchase.
Further, an unlicensed staff member was closely involved
throughout the sale process.

The Fund considered that the case involved significant
consumer interest. During the reporting period, the
Fund instructed solicitors to provide assistance to the
assisted consumers.

FEYEEE — EREEREH

EERBERIRMEABER THER  BRBAER
BHEERERREEANFREMYEEN M
ZERATRYEIDHEERFRBENR &
BMXBHEBEERRATREBERAEYZE - It
S BRTER—2BARFENET2HAEERE -

HEERBREREERWHEEERN R - AWMSHHE
CERARMRBIINHEERHEEHED

Medical Beauty Services — Breach of
Duties

Evidence indicated that the assisted consumer sustained
personal injuries as a result of breast implant and
related treatments carried out by a registered medical
practitioner in breach of his duties of care.

The Fund considered that the case involved sufficient
legal merits and significant consumer interest. During
the reporting period, the Fund instructed solicitors to
provide assistance to the assisted consumer:

EBERRY — EREE
ERERIHBEERNEZSREMBLETERE
EEERR TATRA RN T i LR RIE M S

EAREERBRINEZERERNERNWEEEF
ﬁﬁ o RIREHE - ESCRAAEMAZEHE SR
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Beauty Services — Unscrupulous Trade
Practices

Evidence indicated that the assisted consumer, being a
person suffering from depressive disorder; purchased 9
beauty treatment packages as a result of unscrupulous
trade practices of the beauty centres concerned.

The Fund considered that the case involved significant
consumer interest. During the reporting period, the
Fund instructed solicitors to provide assistance to the
assisted consumer:

TR — TREBFE
HEHEER—RIBERE SRR EEESR
FEERARLUAREBMFT EREMBE T NVAER

HEeRRBERBERVHEEENR - ARSHHE > &
CERRMRZIHEE R RE)

Beauty Services — Unscrupulous Trade
Practices

Evidence indicated that the assisted consumer purchased
a prepaid package of 22 sessions of beauty treatment
as a result of unscrupulous trade practices of the beauty
centre concerned.

The Fund considered that the case involved significant
consumer interest. By the end of the reporting period,
the Fund was in the process of instructing solicitors to
act for the assisted consumer:

XTI — TREBFE
ERERZEBEEXI L RETPOLARERT
EHES MBE T —EE822> %é?ﬁ&ﬂ’ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%f’

EEeRREREERWHEEERN R - AWSHHE
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Immigration Consultancy Services —
Breach of Duties

Evidence indicated that an immigration consultancy
services company had breached its contractual and
common law duties of care towards the assisted
consumers, rendering their immigration application
unsuccessful.

The Fund considered that the case involved significant
consumer interest. By the end of the reporting period,
the Fund was in the process of instructing solicitors to
act for the assisted consumers.
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Cases Carried Over From Previous Year

The Fund continued to work on the following cases brought forward from the
previous year:

1. Columbarium — Refusal to Allow Interment of Ashes
The assisted consumer’s mother purchased a niche from a private
columbarium in 1996. In 2017, the assisted consumer wished to inter
her mother’s ashes into the niche after she passed away. However, the
columbarium refused to do so on the ground that the deceased’s name
printed on the receipt issued by the columbarium was different from the
name on her death certificate and Hong Kong Identity Card.

During the reporting period, the columbarium’s application for licence
under the Private Columbaria Ordinance (PCO) was under review by
the Private Columbaria Licensing Board. In May 2024, the columbarium
informed the Assisted Consumer that she may proceed to complete the
procedures for ash interment. However, the assisted consumer decided not
to proceed with the ash interment.

2. Financial Services — Breach of Duty and Contract
Evidence indicated that the assisted consumer sustained loss in investing in
London Gold as a result of the breach of duty and contractual obligation
by the trader. In view of the circumstances of the case, the Fund considered
that there were sufficient merits and significant consumer interest for
assistance to be granted for legal action to be taken against the traden

During the reporting period, follow up actions were in progress.

3. Financial Services — Fraud
Evidence indicated that the assisted consumer suffered loss due to
suspected fraud perpetrated by a trader purporting to offer gold
trading services.

During the reporting period, follow up actions were in progress.

4. Financial Services — Instalment Payment Plan

The assisted consumers lodged claims against a beauty centre and a bank
in separate proceedings in the Small Claims Tribunal concerning a dispute
arising out of the purchase of a beauty package from the beauty centre with
a loan offered by the bank under a credit card instalment payment plan.
Favourable judgment was obtained against the beauty centre for rescission
of the purchase contract and damages. However, the proceedings against
the bank claiming, amongst other things, late payment interest charged by
the bank was unsuccessful.

During the reporting period, an appeal against the judgment of the Small
Claims Tribunal concerning the late payment interest was heard in the High
Court. Decision was made in favour of the bank. Having deliberated, the
Fund decided not to pursue an appeal in the Court of Appeal. Follow up
actions were in progress.
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10.

11.

Purchase of Residential Property — Breach of Duty and
Contract

Evidence indicated that the assisted consumer was induced to purchase
a unit adjoining the flat roof in reliance of an improper floor plan and
misrepresentations given by the estate agent.

During the reporting period, the assisted consumer received a sum in full
and final settlement and the case was settled.

Purchase of Residential Property — Breach of Duty and
Contract (23 cases)

Evidence indicated that the developer had failed to provide a first mortgage
plan entailing a 2-year principal and interest free period offered to
purchasers at the time of sale.

During the reporting period, a settlement was concluded with the
developer. 23 assisted consumers received the settlement sums and the
cases were settled.

Beauty Services — Personal Injuries Claim

Evidence indicated that the assisted consumer sustained personal injuries as a
result of facial treatment performed by a doctor at a medical beauty centre.

During the reporting period, full and final settlement was concluded with
the doctor. The assisted consumer received the settlement sum net of
contribution and the case was settled.

Beauty Services — Unscrupulous Trade Practices

Evidence indicated that the assisted consumer purchased a beauty
treatment package as a result of the trader's unscrupulous trade practices.

During the reporting period, a settlement was concluded with the trader The
assisted consumer received the settlement sum and the case was settled.

Beauty Services — Unscrupulous Trade Practices

Evidence indicated that the assisted consumer entered into various
treatment plans as a result of the trader’s unscrupulous trade practices.

During the reporting period, follow up actions were in progress.

Immigration Consultancy Services — Breach of Duties
Evidence indicated that an immigration consultancy services company
had breached its contractual and common law duties of care towards
the assisted consumers, rendering them unable to proceed with their
immigration process.

During the reporting period, the District Court gave a final judgment after
assessment of damages in favour of the assisted consumer.

Immigration Consultancy Services — Breach of Duties
Evidence indicated that an immigration consultancy services company had
breached its contractual and common law duties of care towards the assisted
consumer; rendering her unable to proceed with her immigration process.

During the reporting period, the assisted consumer received a sum in full
and final settlement and the case was settled.
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12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

Immigration Consultancy Services — Breach of Duties
Evidence indicated that an immigration consultancy services company
had breached its contractual and common law duties of care towards the
assisted consumer; rendering his immigration application unsuccessful.

During the reporting period, the assisted consumer withdrew the
application due to personal reasons.

Immigration Consultancy Services — Breach of Duties
Evidence indicated that an immigration consultancy services company
had breached its contractual and common law duties of care towards the
assisted consumer, rendering her immigration application unsuccessful.

During the reporting period, follow up actions were in progress.

Time-sharing Scheme — Aggressive Commercial
Practices

Evidence indicated that the assisted consumer was induced to execute 3
vacation club membership agreements by unconscionable and unfair tactics
adopted by the trader

During the reporting period, a default judgment in favour of the assisted
consumer was obtained and follow up actions in pursuance of the default
judgment were in progress.

Time-sharing Scheme — Aggressive Commercial
Practices

Evidence indicated that the assisted consumer was induced into entering a
vacation club membership agreement and/or membership upgrade by the
trader's unconscionable and unfair sales tactics.

During the reporting period, follow up actions were in progress.

Legal services — Breach of Duties

Evidence indicated that a law firm had breached its duties of care and
fiduciary duties towards the assisted consumers, causing them to suffer loss
as a result of the loss of priority in the charging order obtained over the
judgment debtor’s property to another client of the law firm.

During the reporting period, follow up actions were in progress.

Continuous Positive Airway Pressure Device — Product
Liability
The assisted consumer claimed that the use by her spouse of a continuous

positive airway pressure device, which was subject to product recall, caused
his death.

During the reporting period, follow up actions were in progress.

Residential Renovation Works — Unscrupulous Trade
Practices and Contract

Disputes arose between the assisted consumer and the trader concerning
the charges, workmanship and abandonment of home renovation works at
her mother's property.

During the reporting period, the Small Claims Tribunal ordered that
judgment be entered in favour of the assisted consumer against the trader.
The case concluded accordingly.
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19.

20.

21.

22.

Wedding Event Planning Services — Misrepresentations
and Unscrupulous Trade Practices (5 cases)

Evidence indicated that the assisted consumers were induced to purchase
packages of wedding services as a result of the trader's misrepresentations
and unscrupulous trade practices.

During the reporting period, follow up actions were in progress.

Fitness Services — Unscrupulous Trade Practices

Evidence indicated that the assisted consumer entered into T membership
plan and 7 personal training plans as a result of the unfair trade practices
and unconscionable conduct of the fitness centre.

During the reporting period, a settlement was concluded with the trader: The
assisted consumer received the settlement sum and the case was settled.

Fitness Services — Unscrupulous Trade Practices

Evidence indicated that the assisted consumer, being a person suffering from
schizophrenia and auditory hallucination, entered into personal training
services and fitness membership under 6 contracts within 3 weeks as
a result of the unfair trade practices and unconscionable conduct of the
fitness centre.

During the reporting period, the assisted consumer withdrew the
application due to limited prospects for recovery following closure of the
fitness centre.

Fitness Services — Breach of Contract and Unscrupulous
Trade Practices

Evidence indicated that the assisted consumer entered into 2 personal
training plans as a result of the unfair trade practices and unconscionable
conduct of the fitness centre. The trader subsequently failed to provide
services.

During the reporting period, follow up actions were in progress.
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Statistics

During the reporting period, the Fund has received a total of 33 new
applications and has granted assistance to 9 applications’.

Finance

The Fund's income is derived from:

(a) investing the capital sum in fixed deposits;

(b) charging applicants a fee of HK$100 each for cases within the jurisdiction of
the Small Claims Tribunal and HK$1,000 each for other court cases;

(c) recovering legal costs from defendants in successful cases; and

(d) receiving from each successful case a contribution of 10% of the benefits
gained by the assisted consumern.

As at 31 March 2025, the Fund had a balance of approximately HK$20.18 million?.
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Consumer Legal Action Fund Management Committee
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Key Functions FZEHaE

The Board of Administrators shall:
1. be responsible to the Trustee;

2. report all its proceedings to the Trustee in
due course; and

3. perform such duties as may be prescribed
by the Trustee from time to time, and may
exercise such of the powers as may be
delegated by the Trustee to it from time
to time.
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Key Functions FZHiaE

The Management Committee is responsible
for advising on the eligibility and merits of
applications seeking assistance from the
Consumer Legal Action Fund.
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Annex A - [ft$&5

STATISTICS FOR ASSISTED CASES AND APPLICATIONS OF
CONSUMER LEGAL ACTION FUND IN 2024-25

it 2024-25 FE BB RIAEEZANE R RRAEHRET
Assisted Cases ZBHEZE
Status of Aéz;%dﬁ Cigés: ( 2 3) ( 3 4)

. Brought forward Assistance granted Carried forward assisted Assisted cases cleared
assisted cases EESHFIHBIAYEREE cases during the year
EHEIRENZBEE EHERENZBEE HIRNESTRHIIZEEE

# Breakdown on status of assisted cases: # ZBENEZEERAIAR ¢

Compensation recovered S {E

* out-of-court settlement EE5}FfR 28

* judgment obtained #&f5ERIEEY 1
Cases not pursued further KRB IR i

* no recovery prospect [E#EE{E AT AL 0

* application withdrawn X FRE5 4

 terminated by the Fund #&E £#21F 1
In process TZEIEH 23

Other Applications to be Handled Ef{thHFEIERIHE

(6) (33)
(26) (9) (4)

. Brought forward applications’ New applications and applications seeking reconsideration?
FRERENZBER HEEBENHREREREEEARE
Applications handled 3 Carried forward applications” Problem solved®
EREHIRGE ° SHHERERREE ¢ MIRESERR °
* Breakdown of cases with application handled: * ERIEAIFRFEHT
Assistance granted EEEH FIRBIEIERE 9
Assistance declined EE&AERAIRE 17

2024-25 Carried Forward Assisted Cases and Applications
2024-25 FEEEERERNZEZER HE

(9)

Assisted cases Other applications to be handled
SZENEZE Hith B 1FEERRE

1. “Brought forward applications” means the number of applications received by the Fund during the reporting period and pending for deliberation of the Management
Committee. " SHEEREN T  HERSPHESTRERGHEERSQEANHFHE -

2 “New applications and applications seeking reconsideration” means the number of applications and applications seeking reconsideration received by the Fund during
the reporting period. " EREENMAFRBERBERNFF ) HERSHEESDRENAFERERBERNAFHE -

3 “Applications handled” means the number of applications deliberated by the Management Committee during the reporting period. " EEZIEIERE | FEER S HAR
EHERESDEINHFHA

4 “Carried forward applications” means the number of applications received by the Fund during the reporting period and pending for deliberation of the Management
Committee. " SHEHEIRENAE ) HERSHHESDRERAGEERESERNPFHE -

5 “Problem solved” means the number of applications which the disputes were resolved before deliberation of the Management Committee during the reporting period.

"THERERR , BEEREERE  EEPNFENEERSQEANTESHRANSEHE -
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Trustee of

Consumer Legal Action Fund

(Established in Hong Kong under the Deed of Trust dated 30 November
1994)

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Consumer Legal Action
Fund (the "Fund") set out on pages 169 to 185, which comprise the
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2025 and the statement
of income and expenditure, the statement of changes in capital and
reserves and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Fund as at 31 March 2025, and of its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA").

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our report. We are
independent of the Fund in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the "Code"), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Matter

The financial statements of the Fund for the year ended 31 March 2024
were audited by another independent auditor whose report dated 19
July 2024 expressed an unmodified opinion on those financial
statements.

Other Information

The Board of Administrators of the Fund is responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements and
our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Trustee of

Consumer Legal Action Fund
(Established in Hong Kong under the Deed of Trust dated 30 November
1994)

Responsibilities of Board of Administrators and Those Charged with
Governance for the Financial Statements

The Board of Administrators is responsible for the preparation of
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA, and for such
internal control as the Board of Administrators determines is necessary
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Administrators is
responsible for assessing the Fund's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of
Administrators either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Administrators and Those Charged with Governance are
responsible for overseeing the Fund's financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
orin the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Fund's internal control.

Financial Statements
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Trustee of

Consumer Legal Action Fund
(Established in Hong Kong under the Deed of Trust dated 30 November
1994)

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
(Continued)

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the Board of Administrators.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Administrators'
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Fund's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to
continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with Those Charged with Governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 22 July 2025

Tong Wai Hang
Practising Certificate number: P06231
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Consumer Legal Action Fund HEEFRAES

Statement of Income and Expenditure IqX &R

for the year ended 31 March2025s {2 " F " AF—HA=1+—HI-EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUETTERR )

Financial Statements Bf#§iR3<

Income

Bank interest income

Application fee from assisted
consumers

Contribution from assisted
consumers

Less:

Expenditure

Auditor's remuneration
Administrative service expenses
Bank charges

Legal fees for assisted consumers

Sundry expenses

Deficit for the year

WA
SRATA SN

ZENHBEE RS
XEHBEEDEEHN

e

X

T AN B <&
TERRFE S H
RITEM
XBHEERME
MRS

FEEER

2025 2024

“EChF TEIAF

Notes HKS HKS
FisE BT BT
602,169 376,357

24,100 23,200

3,695,149 474,701

4,321,418 874,258

15,000 15,700

6 992,435 1,142,392
4,456 9,160

3,444,266 539,177

11,662 16,473

4,467,819 1,722,902

(146,401) (848,644)

The notes on pages 173 to 185 form part of the financial statements. FRE 1738 25185 B T B IB RFTNE P ELSD
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Consumer Legal Action Fund HEEFRAES
Statement of Financial Position BfIEARILZR

asat31March2025 R —_F _HF=H=+—H

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUETTERR )

2025 2024
B hE ETUE
Notes HKS HKS
N BT BT

Current assets MENEE
Interest receivables FEF 2 216,206 82,100
Bank balances and cash BITHRBR MRS 4 21,166,809 11,845,028
21,383,015 11,927,128

Current liabilities MENE &
Account payables and accrued expenses FERTBRF N ESTE 877,273 1,125,028
Amount due to the Trustee e = FEAFKIE 5 992,435 1,142,392
1,869,708 2,267,420
NET ASSETS EEFE 19,513,307 9,659,708

Capital and reserves EAXRFfEE

Capital BN 1 40,000,000 30,000,000
General fund —RES (20,486,693) (20,340,292)
19,513,307 9,659,708

The financial statements on pages 169 to 185 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Administrators on 22 July 2025
and are signed on its behalf by:

N 169 BEE 185 BNV BREZEN _F_AFtA T+ ABRTEESHERIRER M WHMITRREE -

Mr. Clement CHAN Kam-wing, BBS, MH, JP Mr. Tony PANG Chor-fu
PREJEEICA » ARAIEE » £EHE  KFHLT ERREE
Administrator Administrator
HITEE HITEB

The notes on pages 173 to 185 form part of the financial statements. FH{P 1738 2 £ 1858 WM ET B K B ISR E B IRH ©
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Financial Statements Bf#§iR3<

Consumer Legal Action Fund SHEBE&RAES
Statement of Changes in Capital and Reserves B4 BB E) R

for the year ended 31 March2025s 2 " F " AF—HA=1+—HI-EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUETTERR )

Capital General fund Total

=N —WES =ri8

HKS HKS HKS

BT BT BT

At 1 April 2023 RBE_=FMA—H 30,000,000 (19,491,648) 10,508,352

Deficit for the year KEEBHEB - (848,644) (848,644)
At 31 March 2023 and RIS_=F#=A=1+—HK

1 April 2024 —=—mEmA—g 30,000,000 (20,340,292) 9,659,708

Injection of capital B 10,000,000 - 10,000,000

Deficit for the year REEFEIE - (146,401) (146,401)

At 31 March 2025 RIE"_RAF=RA=+—H 40,000,000 (20,486,693) 19,513,307

The notes on pages 173 to 185 form part of the financial statements. FH{PE 1738 2 £ 1858 WM ET B KB ISRz E P EZH o
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Consumer Legal Action Fund SHEBE&RAES
Statement of Cash Flows I & RER

for the year ended 31 March 2025 {2 " F " AF—HA=1+—HI-EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( BUETTHRR )

2025 2024
“S°hF ZEFImF
Notes HKS HKS
g BT BT
Operating activities LEESE
Deficit for the year ANEEEIER (146,401) (848,644)
Adjustment for: FTFIBEEHFEE :
- Bank interest income - SRITAI BN (602,169) (376,357)
Operating loss before working capital o NN =
changes SEESEHHICEESE (748,570) (1,225,001)
Decrease in amount due to the Trustee FENSFEAFRIBZ B (149,957) (219,355)
Deec):g:;i:; account payables and accrued (B 2 R 2R R S (247,755) (547,733)
Net cash used in operating activities AREEEFE RS T (1,146,282) (1,992,089)
Investing activities BEFRE
Interest received [SlS 468,063 524,734
inti its wi igi REZIHHBA= .
Placeme_nt in time deposits with original T??Egﬁlgﬁﬁ Ha=@Ax (10,500,000) (3,000,000)
maturity over three months TEHER
. . . . Py = [E \l—‘—\ ‘ E: 3 1 E x
W|thdrawal of time deposits with original ?mﬂ}ﬁﬂigﬁﬁ Ha=@EAx 3,000,000 12,100,000
maturity over three months TEHER
Ne.t cash_ (used_ln_)(generated from (AR) IRBREFEIRS (7,031,937) 9,624,734
investing activities it )
Financial activity RIEEE
Capital injection FE 10,000,000 -
Net cash generated from financing activity R BRIEEEI~HESFE 10,000,000 -
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents IR& MRS EEYHIEE N 1,821,781 7,632,645
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
the year RAEFNZ RS KRSEBY 8,845,028 1,212,383
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the REEEY BSRESZEY) 4 10,666,809 8,845,028

year

The notes on pages 173 to 185 form part of the financial statements. &P 1738 2 £ 1858 T B K BHEHE P o
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Consumer Legal Action Fund JHEERAES
Notes to the Financial Statements BA7E3RRMIsE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &ZE —

T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUETTERR )

1.

(a)

OBJECTIVES AND OPERATION OF THE FUND

The Consumer Legal Action Fund (the "Fund") was
established on 30 November 1994 under a Deed of Trust
with the Consumer Council as the trustee (the "Trustee")
for the purpose of offering financial assistance to
consumers in seeking legal redress, remedies and
protection. The Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (the "HKSAR") has granted a sum of
HKS$10 million as initial capital to the Fund. The capital
should be repayable to the HKSAR upon termination.
Additional capital amounting to HK$20 million was further
injected by the HKSAR to the Fund on 6 September 2010
and 31 May 2018, with HK$10 million each time, increasing
the capital to HK$30 million. Furthermore, additional
capital of HK$10 million was approved by the HKSAR on 20
December 2023 and injected to the Fund on 5 July 2024.

The address of the registered office and principal place of
operation of the Trustee is 22nd Floor, K. Wah Centre, 191
Java Road, North Point, Hong Kong.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is also the functional currency of the Fund.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Fund has applied the following
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the Fund’s annual period beginning on 1 April
2024 for the preparation of the financial statements:
Amendments to HKFRS 16  Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current liabilities with

Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance
Arrangements

The application of the amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in the current year has had no material impact
on the Fund'’s financial position and performance for the
current or prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these financial statements.

(F)

Financial Statements
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Consumer Legal Action Fund SHEBE&RAES

Notes to the Financial Statements BA7E3RRMIsE
For the year ended 31 March 2025 B E_ =

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUETTERR )

2

(b)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards

in issue but not yet effective

The Fund has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have
been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKAS 21

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

HKFRS 18

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Lack of Exchangeability!

Amendments to the
Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Contracts Referencing
Nature - Dependent
Electricity?

Annual Improvements to

HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 11

Presentation and Disclosure
in Financial Statements?

Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint
Venture*

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2025.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2026.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2027.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

a date to be determined.

Except for

the new HKFRS Accounting Standards

mentioned below, the Board of Administrators anticipates
that the application of all these amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards will have no material impact on the
financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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Consumer Legal Action Fund SHEBE&RAES

Notes to the Financial Statements BA7E3RRMIsE

Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025 {2 " F " AF—HA=+—HIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUETTERR )

2

(b)

3.1

3.2

(a)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements”

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements”, which sets out requirements on
presentation and disclosures in financial statements, will
replace HKAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”.
This new HKFRS Accounting Standard, while carrying
forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1, introduces
new requirements to present specified categories and
defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss;
provide disclosures on management-defined performance
measures in the notes to the financial statements and
improve aggregation and disaggregation of information to
be disclosed in the financial statements. In addition, some
HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8
“Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors” and HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments:
Disclosure”. Minor amendments to HKAS 7 “Statement of
Cash Flows” and HKAS 33 “Earnings per Share” are also
made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027, with early application permitted. The
application of the new standard is expected to affect the
presentation of the statement of profit or loss and
disclosures in the future financial statements. The Fund in
the process of assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS 18
on the Fund’s financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

Basis of preparation of financial statements

The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by
HKICPA. These financial statements have been prepared
on a basis consistent with the accounting policies in the
2024 financial statements.

The financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis. Historical cost is generally based on
the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for
services at the date of transaction.

Material accounting policies
Cost of financial assistance

All costs connected with the provision of financial
assistance rendered to consumers are recorded on an
accrual basis and charged against the statement of
income and expenditure in the period incurred. Any costs
recoverable from assisted consumers are recorded as
income upon receipt.

3.1

3.2
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Consumer Legal Action Fund SHEBE&RAES

Notes to the Financial Statements BA7E3RRMIsE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 {2 " F " AF—HA=+—HIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUETTERR )

3.

3.2

(b)

(c)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Capital contribution

Contribution of cash and capital assets by the
Government of the HKSAR are accounted for as capital
contribution and recognised in the appropriate capital
and reserves account.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when and only when the Fund becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instruments and on a trade
date basis.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities are added to or deducted from the
fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates

to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The Fund’s financial assets at amortised cost include
interest receivables and bank balances and cash.
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Consumer Legal Action Fund SHEBE&RAES

Notes to the Financial Statements BA7E3RRMIsE

Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025 {2 " F " AF—HA=+—HIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUETTERR )

3.

3.2

(c)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Interest income from financial assets

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

Impairment of financial assets

The Fund performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss ("ECL") on financial assets which are
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments ("HKFRS 9") (including interest
receivables and bank balances and cash). The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-months ECL
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within
12 months after the reporting date. Assessments are done
based on the Fund's historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both
the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the
forecast of future conditions.

3.

3.2
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Consumer Legal Action Fund SHEBE&RAES
Notes to the Financial Statements BA7E3RRMIsE
For the year ended 31 March 2025 i E —_F " AHAF=A=+—HItFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUETTERR )

3.

3.2

(c)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3.

MATERIAL  ACCOUNTING  POLICY  INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Fund measures the loss
allowance equal to 12-months ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Fund recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood
or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Fund compares the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at
the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Fund considers both
guantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument's external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

. significant  deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor's ability
to meet its debt obligations;
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Consumer Legal Action Fund SHEBE&RAES

Notes to the Financial Statements BA7E3RRMIsE

Financial Statements Bf#§iR3<

For the year ended 31 March 2025 {2 " F " AF—HA=+—HIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUETTERR )

3.

3.2

(c)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 3.

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

. an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor's ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Fund presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Fund has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Fund regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

(ii) Definition of default

The Fund considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Fund, in full (without taking
into account any collaterals held by the Fund).

Irrespective of the above, the Fund considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 60 days
past due unless the Fund has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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Annex B - [f{#%C

Consumer Legal Action Fund SHEBE&RAES

Notes to the Financial Statements BA7E3RRMIsE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 {2 " F " AF—HA=+—HIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUETTERR )

3.

3.2

(c)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

. significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

. a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

. the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or

contractual reasons relating to the borrower's
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

. it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter  bankruptcy or  other financial
reorganisation.

(iv) Write-off policy

The Fund writes off a financial asset when there is

information indicating that the counterparty is in severe

financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or when the amounts are over one year past
due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under the

Fund's recovery procedures, taking into account legal

advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a

derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are

recognised in the statement of income and expenditure.
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Consumer Legal Action Fund SHEBE&RAES

Notes to the Financial Statements BA7E3RRMIsE

Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025 {2 " F " AF—HA=+—HIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUETTERR )

3.

3.2

(c)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3.

MATERIAL
(CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICY  INFORMATION

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v) Low credit risk

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk
if:

(] it has a low risk of default;

. the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term; and

(] adverse changes in economic and business

conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

(vi) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Fund in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Fund expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

The Fund recognises an impairment gain or loss in the
statement of income and expenditure for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of accounts receivables, where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.

MEBREREEREAGHERES
(%)

BERSEHBER (&)
SMTR (&)
CHEE ()
SHEENRE (&

(n) BEEERR
TRIANEEREAEEERR - R :

. ERNRRRE ;
° ERANEHARTERBEEME

FIEHIBELESR K

° B MEBMA AR
b ATREER—EEHIFHERA
BITEAGNBESNERHEAVE
jj o

(R) FAHEEBENTEBNER

TEHEEBRNTERENME  EREBX
(AEXRHIRARE ) RENRBRAEN
BRE o FHAEOBIX LENIBRENBER
1% - WIZRIHEIMEER A - RMEEEEN
AEHERRERENRMESE - WIRER
REMBEEORRIINERENETE -

—RME - FREEERARESNENE
SNATBENESRERESTAFTWEAIR
e (LURNS FER R BN E BRI X4
R) <BNER  RERERSEENER
ARRETR

HeZBABMAS/M T ARMENKE
HEERDPHERBEWREERE - ERIGRR
ERAE BB ERERF L ARERE -

SHEEFLAESER 2024-25 181



Annex B - [f{#%C

Consumer Legal Action Fund SHEBE&RAES

Notes to the Financial Statements BA7E3RRMIsE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 {2 " F " AF—HA=+—HIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUETTERR )

3.

3.2

(c)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL  ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Fund are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and

an equity instrument.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including account payables and accrued
expenses and amount due to the Trustee are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method, unless the effect of discounting would be
insignificant, in which case they are stated at cost.

Derecognition

The Fund derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirely, the
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in the statement of income and expenditure.

The Fund derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Fund's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in the statement of income and
expenditure.
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Consumer Legal Action Fund SHEBE&RAES

Notes to the Financial Statements BA7E3RRMIsE

Financial Statements Bf#§iR3<

For the year ended 31 March 2025 {2 " F " AF—HA=+—HIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUETTERR )

4.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Cash at bank and on hand

RITREFRE

Time deposits with original maturity REZ|HIH=E8 RN

within three months ERER
Cash and cash equivalent HENRSZEY

Time deposits with original maturity
over three months TFEEGER

RITREFMIRE

Bank balances and cash

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Time deposits are made in
between three months and twelve months (2024:
between two months and twelve months) and earn
interests at the respective time deposits rates ranging
from 3.10% to 4.46% (2024: 2.45% to 4.85%) per annum.

AMOUNT DUE TO THE TRUSTEE

The amount represents administrative service expenses
payable to the Trustee, details of which are set out in note
6. The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Fund incurred administrative service
expenses amounted to HK$992,435 (2024:
HKS$1,142,392) for the administrative service and office
support (comprising salary costs and attributable
overheads) provided to the Fund. The charge by the
Trustee is in accordance with the provision of the Trust
Deed governing the Fund and approved by both the
Trustee and the Board of Administrators of the Fund.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The capital structure of the Fund consists of the capital
from the HKSAR.

The HKSAR has granted a total sum of HK$40 million
(2024: HKS30 million) as the capital to the Fund as at
31 March 2025. The Board of Administrators of the Fund
manages the Fund's capital to ensure that the Fund will
be able to continue as a going concern. The overall
strategy of capital management remains unchanged from
prior year.

4.
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Consumer Legal Action Fund SHEBE&RAES

Notes to the Financial Statements BA7E3RRMIsE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 {2 " F " AF—HA=+—HIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUETTERR )

8.

(a)

(b)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets SREE
Amortised cost BEA
Financial liabilities iA=L
Amortised cost A

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Fund's major financial instruments include interest
receivables and bank balances and cash, account
payables and amount due to the Trustee. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments and
the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out
below. The Board of Administrators of the Fund manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Fund's maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to
the Fund due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties arises from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Board of
Administrators of the Fund reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual receivable item at the end of
the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In addition,
the Fund performs impairment assessment under ECL
model upon application of HKFRS9 on receivable
balances individually.

The credit risk on interest receivables and bank balances
is limited because the counterparties are banks with high
credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.
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Consumer Legal Action Fund SHEBE&RAES

Notes to the Financial Statements BA7E3RRMIsE

Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025 {2 " F " AF—HA=+—HIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LUETTERR )

8.

(b)

(c)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk
Interest rate risk

The Fund’s exposure to changes in interest rates is mainly
attributable to bank balances and cash.

At the end of the reporting period, if interest rates of
bank balances had been 4% (2024: 4%) basis points
higher/lower respectively and all other variables were
held constant, the Fund’s deficit for the year and general
fund would decrease/increase by HK$846,672 (2024:
HK$473,801).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred
throughout the year and had been applied to the
exposure to interest rate risk for bank balances in
existence during the year. The 4% (2024: 4%) basis point
increase or decrease on the bank balances represent
Board of the Administrators of the Fund’s assessment of
a reasonably possible change in interest rates over the
period until the next annual end of the reporting period.
The analysis was performed on the same basis for 2024.

Liquidity risk

The Fund is exposed to minimal liquidity risk as the Board
of Administrators closely monitors its cash flow.

The earliest date on which the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities, representing non-interest bearing
financial liabilities of the Fund, can be required to pay is 3
months or less.

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

The Board of Administrators of the Fund considers that
the carrying values of financial assets and financial
liabilities recognised in the financial statements
approximate their fair values.
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Tel E5%:2856 3113 Fax {8E:2856 3611
Website #iif : https://www.consumer.org.hk
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